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The Tidewater End of the Chesapeake and 
Ohio Canal 

WILLIAM M. FRANKLIN 

-Tl-NYONE WHO HAS ENJOYED A WALK ON 
the towpath of the Chesapeake and Ohio 
Canal cannot fail to be impressed by the 
monumental proportions, the brilliant 
engineering, and the careful workman- 
ship of this handsome waterway, de- 
signed to hurdle the Appalachians and 
join "the eastern and western waters," as 
they grandly said in the 1820s. It was 
chartered by Congress to run "from tide- 
water on the river Potomac in the Dis- 
trict of Columbia" to Cumberland in 
western Maryland and then over the Al- 
leghenies to "navigable waters on the 
river Ohio"—which meant in fact the 
Monongahela River near Pittsburgh.1 

This grandiose plan was inspired by the 
success of the great Erie Canal linking 
the Hudson River at Albany with the 
Great Lakes at Buffalo. When the first 
section of the Erie Canal was opened in 
1819, immense receipts rolled in; before 
its completion in 1825 the Erie had 
earned a million dollars and set off an ep- 
idemic of canal mania throughout the 
land. There was no doubt that the new 
C and O Canal would bring comparable 
riches, so it was designed to be even 
wider and deeper, bigger and better than 
the Erie. The national importance of this 
stupendous project was attested by the 
fact that the federal government sup- 
plied most of the initial capital, and the 
President of the United States—schol- 
arly, crusty John Quincy Adams—turned 
the first spadeful of earth in 1828, orator- 
ically adding the projected 341-mile wa- 
terway to the seven wonders of the an- 
cient world.2 

Dr. Franklin, formerly Director of the Historical Of- 
fice, Department of State, is now retired and lives in 
Washington, D.C. 

One would suppose that this magnifi- 
cent interstate waterway would have had 
an impressive tidewater terminus in a 
thriving, deep-water harbor. It comes as a 
surprise to discover that the eastern ter- 
minus was located in a most unlikely and 
little-known spot: the mouth of Rock 
Creek, on the boundary between Wash- 
ington City and Georgetown in the Dis- 
trict of Columbia. Despite its name. Rock 
Creek is a muddy stream that dumps tons 
of silt to form a shallow delta into the Po- 
tomac. The creek is also highly tempera- 
mental, being a rushing torrent after 
downpours and a noxious brook in times 
of drought. Why did the builders of the 
C and O Canal pick such an unimpressive 
site for their major terminus? How did 
they manage to make it work at all? Who 
thought to put "Chesapeake" in the name 
when Rock Creek was 108 miles from the 
Bay up the winding Potomac? Since the 
canal turned out to be so unprofitable 
that it was never continued beyond Cum- 
berland on the upper Potomac, is it pos- 
sible that its failure to start at the Chesa- 
peake had something to do with its in- 
ability to reach the Ohio? The answers 
indicate that the location of the eastern 
terminus was more influenced by tradi- 
tion, jealousies, and politics than by 
hard-headed engineering and market- 
analysis. 

Although George Washington died a 
generation before the Chesapeake and 
Ohio Canal was started, he exerted an in- 
fluence on where its eastern terminus 
came to be. From his youthful expedition 
to the upper Ohio valley, Washington re- 
alized how close were the headwaters of 
the Ohio and the Potomac. If skirting 
canals were built around the falls and 
rapids in the Potomac, the river would be 
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navigable for shallow-draft boats clear to 
Cumberland. Then, with a short portage 
road connecting through to the head- 
waters of the Monongahela, there would 
be established a route for migration and 
trade presumably of immense value. 
Shortly before the Revolution the squire 
of Mt. Vernon canvassed his wealthy 
friends and associates to see how much fi- 
nancial backing could be had for his 
project. As he later wrote to Thomas Jef- 
ferson, the idea was gaining supporters, 
but not in Baltimore, where the busi- 
nessman saw no reason to encourage a 
scheme designed to divert to the Potomac 
the trade that was coming to them by 
road from the west.3 Washington had to 
shelve his plans for the eight grueling 
years of the War for Independence, but in 
1784 the "Patowmack Company" was 
chartered by Virginia, with Washington 
as its president. Since the river is in 
Maryland, the assent of that state had to 
be obtained, and this proved to be not so 
simple. Foreshadowing later events, the 
Baltimore bloc succeeded in preventing a 
favorable vote, until finally the victorious 
General went in person to Annapolis and 
"swept the Assembly off its feet."4 A vis- 
itor to Mt. Vernon in the following year 
found Washington chuckling over his vic- 
tory: "He is quite pleased at the idea of 
the Baltimore merchants laughing at 
him and saying it was a ridiculous plan. 
'They begin now,' says the General, 'to 
look a little serious about the matter, as 
they know it must hurt their commerce 
amazingly.' "5 

The General's optimism was not justi- 
fied. The Patowmack Company—limited 
in labor, capital, and engineering skill— 
cleared out many channels in the river 
and built skirting canals around two 
major falls above Georgetown and three 
rapids near Harpers Ferry; but this was 
not enough to make for safe navigation in 
a river that was either too high or too low 
for much of the year. The company 
drifted into insolvency after paying one 
small dividend which President Wash- 
ington did not live to see. 

The most successful part of this entire 
project was the skirting canal that took 
boats around the Little Falls on the 

Maryland side and brought them down to 
tidewater at a cove about two miles above 
Georgetown. This little canal was in use 
for local traffic clear up to 1828, and its 
eastern end—called Locks Cove—was 
the recognized head of tidewater on the 
Potomac. Of course, no ships of any size 
— not even coastal sloops — could go 
above Georgetown, so the narrow, 
shallow-draft boats that came through 
the canal had to be poled or paddled down 
the wide river to Georgetown, Wash- 
ington City, or Alexandria (then a part of 
the District of Columbia). Although Alex- 
andria was the farthest, many rivermen 
preferred it because it was safer to cross 
the Potomac at Locks Cove, where it is 
narrow, and go down along the Virginia 
shore which gave protection from pre- 
vailing winds. Benjamin Henry Latrobe, 
the brilliant engineer-architect of the 
Capitol, noted that the choice of Locks 
Cove by the Virginia-dominated Patow- 
mack Company was a political decision, 
designed to improve Alexandria's posi- 
tion in the river trade. His own idea, de- 
veloped from a suggestion of President 
Jefferson, was for a canal that would run 
at a high level from the Little Falls 
through Georgetown, cross Rock Creek 
on a combined aqueduct-bridge, and pro- 
ceed down Pennsylvania Avenue to deep 
water at the Navy Yard on the Anacostia 
River (then called the Eastern Branch).6 

It was never built. 
The instant success of the Erie Canal 

demonstrated the value of a continuous, 
controllable waterway in contrast to a 
river with a few skirting canals. The 
general assemblies of Virginia and 
Maryland woke with a start and sent a 
joint expedition of engineers to study the 
feasibility of a continuous canal from 
tidewater on the Potomac to navigable 
water on the Monongahela. Their report, 
dated 3 May 1822, was positive.7 

By a remarkable coincidence (if that is 
what it was) the same date appears on a 
detailed report on the navigation of the 
Potomac River, prepared by the Com- 
mittee on the District of Columbia of the 
U.S. House of Representatives. The re- 
port paid homage to the vision of Presi- 
dent Washington, noted that the naviga- 
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bility of the Potomac was still poor, and 
stressed the engineers' conclusion that a 
continuous canal was thoroughly fea- 
sible. The recommendations—which re- 
flected a creative and forceful intellect— 
were (1) that the Patowmack Company 
should be reorganized to include repre- 
sentatives of Virginia, Maryland, and the 
federal government; (2) that the com- 
pany should then be given the mandate 
to build a continuous canal from tide- 
water on the Potomac to Cumberland, 
with the possibility of an extension to the 
headwaters of the Ohio; and (3) that the 
federal government should subscribe a 
million dollars to canal stock, with Mary- 
land and Virginia contributing $600,000 
each.8 

The report was tabled in the House 
without further action, but the idea had 
been prominently aired that the United 
States Government — sovereign of the 
District of Columbia — should be the 
prime mover in a great interstate canal, 
as it had been in the construction of the 
National Road which had started from 
Cumberland in 1815 and was into Ohio 
by 1822. Identifying the eastern terminus 
as "tidewater on the Potomac" was a pa- 
triotic echo of the charter of George 
Washington's company; it was also a 
clever way of deferring the question as to 
where this new canal, with all its ex- 
pected riches, was to come down to the 
river. There was no mention of Baltimore 
or the Chesapeake Bay. The report was 
presented to the House by Joseph Kent, 
chairman of the District committee and 
representative from Prince George's 
County, Maryland, but the author was 
Charles Fenton Mercer, congressman 
from Loudoun County in northern Vir- 
ginia, who was to be the founding father 
of the Chesapeake and Ohio Canal Com- 
pany. 

Mercer was a Princeton-educated gen- 
tleman who had become known during 
his years in the Virginia Assembly as an 
energetic supporter of visionary causes, 
and a booster for economic development 
through roads and canals. He entered 
Congress in 1817, serving first on the 
Committee for the District of Columbia. 
From  1823 to  1838 he was either 

chairman or a dominant member of the 
Committee on Roads and Canals, con- 
stantly encouraging federal participa- 
tion in these internal improvements. For 
six of these years (1828-1833) he was 
also president of the Chesapeake and 
Ohio Canal Company—a classic case of 
conflict of interest. Mercer was touchy on 
this subject. In the brief memoir that he 
wrote in retirement he stated emphati- 
cally that in his years as chairman of the 
Roads and Canals Committee "not a 
single instance occurred of an attempt to 
introduce or carry any measure by what 
is vulgarly, but aptly, called 'log- 
rolling.' " Every project supported by the 
committee, he wrote, was national in 
character, and no moneys were appro- 
priated until after surveys and estimates 
by skillful engineers.9 This was true, but 
Mercer (as we shall see) did not always 
follow the good advice of the engineers. 

The engineers' report of 1822, rein- 
forced by Mercer's, persuaded the assem- 
blies of Virginia and Maryland to appoint 
a joint commission to study the whole 
problem in its political and commercial 
aspects. The commission's report was 
glowing: a continuous canal to the head- 
waters of the Ohio, said the commission, 
would be of immense value to the in- 
vestors, to the areas it would serve, and 
to the country as a whole. The superiority 
of transport by canal rather than by turn- 
pike was immense; the cost per mile by 
wagon was estimated at twenty times the 
cost per unit carried on the canal. 

These commissioners were the first to 
suggest specifically that the canal should 
go through Georgetown and Washing- 
ton City to deep water on the Eastern 
Branch. They also pointed out that if the 
merchants of Baltimore wanted a share 
in this profitable enterprise, the only 
thing needed would be "a short link to 
this great internal trade by a canal from 
Bladensburg [on the Eastern Branch] to 
the Patapsco at Elkridge," the south- 
western entrance to Baltimore harbor. 
The length of this extension canal would 
be only about twenty-five miles, and "the 
cost of this work would not be great." The 
commissioners sounded one warning 
note: With so much at stake (they said). 
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local rivalries and jealousies could be ex- 
pected, but history showed that in all 
countries such great improvements had 
always produced "a general increase of 
power, wealth, and civilization."10 

Despite this much-needed homily, local 
rivalries sprouted along with the enthu- 
siasm that greeted the report. John Cox, 
mayor of Georgetown and well-known 
real estate developer, exulted public- 
ly: "Should this great work be accom- 
plished, we may confidently look for an 
increase of prosperity . . . which cannot 
fail to cause a great and continued rise in 
the appreciation of property, as well as 
the other concomitants of a successful 
trade. . . . [The] completion of this work 
will give us advantages in trade over 
most of the commercial cities in the 
country, and will draw to this depot very 
much of the produce that is now distrib- 
uted between the cities on either side of 
us."11 Since businessmen in Washington 
City and Alexandria shared similar 
hopes and jealousies—each from his own 
self-serving point of view—the exact lo- 
cation of the eastern terminus was be- 
coming a potentially explosive issue. 

Heartened by the joint report, the Vir- 
ginia Assembly, on George Washington's 
birthday in 1823, chartered a new corpo- 
ration, "The Potomac Canal Company," 
to supplant the moribund Patowmack 
Company and to build a continuous canal 
"from tide-water in the District of Co- 
lumbia to Cumberland." Since the engi- 
neers had recommended that the canal be 
on the Maryland side, the approval of 
that state would be required. 

Canal boosters in the Maryland As- 
sembly introduced a draft charter similar 
to the one in Richmond but it ran into 
stiff opposition from the powerful Balti- 
more bloc. The basic hostility was the 
same as in the days of George Wash- 
ington—but now there was no charis- 
matic general to sway the votes. Balti- 
more business interests saw no reason to 
support a canal along the Potomac, par- 
ticularly since they had recently ex- 
tended the Baltimore-Frederick turnpike 
to Cumberland in order to catch the trade 
now beginning to come from the Ohio 
country on the National Road. Wagon 

freight was expensive, but in 1823 Balti- 
more had the best connection with the 
west of any city on the Atlantic coast.12 

The idea of extending the canal to Bal- 
timore harbor via Bladensburg and 
Elkridge had its advocates, but most Bal- 
timoreans feared that the cream of the 
trade would be skimmed off in the Dis- 
trict cities, with the probable support of 
the federal government. This disadvan- 
tage, however, could be circumvented by 
building a "cross-cut canal" that would 
branch off from the proposed Potomac 
Canal at some point upstream from the 
District line. Such a canal might go up 
the valley of the Monocacy River or 
Seneca Creek, then cross a low divide, 
and descend along the Patapsco water- 
shed to Elkridge. The Maryland As- 
sembly appointed a commission of three 
prominent citizens to study the terrain 
for such an "all-Maryland" canal, and it 
decided to table the charter question 
until the next session of the Assembly.13 

This was a blow to canal enthusiasts, 
but Congressman Mercer saved the day. 
He saw that the charter passed by Vir- 
ginia lacked two important provisions: 
federal government support for the pro- 
posed Potomac Canal, and a clear pledge 
that the canal would connect through to 
the Ohio. His corrective procedure was a 
beautiful example of political expertise. 
He began in August by organizing a 
meeting of prominent citizens at his 
home base of Leesburg, Virginia, from 
which emerged a resolution of support for 
a canal to the "nearest Western water" 
and invitations to the three District mu- 
nicipalities, and to all counties and towns 
on both sides of the Potomac to send dele- 
gates to a convention in Washington to 
reconsider the whole project.14 

With favorable replies in hand. Mercer 
arranged for the convention to be held in 
the Supreme Court chamber of the Cap- 
itol in November. About 150 eminent 
gentlemen attended, including the may- 
ors and councilmen of the District cities, 
together with such local celebrities as the 
lawyer and sometime poet, Francis Scott 
Key, George Washington Parke Custis, 
and General John Mason (son of George), 
who owned the foundry in Georgetown 
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established by Henry Foxhall. Other 
prominent citizens came from northern 
Virginia, western Pennsylvania, and 
even Ohio. Maryland was well repre- 
sented, including several from the Chesa- 
peake Bay area, but no delegate came 
from Baltimore. Mercer had taken care, 
however, to invite a dozen "honored 
guests" (canal boosters all) including Dr. 
William Howard of Baltimore, who was 
one of the three Maryland commissioners 
investigating possible "cross-cut" canal 
routes to Baltimore. 

The Baltimore boycott sent the editors 
of the Washington National Intelligencer 
into a rage. They accused Baltimoreans of 
"unjust local selfishness" and "jealous 
hostility to the District of Columbia." 
Baltimore would only support the canal if 
a branch came to Baltimore, but that, 
said the editors, is "impracticable" be- 
cause it would have to surmount "a vast 
elevation."15 The cantankerous editor of 
Niles' Weekly Register of Baltimore 
pointed out in his reply of 8 November 
that Baltimore had spent "a million of 
dollars on certain public roads, to obtain 
the trade which the canal is designed to 
deprive us of." In a telling blow he sug- 
gested that the people of the District 
would not be so enthusiastic about the 
Potomac Canal if there was a require- 
ment that an arm of that canal should go 
to Baltimore, "though the last is so much 
nearer the sea than Washington."16 

The convention was largely a one-man 
show. On the opening day (6 November) 
Congressman Mercer nominated for 
chairman his colleague Congressman 
Kent, and he persuaded the plenary con- 
vention to set up a central committee 
(with himself as chairman) where most of 
the real decisions were made.17 He then 
introduced a set of resolutions which con- 
stituted an extensive revision of the 
charter proposed by the Virginia As- 
sembly for the Potomac Canal Company. 
The convention accepted with enthu- 
siasm the pledge that the canal would go 
all the way to a navigable tributary of the 
Ohio. Agreement was also reached 
without difficulty on the method of orga- 
nizing the canal company and on the 
amount of stock to be purchased by the 

United States government, the three Dis- 
trict cities, Maryland, and Virginia. 

Arguments began over finding a name 
more descriptive than "Potomac Canal," 
since the waterway was now definitely 
planned to go beyond the mountains. 
Mercer proposed "Union Canal," but it 
was pointed out that Pennsylvania al- 
ready had a canal by that name. Mary- 
landers suggested "Chesapeake and 
Ohio" and the central committee accepted 
it. When this was presented to the ple- 
nary session, a perceptive delegate sug- 
gested that "Potomac and Ohio" would be 
more precise, and he asked for an expla- 
nation of the reason for the geographi- 
cally unbalanced name proposed by the 
committee. For Mercer this was an 
anxious moment but he managed to 
wiggle through with dignity. He pointed 
out that the over-all aim was to join the 
waters of the Chesapeake Bay and the 
Gulf of Mexico, "but it had been thought 
better, for the sake of precision to stop at 
the Ohio for one of the terminations, and, 
as to the other, the 'Chesapeake' had 
been preferred to 'Potomac' for reasons 
which were sufficiently obvious, but 
which it was not necessary to state here." 
At this point he must have noted either 
smiles or puzzled expressions in the audi- 
ence, for he proceeded to explain, with a 
disarming show of honesty: "It was the 
suggestion of someone (not of myself, said 
Mr. M.) that, there exists, in a part of the 
State of Maryland, some jealousy of the 
Potomac interest, and as this canal might 
be terminated at the Patapsco, the Pa- 
tuxent, or the Severn, and not in the Po- 
tomac, the general designation of the 
Chesapeake appeared preferable."18 

Everyone knew that the Baltimoreans 
had to be placated if a favorable vote on 
the charter was to be had from the legis- 
lature in Annapolis. Indeed, Athanasius 
Fenwick of St. Mary's County, who had 
served as one of the Maryland appointees 
on the second joint commission with Vir- 
ginia, indicated in no uncertain terms the 
need for soothing Baltimore by a resolu- 
tion stating that "this Meeting and the 
friends of the Ohio and Chesapeake 
Canal [sic] generally, disclaim and dis- 
avow all opposition to any lateral Canal 
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which it is practicable to make, leading to 
or from the said Canal, or to any future 
extension through any of the States adja- 
cent thereto."19 

The convention accepted this proposal 
with the proviso that any lateral or ex- 
tension canal should not injure the main 
stem, i.e., would not drain off too much 
water. This was a reasonable require- 
ment, but many Baltimoreans suspected 
that it was really a shrewd device 
whereby the C and O Canal Company, 
dominated by District directors, could 
block any branch or extension to Balti- 
more. 

Another aspect of the eastern terminus 
was so sensitive that no one dared raise 
it. The phrase "tidewater in the District 
of Columbia" could mean anywhere from 
Locks Cove down to the Eastern Branch 
and Alexandria harbor. Since each of the 
District cities hoped to be the chosen spot. 
Mercer avoided this Pandora's box and no 
one else ventured to touch the lid. 

In a burst of euphoria the convention 
celebrated its success with a banquet at 
Brown's Hotel, with Mayor Carberry of 
Washington City as host, and with no 
less than Secretary of State John Quincy 
Adams and Secretary of War John C. 
Calhoun as honored guests. Forty-nine 
toasts were drunk, and the whole affair 
came to a roaring close with a standing 
ovation for Charles Fenton Mercer, who 
had made it all possible.20 

Mercer's campaign had not concluded. 
He was a personal friend of President 
Monroe—which helps to explain why the 
President's message on the State of the 
Union in December included a paragraph 
praising the canal project and recom- 
mending that Congress authorize the 
Federal Board of Engineers to make a 
survey with cost estimates of the pro- 
posed route.21 This recommendation was 
to have unexpected consequences. 

The Virginia Assembly worked the 
convention's recommendations into a re- 
vised charter, approved in January 1824, 
and sent it to Annapolis for acceptance. 
The Maryland Assembly was in no hurry 
to give its assent, for the commissioners 
appointed early the previous year had 
just come in with a disturbing report. 

They stated there were several possible 
routes for an all-Maryland canal to Balti- 
more via the Monocacy River or Seneca 
Creek. The best of these would be up the 
Monocacy and Lingamore Creek to the 
divide near Ridgeville, then down the Pa- 
tapsco watershed to Elkridge and north- 
east to Baltimore. They warned, however, 
that in dry weather all of these routes 
might be subject to serious water short- 
age at the divide. The commissioners 
added, somewhat apologetically, that 
they had spent a few days looking at a 
possible route from Georgetown across 
the District of Columbia north of the Cap- 
itol to Bladensburg in Maryland and on 
to Elkridge. They felt that this route 
would be shorter and would have plenty 
of water. They regretted that the as- 
sembly's instructions did not permit them 
to survey this route in detail. 

The commissioners then gave the as- 
sembly an eight-page lecture on the ad- 
vantages of a canal over a wagon road for 
long-distance transport; and they even 
ventured to dispel the "apprehension" 
that Georgetown and Washington would 
take the best of the trade away from Bal- 
timore. They pointed out that because of 
the bends and shallows of the Potomac it 
took sailing vessels an average of seven 
days to go from Washington to the mouth 
of Chesapeake Bay, whereas it took only 
three days from Baltimore. So even if it 
took two days by canal boat from Wash- 
ington to Baltimore, the cargoes would 
still reach the Atlantic two days sooner 
than if shipped down the Potomac. This 
was a difference that skippers could not 
afford to ignore. Equally important was 
the fact that "the capital already accu- 
mulated in Baltimore must maintain her 
superiority, as a market, over the Po- 
tomac cities, at least for a considerable 
time. . . . And it must be recollected that 
these benefits will not, and cannot, be 
confined within her narrow limits; but 
placed as Baltimore is, in the centre of 
Maryland, like the heart in the animal 
system, they must diffuse themselves 
through every artery and vein of the 
state, bearing vigour and prosperity to its 
remotest extremities."22 The commis- 
sioners were arguing that Baltimore 
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needed the canal, but their observations 
suggested that the canal needed Balti- 
more— a thought that seems never to 
have occurred to canal enthusiasts in the 
District of Columbia. 

The Maryland Assembly, perplexed by 
this report, did not approve the new 
charter in 1824. The counties along the 
Potomac, however, wanted the canal for 
their own prosperity, whether it went on 
to Baltimore or not, and in January 1825 
they managed to get an affirmative vote 
in Annapolis, with the proviso that the 
federal government guarantee the right 
of Maryland to build a lateral canal to 
Baltimore. In March Congress approved 
the charter and promised that if either 
Virginia or Maryland wished to build a 
branch canal starting in, or crossing, the 
District of Columbia, the federal govern- 
ment would appoint a commission to de- 
cide whether such branch canal would ad- 
versely affect the operation of the main 
stem.23 President Monroe signed the bill 
on his last day in office, and the an- 
nouncement touched off an evening of pa- 
rades and bonfires in the District of Co- 

lumbia where everyone knew that pros- 
perity was now assured. 

Maryland was determined not to be left 
out. The assembly chartered a Maryland 
Canal Company to study and build a 
canal linking Baltimore to the C and 0 
waterway, and it persuaded the Federal 
Board of Internal Improvements to ap- 
point Dr. William Howard to determine 
the best route. His detailed report, essen- 
tially completed in November 1826, was 
unequivocal: all cross-cut routes avoiding 
the District of Columbia were "entirely 
impracticable" because of water short- 
age on the higher elevations. The best, 
shortest, and cheapest route was the one 
from Georgetown across the District 
north of the Capitol, following Maryland 
Avenue toward the Eastern Branch at 
Bladensburg in Maryland. From there 
the canal would roughly parallel the 
Washington-Baltimore turnpike (later 
U.S. Route 1) to Elkridge, where it would 
cross the Patapsco and proceed in a 
northeasterly direction across Gwynn's 
Falls to reach tidewater at the northern 
tip of the Middle Branch (Carroll's Point). 
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FIGURE 1. Proposed Maryland Canal Routes. 
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From here (said Dr. Howard) the canal 
could readily be carried around to any de- 
sired point on the inner or outer harbor. 
He observed that Washington would be 
well served by a branch from this canal 
running south to the Navy Yard and ad- 
jacent wharves at the mouth of the 
Eastern branch. The basic requirement 
for the whole plan (he noted) was that the 
C and 0 Canal at Georgetown be at least 
twenty-five to thirty feet above tide on 
the Potomac.24 

Despite Howard's enthusiasm, his re- 
port had a negative effect: by down- 
playing the "all-Maryland" routes it 
deeply discouraged many Baltimoreans 
who were willing to pay for a branch 
canal but not if it ran through the Dis- 
trict. 

Another development worked dramati- 
cally in the same direction. Following up 
on the suggestion in President Monroe's 
annual message of 1823, Mercer was able 
to get the assignment of a team of fed- 
eral engineers under General Simon Ber- 
nard to survey the best route for the en- 
tire C and 0 Canal and to make a firm 
estimate of cost. The latter turned out to 
be sensational when it was released in 
October 1826, for it estimated the cost of 
constructing the canal to the vicinity of 
Pittsburgh at $22.3 million dollars—not 
counting the cost of the land that would 
have to be bought! The Erie Canal, com- 
pleted in the previous year, had cost only 
$7 million; and earlier estimates for the 
C and O had not run over $5 million.25 

The General's report optimistically indi- 
cated that the C and O Canal would be 
worth the high cost, but most of the 
boosters were now deeply discouraged. 

Congressman Mercer's optimism, how- 
ever, was unquenchable. Working through 
the central committee he had set up at 
the canal convention of 1823, he now is- 
sued an urgent call for the delegates to 
reassemble in Washington on 6 De- 
cember. Some 150 delegates appeared, in- 
cluding a half dozen from Baltimore. The 
atmosphere was somber, but the inge- 
nious Mercer had ready solutions. He 
asked for, and received, the support of the 
convention for two actions he proposed to 
take: (1) request that a new cost estimate 

be made by civil, not military, engineers, 
and (2) lobby Congress for a large sub- 
scription to the canal company stock as 
soon as it was offered for sale.26 

The delegates from Baltimore came 
with a purpose of their own. They were 
friends of the canal project, but they 
knew that they could only win support for 
the Baltimore extension if they could 
take home an explicit guarantee that the 
charter of the C and O Canal Company 
would be modified to permit the Mary- 
land Canal Company to condemn land 
and to operate a canal within the District 
of Columbia. Mercer and several other 
speakers contended that Maryland al- 
ready had that right in principle and that 
no amendment of the charter was neces- 
sary. They pointed out, however, that 
Maryland could not expect that the fed- 
eral government would promise in ad- 
vance to give up its sovereign rights in 
the District. Benjamin Howard, a mem- 
ber of the Maryland Assembly and prin- 
cipal spokesman for the Baltimoreans, 
insisted that the general right to build a 
branch canal did not apply specifically to 
the District of Columbia, and he flatly 
stated that if the requested guarantee 
was not forthcoming, Maryland would 
give no further support to the C and O 
Canal project. Sobered by this threat, the 
convention agreed to ask Congress for the 
requested guarantee. 

It is surprising that in all this discus- 
sion no one suggested that the main stem 
of the C and O Canal should be carried 
through the District with branches to the 
area of the Navy Yard and to the District 
line near Blandensburg. This would have 
given Washington a splendid canal to 
which the Baltimore extension could 
have been added by Maryland with no 
conflict of sovereignties. Apparently 
Mercer had already decided in his own 
mind that the C and O Canal should not 
go to the Eastern Branch, precisely be- 
cause an extension to Baltimore would 
then be highly probable. So the Balti- 
moreans got only a promise from the con- 
vention, and an empty one at that, for it 
does not appear that Congress ever took 
any action on the subject. 

In Baltimore the reports of Dr. Howard 
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and General Bernard, together with the 
luke-warm attitude of the convention re- 
garding Baltimore's plea, produced a se- 
rious rethinking of the whole situation. 
With costs anywhere near as high as the 
Army engineers' estimate, the C and O 
Canal would probably never cross the 
mountains, in which event it would be of 
little value to Baltimore, which had its 
eye on the great trade potential of the 
Ohio Valley. Baltimore's road connection 
to the west was still the best, but it was 
being threatened by three other canals: 
the Erie—now completed and profitable 
beyond expectation; the Ohio and Erie— 
begun in 1825 to join Portsmouth on the 
Ohio to the lake at Cleveland; and the 
Pennsylvania Main Line — started on 
July 4, 1826 to connect Philadelphia and 
Pittsburgh, using carts on rails to take 
the boats over the worst of the moun- 
tains. Since the cost of freight by wagon 
was at least ten times that by canal, Bal- 
timore was likely to lose most of the 
western trade to the ports of New York 
and Philadelphia. 

These were the grim prospects that led 
to a meeting of Baltimore businessmen in 
February 1827, when it was decided to 
take a gamble on untried technology—a 
road of rails on which horses (hopefully) 
could pull cars faster than a canal boat 
could be towed or a wagon could be 
driven.27 Some day there might even be a 
successful steam locomotive. (A small but 
serviceable locomotive was on the tracks 
as early as 1831, to everyone's surprise). 

The decision in favor of the railroad, on 
which construction began in 1828, 
greatly reduced the chances that a 
branch canal would ever be built to Balti- 
more, but enthusiasts continued to raise 
the question in the Maryland Assembly 
for many years. Additional surveys were 
made for a possible "all-Maryland" route, 
but the engineers always came back with 
the conclusion that the route across the 
District of Columbia was the best.28 So, 
no action was ever taken. 

Late in 1827 the civil engineers came 
in with a report cutting General Ber- 
nard's estimate of canal cost in half. 
Years later it would be painfully ap- 
parent that the Army engineers, knowing 

all about cost overruns, had been much 
closer to the truth, but at the time there 
was again joy on the Potomac. Early in 
1828 the C and O Canal Company was or- 
ganized with Mercer as president and a 
board of directors representing the fed- 
eral government and the three District 
cities. The largest subscribers to canal 
stock were the United States government 
and Washington City, each of which 
signed up for a million dollars. The place 
chosen for the ground-breaking was a 
clearing alongside the old Patowmack 
Company's canal around the Little Falls 
— a symbolic indication that the new 
company aimed to fulfill the dream of the 
Founding Father. The spot had another 
advantage for President Mercer and his 
directors: It was in Maryland (just over 
the District line) and thus gave no indica- 
tion of where the canal was to come down 
to tidewater. Furthermore it was stan- 
dard practice in digging a new canal to 
begin somewhere in the middle so that 
construction teams could work in oppo- 
site directions. The explosive question 
had again been dodged, but not for long. 

After the 4 July ceremony digging 
began—but only in the upstream direc- 
tion. Toward the end of the month the 
Washington City Council anxiously re- 
quested the mayor to ask the canal com- 
pany "to mark out with as little delay as 
possible the route of such of said Canal, 
as passes through this city to the Eastern 
Branch. . . ." The company's answer was 
prompt but evasive: The president and di- 
rectors believed that it "would be inexpe- 
dient to expend any part of the capital 
stock of the company on an extension of 
that canal below . . . the Little Falls of 
the Potomac before the line of canal 
leading thence to the mouth of the Shen- 
andoah River has been put under con- 
tract."29 

The Washington City authorities and 
stockholders hit the ceiling. No word of 
such a policy had hitherto been expressed 
by Mercer or any of the directors, so the 
answer came as a rude shock. The mouth 
of the Shenandoah at Harpers Ferry was 
fifty-five miles from where the canal was 
starting. What was worse, the Baltimore 
and Ohio Railroad Company had ob- 
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tained an injunction prohibiting the 
canal from entering the narrow ledge 
along the river at Point of Rocks (thirteen 
miles below Harpers Ferry) until the con- 
flicting claim of the railroad to a right- 
of-way could be settled. All of this meant 
that if Mercer's ruling was allowed to 
stand, it would be years before the lower 
part of the canal was completed into the 
District of Columbia. The Washington 
City authorities (who had not yet paid up 
their million-dollar subscription) insisted 
that the question of the eastern terminus 
be settled promptly and by the stock- 
holders. Mercer caved in and scheduled a 
special stockholders meeting for 10 Sep- 
tember. Animosities were surfacing rap- 
idly, for no one doubted that large for- 
tunes were at stake. 

Washington City already had a canal of 
sorts. This was a shallow waterway origi- 
nally planned by Major Charles L'Enfant, 
running from the Tiber Creek estuary (ap- 
proximately 17th Street and Constitution 
Avenue, N.W.) to the foot of Capitol Hill 
and then to the Navy Yard and wharves 
on the Eastern Branch. The canal was fi- 
nally carried to completion in 1815 under 
the supervision of Latrobe, who had to 
make the best of a poor location and an 
impecunious company that would only 
pay for lockwalls of wood. Despite his 
warning, they were never replaced with 
stone, and the canal was badly silted up 
within a few years.30 This annoying 
problem would be solved for the Wash- 
ington City Council if the bigger and 
better C and O Canal would cross the 
District north of Capitol Hill to the 
Eastern Branch, presumably on the good 
route surveyed by Dr. Howard. 

Alexandrians were bitterly opposed to 
having the C and O Company spend large 
sums of money to carry the new canal 
through Georgetown and Washington, 
unless the company built an aqueduct 
across the Potomac to bring a branch 
canal to Alexandria harbor. If the com- 
pany would not do this, then they would 
prefer to see the new canal terminate like 
the old one at Locks Cove, about two 
miles above Georgetown. 

Georgetown merchants wanted the new 

canal to end in their town, presumably 
near the wharves, but none of the engi- 
neering surveys showed where the canal 
would come down to tidewater. One plan 
had the canal stopping at the western 
boundary of the town; the other sketched 
it in as far as the market house. Both 
plans were intentionally left incomplete 
with respect to a Georgetown terminus, 
and the conclusion is inescapable that 
Mercer wanted it that way so as to retain 
all his options as long as possible. 

There was one off-beat group in 
Georgetown that wanted the canal to end 
at Locks Cove. These were conservative, 
prosperous gentlemen, led by Francis 
Scott Key, who were vigorously opposed 
to having the dirty canal with its noisy 
traffic invade their tidy town. They par- 
ticularly feared that the dreaded "au- 
tumnal fevers" that plagued the upper 
Potomac would be brought into George- 
town by canal water. They undoubtedly 
remembered with concern the violence 
that had broken out among labor gangs 
working for the old Patowmack Com- 
pany. As stockholders they also objected 
to the very large amounts that the com- 
pany would have to pay for a right-of- 
way into or through the built-up area of 
Georgetown. Behind this objection, how- 
ever, lurked the fact that several of these 
proto-environmentalists, notably Mr. 
Key, owned cherished property that ran 
down toward the river and would prob- 
ably be condemned by the canal company. 
Lawyer Key had bought one share of 
canal stock, which served as his entry 
ticket to the stockholders meeting on 
September 10.31 

In anticipation of this fateful meeting, 
which threatened to break up the com- 
pany, Mercer appointed a committee of 
three directors—one from each District 
city—to study the problem of the eastern 
terminus in consultation with the engi- 
neers who he knew had some ideas on the 
subject. The engineers were fully aware 
of the contending factions, but they also 
had technical considerations of their own. 
They realized, better than the politicians, 
businessmen, and environmentalists, 
that a canal, to be successful, had to ter- 
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minate in a capacious, protected harbor 
where canal boats could tie up in close 
proximity to wagons and ships. The 
Georgetown-Washington shore of the Po- 
tomac in the 1820s offered no such harbor 
(the present Washington channel, pro- 
tected by Hains Point, was not con- 
structed until the 1890s). The engineers 
all agreed that the best location for the 
terminus would be at deep water on the 
Eastern Branch or in Baltimore harbor. 
Neither of these seemed to be politically 
feasible, but the engineers—in order to 
preserve the option—insisted on running 
the canal through Georgetown at the 
high level of thirty feet above the river. 
Then came the ingenious compromise: In- 
stead of crossing Rock Creek on an aque- 
duct, canal boats would descend through 
four locks to an artificial harbor formed 
by raising the creek to a level three feet 
above high tide. This would be done by 
closing what was then the wide, shallow 
mouth of Rock Creek by a structure 1,080 
feet long, of which two hundred feet on 
the Washington side would be a "tum- 
bling dam" over which excess water from 
the basin would flow into the river. The 
remaining 880 feet would be a solid 
earthen promontory, averaging 120 feet 
in width, jutting out from the George- 
town side of the creek. Since this man- 
made peninsula could be built from the 
rock and soil of the canal ditch to be cut 
through Georgetown, its cost would be 
slight while its long-term value to the 
company would be considerable. The 
"mole," as they called it in French style, 
would be fitted out with wharves on both 
sides — for ships on the Potomac, for 
canal boats in the Rock Creek basin. To 
facilitate the exchange of cargoes, the 
canal company would lease lots on the 
mole to shippers and canalers for ware- 
houses, work shops, and stables. The tip 
of the mole, next to the tumbling dam, 
would be sliced by a tide-lock, allowing 
canal boats and other small craft to pass 
at any time in either direction between 
canal and river. There would be a bridge 
over the tumbling dam so that the mole 
would be as accessible to Washington as 
to Georgetown.32 In this way (thought the 

engineers) the two rivals would be neatly 
served by one terminus, and the canal 
company would make an added profit 
from its man-made harbor. 

The committee adopted the engineers' 
plan and placated Alexandrians by rec- 
ommending an aqueduct across the Po- 
tomac for a branch canal to the Alexan- 
dria harbor. The committee's report even 
contained the assurance for the George- 
town environmentalists that the canal 
through town would be cleanly walled 
with stone and would have enough cur- 
rent to avoid stagnation. 

The report was accepted by Mercer and 
the board of directors on 3 September and 
was made available to the three munici- 
palities. The Georgetown government did 
not complain. Alexandrians requested 
only that the canal company support 
their plea to Congress for assistance in 
building the huge aqueduct. The Wash- 
ington authorities, however, complained 
bitterly that the natural and proper ter- 
minus of the canal was on the Eastern 
Branch where there was deep water for 
ocean shipping. If the company would not 
do this, then it should at least run a 
branch canal from the Rock Creek basin 
around to the Tiber estuary where it 
would connect with Washington's ex- 
isting canal. Mercer agreed to the latter 
proposal, provided that the city would 
construct a basin at the Tiber estuary 
three feet above high tide, i.e., at the 
same level as the proposed Rock Creek 
basin. The committee's proposal, as thus 
modified, was hotly debated by the stock- 
holders on 10 and 17 September, at which 
time it was finally accepted by a large 
majority over the unyielding objections of 
the Georgetown environmentalists.33 

Three years later, on 19 September, the 
first packet boat on the canal — the 
Charles Fenton Mercer—proceeded cere- 
moniously through the Georgetown locks 
down to the Rock Creek basin. According 
to a Georgetown reporter, hundreds of 
cheering spectators reflected "the joy that 
was felt on the successful completion of 
the great work, which we anticipate is to 
bring wealth and prosperity to our long- 
languishing town."34 The C and O Canal 
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finally had a tidewater terminus, but the 
golden deluge did not follow. 

Rock Creek did not willingly submit to 
the engineers' plan. With a dam across 
its mouth, the creek dumped tons of silt 
in the basin, which required frequent 
dredging even for shallow canal boats. 
The water on the river side of the mole 
was not deep enough for ocean-going 
ships; only coastal sloops and schooners 
could be accommodated. Thus the inade- 
quacy of the Rock Creek terminus placed 
a severe limitation on canal commerce 
right from the start. 

There was the possibility that the 
outlet at deep water on the Eastern 
Branch would be an improvement, and 
with this hope the Washington municipal 
government took over the city canal in 
1831 and had it dredged and repaired. 
Two years later, when the C and O Com- 
pany completed the short connecting 
canal to the Tiber estuary, it was possible 
for canal boats to proceed from the Rock 
Creek basin to deep water near the Navy 
Yard. Unfortunately the Washington city 
canal, despite the renovation, soon devel- 
oped its old troubles—siltation and rot- 
ting lock timbers. The amount of traffic 
was not great enough to justify another 
expensive repair job on what was funda- 
mentally a poorly built canal in an un- 
suitable terrain. When the C and O 
Canal reached Cumberland in 1850, the 
coal trade into and across Washington 
should have been a major item, but by 
this time, the city canal had greatly dete- 
riorated, and within a few years it be- 
came impassable. There were no riches 
there. 

The Alexandria Canal Company was 
chartered in 1830, but it was not until 
June 1832 that its plea for financial as- 
sistance came before Congress. Jealous 
Georgetowners immediately sent Con- 
gress a "memorial" arguing against the 
bill, unless the proposed aqueduct carried 
a free bridge. This provoked a sharp can- 
nonade from big guns of the Senate. 
Daniel Webster of Massachusetts called 
this maneuver "an ungracious attempt to 
defeat a measure for the interests of 
Alexandria, which had been the most ab- 
stemious of all the cities of the District in 

her demands on the General Govern- 
ment." Senator Samuel Foote of Connect- 
icut expressed his annoyance that "when- 
ever applications were made from any 
part of this District for aid from the Gov- 
ernment, there was always some op- 
posing interest interposing itself to em- 
barrass the legislation of Congress." Sen- 
ator L. W. Tazewell of Virginia said that 
the idea of combining a free bridge with 
the aqueduct had actually originated 
with Alexandria, which "at one time had 
proposed a co-operation with Georgetown 
to accomplish it, which was refused by 
Georgetown." Henry Clay of Kentucky 
"defended Georgetown against the impu- 
tation thrown out by the argument of the 
gentleman from Virginia. He [The Great 
Compromiser] was in favor of the aque- 
duct, of the free bridge also, and of 
printing the memorial."35 

Charles Mercer, speaking as a con- 
gressman, supported the Alexandrian re- 
quest, emphasizing for the first time the 
importance of a deep-water terminus: 
"[C and O Canal cargoes] must be sub- 
jected to a heavy percentage for trans- 
shipment, unless the canal should give 
them access to the only port [Alexandria] 
where they could meet the shipping in 
which they were to be carried abroad."36 

This cogent point was supported by sev- 
eral other speakers, but no one thought to 
point out that Baltimore was a far better 
port and commercial center than Alexan- 
dria and that an extension canal from the 
District to the Patapsco had already been 
surveyed and would cost far less than the 
immense aqueduct across the Potomac 
plus a seven-mile canal paralleling a 
thoroughly navigable stretch of river.37 

The advantages of a deep-water harbor, 
however, were demonstrated by the fact 
that when the Alexandria extension was 
finally finished in 1844, it quickly be- 
came the preferred outlet for the C and 0 
Canal, a position that was lost with the 
outbreak of civil war. 

After the war, when the coal trade from 
Cumberland was at its height, the inade- 
quacy of the Rock Creek basin became 
acute. Boats were frequently lined up for 
a mile through Georgetown, waiting 
their turn through the locks or waiting 
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for the basin to be made navigable by the 
new steam dredge. The Georgetown 
coal companies found a make-shift way 
around this traffic jam by building 
trestles out from the canal over their 
wharves on the river some thirty feet 
below. Coal was off-loaded from canal 
boats into carts which ran out on the 
trestles and dumped the coal down onto 
the wharves, from which it was shoveled 
into the holds of waiting ships and 
barges. The trouble with this short-cut 
was that it increased the congestion 
along the south bank of the canal in the 
center of Georgetown and substantially 
pulverized the coal.38 

In desperation the canal company con- 
tracted in 1872 for a new set of outlet 
locks to be built about a mile upstream 
from Georgetown. These locks, however, 
were never built because the chief engi- 
neer persuaded the company to accept his 
design for a mechanical incline that 
would convey loaded canal boats down to 
the river faster than locks and with less 
loss of water. The unwieldy canal boats 
would then have to be floated down the 
open river to Georgetown or beyond, but 
this was thought better than to be stuck 
in the Rock Creek bottleneck. The inge- 
nious invention worked well for about a 
year, when a cable-break killed three 
men and plunged a loaded boat into the 
river. The incline was repaired but its 
popularity was understandably dimin- 
ished.39 

In the long run of the nineteenth cen- 
tury, railroads obviously supplanted al- 
most all inland canals in the United 
States, the Erie Canal being one of the 
few that not only survived but regularly 
turned in an impressive profit. Oddly 
enough, the C and O Canal also survived 
into the twentieth century, but it was on 
welfare all the way. It was started largely 
by federal and state purchases of stock on 
which it never paid a dividend. From 
1836 to bankruptcy in 1890, it was kept 
alive by massive infusions of cash from 
the state of Maryland. In its final and 
most inglorious stage it was supported by 
the B and 0, which feared that another 

railroad might buy up the canal for its 
right-of-way. 

Professor Sanderlin concluded that the 
basic reason for the failure of the canal 
was its inability to establish a "through 
trade" with the West, as the Erie Canal 
had succeeded in doing.40 This is doubt- 
less true, but we need to push the argu- 
ment back a bit. What made the canal so 
unprofitable—right from the start—that 
by the time it reached Cumberland in 
1850, all thought of carrying in on to the 
headwaters of the Ohio had completely 
disappeared? Many factors contributed: 
cost overruns, shortage and high cost of 
labor, epidemic illnesses among the 
workers, floods, delays and expenses 
caused by court battles over land rights. 
Railroad competition appears to have 
been minimal in the early decades. Of 
course, all canals quickly lost passen- 
ger traffic to the speedy railroads as the 
latter attained reliability in the late 
1830s; but the canals maintained a tre- 
mendous cost advantage over the 
railroads in the transport of bulky, heavy 
goods where speed was not a major con- 
sideration. It was in this type of trade 
that the Erie Canal and its enlarged ver- 
sion, the New York State Barge Canal, 
continued to turn in a handsome profit 
for a century against the stiff competition 
of the New York Central Railroad and its 
predecessors whose tracks paralleled the 
canal from Albany to Buffalo. The C and O 
had no such direct railroad competition 
because it was not until 1868 that the 
B and O completed its line from Wash- 
ington to Point of Rocks where it joined 
the old line to Cumberland and points 
west. There was some price competition 
in the haulage of flour from Harpers 
Ferry, but in the coal business the 
railroad actually helped the canal for two 
years (1843-1845) by hauling coal at two 
cents a ton per mile from Cumberland to 
the head of navigation on the canal, 
which was then fifty miles from Cumber- 
land. When the railroad discontinued this 
arrangement, it stated that the canal 
trade was too small to bother with.41 The 
figures are interesting: In 1850 the canal 
carried only 7,956 tons of coal, while the 
railroad hauled 148,000 tons, of which 



302 MARYLAND HISTORICAL MAGAZINE 

125,000 tons went to 697 ships at the 
B and O's wharves at Locust Point in Balti- 
more harbor.42 The canal rate on coal to 
Washington was only one-quarter cent 
per ton/mile, whereas the B and O rate to 
Baltimore was 1.5 cents per ton/mile. The 
same disparity persisted even after the 
canal was well established at the coal 
wharf in Cumberland. For the five years 
from 1855 through 1859 the canal carried 
1,072,560 tons of coal, while the B and O 
hauled 2,218,357 tons—despite the great 
price differential in favor of the canal.43 

Obviously the canal was suffering—not 
from railroad competition—but from a 
limited demand for coal in the District of 
Columbia. 

The commercial limitations of the Dis- 
trict seem never to have been considered 
by Congressman Mercer and his asso- 
ciates who assumed that any well-built 
canal would duplicate the profitability of 
the Erie. Any thoughtful market analysis 
would have revealed enormous differ- 
ences in the eastern termini of the two 
waterways. The Erie serviced not just Al- 
bany but New York City, for canal boats 
and barges were regularly rafted to- 
gether and towed up and down the 
Hudson river.44 In 1830 Albany and New 
York had a combined population 4.5 
times that of the District of Columbia and 
incomparably better port facilities and 
shipping connections. 

Baltimore was the only possible 
eastern terminus for the C and O Canal 
that offered population, industry, capital, 
and shipping facilities at all comparable 
to those that brought such success to the 
Erie Canal. In comparison with the Dis- 
trict's so-called "cities," Baltimore was a 
giant among dwarfs, its population being 
more than twice that of the entire Dis- 
trict of Columbia in 1830. The shipping 
figures are even more startling: for the 
fiscal year ending in September 1829 the 
total tonnage of vessels entering and de- 
parting Baltimore harbor was almost five 
times the figure for Georgetown and 
Alexandria combined. The permanent 
registered tonnage engaged in foreign 
trade was even more lopsided: the figure 
for Baltimore was 58,061 as against 5,801 

for Alexandria and Georgetown to- 
gether.45 

The able engineers who designed the 
C and O Canal were all convinced of the 
value to the canal of having its eastern 
terminus in Baltimore harbor. Isaac 
Briggs, the engineer who worked with 
the joint commission of 1822, assumed 
that the canal would go to Baltimore. In 
an address which he made in the summer 
of 1823 as part of the campaign to obtain 
Maryland approval of the canal com- 
pany's charter, Briggs said enthusiasti- 
cally, "From Pittsburg to Washington 
and Baltimore, the whole line of canal 
will be a chain of beautiful and flour- 
ishing villages."46 Dr. William Howard, 
who had surveyed the Bladensburg route 
to Baltimore, was an outspoken advocate 
of extending the canal to the city on the 
Patapsco. The report of General Bernard 
and his engineers pointed out that the 
high elevation they recommended for the 
waterway through Georgetown was de- 
signed to make possible an extension of 
the canal "to Washington and in the 
direction of Baltimore." In 1829 the 
C and O Canal's board of three eminent 
engineers endorsed the plan to hold the 
canal to a high level through George- 
town: ". . . we never had a doubt of the 
propriety of bringing the highest possible 
level from the head of the Little Falls to 
Georgetown ... in order to assure its con- 
tinuance on the same level towards Balti- 
more or to the Navy Yard; either of which 
projects are of great importance, and 
probably will be executed before many 
years."47 In 1837 the city engineer of Bal- 
timore reported that Dr. Howard's route 
was the best and cheapest way to bring 
the canal to Baltimore, and he empha- 
sized again the advantages of the port of 
Baltimore over the District cities up the 
shallow, winding Potomac.48 

Congressman Mercer and his asso- 
ciates turned a deaf ear to this good ad- 
vice, hoping to keep the canal's "riches" 
within the District of Columbia. As 
events were to show, it was the canal that 
needed Baltimore, not the other way 
round. By failing to go to the Chesa- 
peake, the canal lost its chance for a 
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booming trade that might have given it 
the strength to reach the Ohio. 
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The Montgomery County Agricultural 
Society: The Beginning Years, 1846-1850 

GEORGE M. ANDERSON, S.J. 

I N 1980 A DOCUMENT OF UNUSUAL IN- 
terest appeared in an antiquarian book- 
shop in the Georgetown section of Wash- 
ington, D.C.: the minutes of the Mont- 
gomery County Agricultural Society.1 

Three ledgers containing them were sub- 
sequently purchased and donated to the 
Montgomery County Historical Society. 

Few such records of the proceedings of 
county agricultural societies in nine- 
teenth century Maryland have survived, 
and the early proceedings of the Mont- 
gomery County Agricultural Society are 
of special note because they provide a 
first-hand account of the precarious state 
of Montgomery County agriculture in the 
1840s. The impoverishment of the area's 
once-rich soil through unrelenting culti- 
vation of tobacco and corn in earlier de- 
cades resulted in a declining population; 
families had begun to migrate west in 
search of still-fertile ground.2 Moreover, 
since agriculture was at the heart of vir- 
tually every aspect of the county's life, 
the minutes also contain information on 
matters that extend well beyond the sub- 
ject of farming itself. Descriptions of the 
yearly fairs—or exhibitions, as they were 
also called—shed much light on social 
and cultural features of the time, in- 
cluding the position of women. 

For the first twenty-three years the 
painstakingly neat and even handwriting 
was that of William Veirs Bouic (1817- 
1896), who served as recording secretary 
from the society's inception in June 1846 
until 1869. Admitted to the bar in 1840, 
Bouic was appointed states attorney in 

Father Anderson's articles on Montgomery County 
have appeared in the 1980, 1981, 1983, and 1984 
issues of the MHM. 

1849, and in 1867 became a judge of the 
sixth judicial circuit, a position he held 
for fifteen years.3 A leader in Mont- 
gomery County during the nineteenth 
century, he was a man of education and 
means. Such, too, were others active in 
the early society. Of particular promi- 
nence was the first president, John Parke 
Custis Peter (1799-1848). A great 
grandson of George Washington, he was 
elected in 1826 to the Maryland House of 
Delegates. His winter home was Tudor 
Place in Georgetown; in the summer he 
took up residence at Montevideo, his es- 
tate near Big Seneca Creek, the dividing 
line between the Medley and the Rock- 
ville election districts.4 Peter's wealth 
and lineage undoubtedly counted for 
much in his being selected as first presi- 
dent of the society. Its constitution de- 
scribed the various officers, the manner 
of election, and the term of office, as 
follows: 

A President, five Vice-Presidents [one for 
each election district], a Corresponding 
Secretary, a Recording Secretary, a Trea- 
surer, and an Executive Committee, shall 
be selected by ballot, by a majority of the 
members of the Society then present, to 
continue in office for the term of one year, 
and until their successors are appointed.5 

Meetings were to be held quarterly, with 
the principal meeting to take place an- 
nually in conjunction with the agricul- 
tural exhibition on the second Thursday 
of September. The board of the society— 
composed of the president and the five 
vice presidents—had as its duty to "con- 
sider maturely the chief defects in the ag- 
ricultural systems of the county, and rec- 
ommend such changes as will. . . conduce 
to the immediate, and permanent im- 
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provement of husbandry."6 "Defects" al- 
luded to the outmoded and wasteful 
farming methods that had caused the 
county's decline in population. 

These methods the society hoped to 
change. Edward Stabler (1794-1883) of 
Sandy Spring, a Quaker active in the so- 
ciety's affairs, provided a shining ex- 
ample of how to rejuvenate depleted soil. 
He spoke of his accomplishment in a 
letter printed in the July, 1847 American 
Farmer. Soils around Sandy Spring, he 
wrote, 

like most of the lands in this section, had 
been worn out or greatly impoverished by 
the 'old Maryland plan' of raising alter- 
nate crops of corn and tobacco; and what 
little fertility was left in it, after the To- 
bacco culture ceased (because the land 
was too poor to produce remunerating 
crops any more) was, by a long course of 
tenantry pretty well used up. This was 
certainly the case with my farm of little 
over 100 acres.7 

Stabler described how, by careful use of 
fertilizers over a period of years, the pro- 
ductivity of his hundred-acre farm had 
been restored and enhanced. For the most 
part he used lime, but with it he com- 
bined what he referred to as "highly con- 
centrated and bought manures."8 Of 
these, the most important was guano, 
made from the droppings of seabirds. It 
had been introduced into the Sandy 
Spring section of Montgomery County 
only three years before, in 1844.9 The 
Stabler family was in the forefront of 
those who promoted the use of guano in 
the area.10 Edward's brother, Caleb 
Stabler (1799-1883) also published a 
letter in the American Farmer about the 
same time. Addressed to John Parke 
Custis Peter, it described an 1845 experi- 
ment with Peruvian guano on his own 
farm, with results similar to those Ed- 
ward achieved: 

In 1845 I sowed broadcast, 260 pounds of 
Peruvian guano on one acre of my corn 
land, just after the plough, and harrowed 
and rolled the ground at once, which was 
immediately before a rain. It needed no 
stakes, as the growth showed its where- 
abouts throughout the season; and when 
the corn was husked, we thought there 

was nearly double the quantity on that 
acre that there was on the adjoining one, 
of similar quantity before being gua- 
noed.11 

Successful experiments of this kind led 
to a mood of optimism among the so- 
ciety's early leaders. Minutes of the first 
meetings demonstrated a sense of excite- 
ment and a belief that a turning point 
had been reached. At one the secretary 
read aloud a portion of a letter from 
Thomas Blagden12 of Washington. So en- 
thusiastic was Blagden after attending 
the first fair that he wished to enroll 
himself as a member and also his small 
son, Silliman Blagden, of whom he wrote: 

He was too young to be with me at your 
Fair [of September, 1846], and will be, 
probably, to be at several of your coming 
ones. But I wish him to know as soon as 
he can, that he is a member of an Agri- 
cultural Society, and thereby, I hope, the 
more easily inclined to the acquisition of 
a love for agricultural things, and pur- 
suits—believing, as I do, that if he can 
acquire a fondness, and taste for, and 
follow, a farmer's life, it will be the hap- 
piest one he can lead.13 

Conscious that publicity would be 
helpful in attracting additional new 
members, the society in 1847 called on 
Rockville newspapers and the American 
Farmer to print its proceedings.14 As an 
incentive, the society offered newspapers 
a fee of five dollars. Especially in the so- 
ciety's beginning years, the American 
Farmer obliged with coverage that was 
sometimes extensive and always posi- 
tive.15 The note of encouragement shone 
distinctly in an account of the first exhi- 
bition: 

We publish with much pleasure the pro- 
ceedings of the Montgomery County Ag- 
ricultural Society held at Rockville on 
the 10th ult., which, we learn from a cor- 
respondent, was a very spirited affair, 
considering the very limited time which 
was allowed for preparation. We hope the 
Society, now they have made a begin- 
ning, will persevere in so noble a cause.16 

The "spirited affair," according to the so- 
ciety's minutes for 10 September 1846, 
was attended by a crowd of between 1,500 
and 2,000 people. 
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Besides viewing exhibits, the gathering 
listened to what was described as "an in- 
structive, learned, and elegant lecture" 
by Professor Benjamin Hollowell of the 
Alexandria Boarding School.17 Hollowell 
owned a farm in the neighborhood of 
Sandy Spring, where he retired after his 
school closed in 1858.18 Like the Stabler 
brothers, he contributed often to the 
American Farmer.1Q So well was Hollo- 
well received in 1846 that he was invited 
back to speak at the following year's ex- 
hibition. 

Hollowell declined, and the choice fell 
upon a former student, William H. Far- 
quhar (1813—1887), another Quaker from 
Sandy Spring.20 Farquhar served as 
chairman of the society's Committee on 
Agricultural Education; he, like Hollo- 
well, believed in the need for better in- 
struction in agricultural matters. In the 
spring of 1847 Farquhar's committee is- 
sued a report stressing this viewpoint: 

The time has come when the subject of 
Agricultural Education, should occupy a 
prominent place in the arrangements 
that are made for the instructions of our 
youth. We believe there is no class of 
people who so imperatively demand an 
Education adapted to the nature of their 
pursuits, as the sons of farmers, and that 
nowhere else can education be made to 
yield such valuable fruits.21 

The report went on to call for the estab- 
lishment of agricultural schools, or at 
least "the introduction into our common 
schools of text-books for instruction in 
Scientific Agriculture." Farquhar and his 
committee knew that enthusiasm and es- 
prit de corps, essential to the life of the 
new organization, could not themselves 
accomplish the society's goals. Only edu- 
cation could save Montgomery County 
agriculture—yet early leaders faced an 
uphill climb. William Brewer, president 
of the Medley (third election) District ag- 
ricultural society, wrote the American 
Farmer in early 1848 that too many 
farmers in the area were "illiterate, each 
pulling his own way, without plan or 
combinations, having no fixed purpose or 
object in view."22 

The minutes of the first exhibition of 
10 September 1846, include a list of the 

competitors who received—as prelimi- 
nary versions of later prizes of value— 
certificates of excellence. The certificates 
were awarded in livestock, agricultural 
implements, and household manufac- 
tures. John Parke Custis Peter received 
certificates of excellence for the best ewes 
and the handsomest Durham cows and 
heifers. It is not surprising that the land 
holdings of an affluent planter like Peter 
should have been matched with prize- 
winning livestock. The same could be 
said of another winner at the first exhibi- 
tion, Allen Bowie Davis (1809-1889), 
whose 1,000 acre farm. Greenwood, was 
located near Triadelphia in the upper 
part of the county.23 The census for 1850 
assigned Davis's assets in real estate 
alone a value of $45,000. By the time of 
the third exhibition of September 1848, 
Davis had succeeded Peters, who had died 
in January, as president, of the society.24 

The third exhibition was considerably 
more elaborate than the first two. The ac- 
count of it in the minutes includes a de- 
scription of the actual location, which 
helps present-day readers to visualize the 
scene. There were, in fact, two locations. 
Livestock was exhibited in several ad- 
joining vacant lots owned by Jane Eliza- 
beth Beall25 at the western part of Rock- 
ville, along what is now West Mont- 
gomery Avenue near the Great Falls 
Road;26 the rest of the exhibition was 
held in the center of Rockville, at the 
court house—outside and inside alike: 

The public square surrounding the court 
house was covered with displays of agri- 
cultural implements. The right wing of 
the court house was kindly tendered by 
the Register of Wills to the committee on 
household manufactures. This exhibited 
the skill, industry, and taste of the ladies 
who encourage our enterprise. . . . The 
County Clerk also kindly permitted the 
committee on Fruit and vegetables, to ar- 
range the same in his office. The display 
was truly tempting to the eyes of all 
lovers of good fruit.27 

The full cooperation of public officials, 
even to the point of allowing their offices 
to be given over to displays of fruits, veg- 
etables, and "household manufactures," 
underscored the extent to which the so- 
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ciety's annual exhibition dominated town 
life in mid-September of each year. 

The very courtroom was brought into 
use as the site for the annual address to 
the members, given in 1848 by a promi- 
nent Montgomery County lawyer, 
Richard Johns Bowie (1807-1881), who 
had been chosen as "orator of the day."28 

An abundance of flowers was arranged in 
such a way as to soften the courtroom's 
somber aspect: 

The court room was the place appointed 
for the delivery of the oration. This was 
rendered gay with flowers arranged with 
exquisite skill and taste. None who were 
there could have failed to observe it, and 
none will readily forget the pleasing ef- 
fect.29 

Seated near Richard Johns Bowie were 
several other prominent Marylanders, in- 
cluding Major George Peter (1779-1861), 
who introduced the speaker to the assem- 
bled members. Major Peter was another 
wealthy landowner; his estate, Montan- 
verde, was located near Darnestown. Ear- 
lier in the century he had served in the 
U.S. House of Representatives from the 
Sixth District.30 

As well known as Major Peter would 
have been to all in the courtroom, the 
most renowned person in the group near 
the speaker's stand was undoubtedly a 
man not from Montgomery County, but 
from Prince George's: Colonel Horace Cap- 
ron (1804-1885). A manufacturer on a 
large scale, Colonel Capron was also an 
agriculturalist with a special interest in 
restoring worn-out soil. Just a year be- 
fore, in 1847, he had contributed to the 
American Farmer an article entitled "On 
the Renovation of Worn-Out Land."31 

While still a young man, Capron moved 
from New York State to Laurel, where he 
started his successful cotton mill opera- 
tion.32 By the mid-1840s, two thousand 
employees lived in the houses he had had 
constructed nearby, forming what was in 
effect a self-contained community with 
its own schoolhouse and churches. The 
community was known as Laurel Fac- 
tory. In admiring terms, a correspondent 
for the American Farmer who visited 
there noted that behind his own "man- 
sion house," Colonel Capron 

has erected fifty blocks of two story stone 
houses, each competent for four families. 
To each of these is attached a vegetable 
garden in the rear, with a beautiful yard 
in front, tastefully laid out in parterres of 
flowers. These houses accommodate a 
population of 2000 souls, all of whom de- 
rive support from Col. Capron's factory, 
where from 700 to 800 find constant and 
lucrative employment, a large portion of 
whom are females. . . . Col. Capron has 
erected a school-house, which he has pro- 
vided at his own expense with a compe- 
tent teacher. ... A Catholic chapel, and a 
Methodist Meeting House, have been 
erected by him, which are well attended 
on the Sabbath. . . . The monthly payroll 
of the establishment amounts to between 
8 and 9,000 dollars.33 

In addition to the mill and the commu- 
nity, there was a farming operation that 
was described three years later when the 
correspondent made another visit. Nearly 
half of the fifteen hundred acres of the 
farm had been, only a decade before, "ex- 
hausted old fields which, by a course of 
improvident culture, had been deprived 
of their every element of fertility."34 

Looking at the same fields in their im- 
proved state, the writer concluded: 

We doubt much, where there is [sic] half 
a dozen instances in our State, where so 
much land, in so short a period has ever 
been improved by a single individual, 
and we doubt still more, whether the fer- 
tilization has ever been so thorough and 
complete before.35 

Besides serving as an honored guest,36 

Capron brought specimens of his own 
livestock for display on Beall's lots. The 
following day, after a plowing match, he 
received a cash premium that he immedi- 
ately donated toward the following year's 
household-manufacture prizes. 

Awards, rather than certificates of ex- 
cellence alone, came into use at the exhi- 
bition of 1847, when the society distrib- 
uted cash premiums totalling $150. 
These awards—gold coins in 1850—shed 
light on what Montgomery County 
farmers considered of special importance 
in the period. Not surprisingly, prizes for 
horses head the early lists of premiums.37 

In 1847 the prize for the best stallion was 
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$5.00. By the following year, it had dou- 
bled and the stallion awards included a 
premium of $3.00 for the best horse 
younger than four years. In 1849 the ex- 
ecutive committee decided that prizes 
should go to the best bull and best ram of 
foreign breed. Awards for imported stock 
reflected the interests of men like Davis 
and Capron, who could afford to spend 
large sums for cattle intended as much 
for show as for breeding. In a brief "No- 
tice of Col. Capron's Stock" the American 
Farmer of 1848 noted that 

the celebrated red Durham cow, Gled- 
how, now owned by Col. Capron, of 
Laurel Factory, Md., a portrait of which 
is presented in this No., was bred by Jos. 
Burton, of Chester Co., Pa., who imported 
his dam. His sire, Yorkshireman, was 
from the herd of Mr. Bates, or Kirk- 
leavington, England, and imported by 
Jos. Cope, of Chester Co., Pa.38 

Despite the value of imported animals, 
however, the society that year decided to 
award prizes "only to stock raised, and 
owned in Montgomery County, and in the 
District of Columbia."39 

Judges of farming implements, too, 
commended articles made in the county 
itself, even if they did not win premiums. 
The minutes of 14 September 1849 ob- 
serve that among implements worthy of 
attention was a plow "made by the 
Messers McCauley of Brook[e]ville de- 
signed especially for deepworking of veg- 
etables."40 Similarly, a Mr. Rosendorf 
won a prize "for his display of combs 
manufactured in this county by him- 
self."41 Prizes for agricultural imple- 
ments reflected a desire on the part of the 
society to promote the development of 
ever-more efficient farming tools that 
would, in turn, aid in achieving the 
overall goal of increasing agricultural 
productivity. Development of the me- 
chanical arts, as they were referred to, 
accordingly came in for particular men- 
tion when in the fall of 1847 Farquhar 
moved 

that in the opinion of this Society the en- 
couragement of the Mechanical Arts is an 
object of great importance to the agricul- 
turalist, and that, in order to promote 
this object and to enlist the mechanics of 

the county in the advancement of the 
common cause, premiums should be of- 
fered for the best axe, horseshoe, or other 
similar article, the workmanship of the 
mechanics of our county.42 

In preparation for the second exhibi- 
tion of 8-9 September 1847, the execu- 
tive committee, having voted to award a 
premium of $20.00 for the best display of 
agricultural implements, decided to in- 
vite dealers from the Baltimore area as 
well as from the District of Columbia. At 
the 1847 fair the society presented a $10 
silver goblet as a prize "for the highest 
improvement of a lot of land, not less 
than two acres," and another one, worth 
half as much, as second prize. Compet- 
itors had to provide evidence of the be- 
fore-and-after state of their two acres or 
more, indicating as well the type, quan- 
tity, and cost of the "artificial means"— 
commercial fertilizers like guano—which 
had been employed. The winners of the 
silver goblets unfortunately did not ap- 
pear in the minutes, which described 
little of that year's fair except to observe 
that "there was an unusual concourse of 
persons, and many new members were 
added."43 

At one fair, at least, books were also in- 
cluded as premiums. The minutes for Au- 
gust 1849 state that, besides cash prizes 
and the silver goblets, "it was also deter- 
mined to appropriate $75 out of the trea- 
sury to purchase books for premiums to 
be awarded at the coming Exhibition." 
Then-president Davis selected and pur- 
chased the volumes. The minutes men- 
tioned neither titles nor the entries they 
were to reward, but once more one is re- 
minded of the importance society leaders 
placed on teaching the farmers of Mont- 
gomery County the most effective 
methods of caring for their land and live- 
stock. 

By the spring of 1849 the society had 
found a permanent site for the annual 
fair. The minutes for 2 April 1849 contain 
the following entry: "Samuel T. Stone- 
street Esq. having offered to the Society 
the gratuitous use of his woodlot ad- 
joining the lot of the Catholic Church as a 
permanent place of holding the Annual 
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Fairs, the society resolved to accept the 
offer."44 No longer would there be a need 
to make use of a split location. There was 
now to be only one site for all the ex- 
hibits, near St. Mary's Catholic Church 
at the eastern end of Rockville. 

A committee was appointed to examine 
the feasibility of erecting a six-foot fence 
around the Stonestreet property. But at 
the meeting of June 1849, the committee 
reported that the fence would be too 
costly—the estimate was $200 — and 
therefore recommended that the society 
discard the idea of a permanent enclo- 
sure. The desire for an enclosure "suffi- 
cient to exclude observation"45 arose from 
a decision to charge an admission fee to 
those attending the annual exhibition: 
"The Society determined that hereafter 
each and every person who shall enter 
the enclosure during the continuance of 
the annual exhibition shall first procure 
from the Treasurer a ticket of admit- 
tance, the price of which shall be 121/2 
cents."46 

The admission fee decision, together 
with a realization that the society could 
not afford to fence the Stonestreet 
woodlot, point to an increasing preoccu- 
pation with problems of funding. Al- 
though members grew in number, they 
failed to pay their dues regularly. At the 
May 1848 meeting a resolution ordered 
the treasurer to call on all persons in ar- 
rears for the amount of their subscrip- 
tions.47 

The situation had become still more 
pressing by 1850. On 13 September of 
that year, a resolution directed the trea- 
surer "to make out a list of delinquent 
members [and] classify them according to 
Election District in this County and [the] 
District of Columbia in which they re- 
side."48 The names were then to be placed 
in the hands of collectors, who would be 
paid ten percent of whatever they were 
able to obtain from the delinquent 
members. At the same meeting members 
decided "that in the event of a failure in 
collecting the funds of the Society to meet 
their current demands," then the trea- 
surer might "borrow the balance on the 
property of the Society."49 That property 
would have been the Stonestreet woodlot. 

It was not merely as an act of largesse, 
then, that Horace Capron returned his 
cash premium at the fair of 1848. Others 
followed his lead. Otho Magruder,50 who 
won the premium for the best saddlehorse 
at the same 1848 fair, donated his award 
money to the society "to increase the fund 
to purchase premiums for the ladies de- 
partment."51 

The phrase, "ladies department," ac- 
knowledged the important if subsidiary 
role women played from the very begin- 
ning of the society. In its congratulatory 
statement a month after the opening ex- 
hibition of 1846, the American Farmer 
made approving mention of the fact that 
the founders of the new organization 
were to be "aided in their labors by the 
countenance and support of the fairer 
portion of creation."52 

The contribution of women to the an- 
nual fairs grew rapidly, especially in the 
category of household manufactures. At 
the first exhibition only sixteen prizes 
were awarded for articles grouped under 
this heading. For the most part they were 
various types of homespun fabrics — 
blankets, counterpanes, table diaper, 
towelling, flannel, striped linsey, car- 
peting, plain linen, and yarn stockings. 
The list of premiums and the names of 
the women who won them covers a scant 
half page in the minutes for that date.53 

Three years later, in 1849, the list was 
much longer as well as more diverse. 
There were, for example, prizes not only 
for the more usual entries like the ones 
noted above, but also for items of fancy 
handwork, such as yarn gloves, and for 
displays of flowers.54 Brief but approving 
mention of the women's entries was made 
by an American Farmer correspondent 
who visited the same 1849 exhibition: 

The ladies made a most beautiful display 
in the department of household economy. 
The space allotted for their handiwork 
was continually crowded, and gave uni- 
versal satisfaction. A number of the ar- 
ticles were of peculiar merit, and we were 
promised that they should be on exhibi- 
tion at the State Fair.55 

The brevity of this notice makes it evi- 
dent that women were still helpers of a 
secondary order. Later in the same ac- 
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count, the writer describes them in terms 
of their ornamental value; 

The fair daughters of Montgomery, and 
some from other counties, and the city of 
Washington, graced it [the exhibition] 
with their presence in large numbers, 
and added much to the interest of the 
Fair. Seats were provided in front of the 
stand appropriated for the Orator of the 
Day, and the scene which was presented, 
in the radiance of beauty which was there 
exhibited, was calculated to make a 
pleasing impression upon the stranger.56 

By 1850, women for the first time made 
up several of the committees appointed to 
handle arrangements for the fair. Mrs. 
Richard Johns Bowie, Mrs. Lawrence A. 
Dawson, and Miss Ann Harding were 
chosen to act as a "Committee for the 
purchase of Premiums for the Ladies De- 
partment."57 And yet, significantly, the 
secretary and "pursar" for the group was 
Robert Dick.58 All administrative and fi- 
nancial aspects of the society's operation 
remained firmly in the hands of its male 
members, a reflection of the status of 
women in mid-nineteenth century Mary- 
land. Other committees of women formed 
for the same 1850 fair, such as the "Com- 
mittee of Ladies on Household Fabricks," 
the "Committee on Bread, Pickles, and 
Preserves," the "Committee of Ladies on 
Butter, Cheese, and Honey." In these in- 
stances too, a male member of the society 
supervised activities.59 

Descriptions of the fairs themselves in 
the minutes did not always provide a 
clear picture of the actual sequence of 
events. Fortunately the American 
Farmer supplied a detailed account of the 
fourth annual exhibition of 13-14 Sep- 
tember 1849.60 On the opening day, the 
principal events were displays of live- 
stock and homemade articles and de- 
livery of an opening address. That eve- 
ning, members of the society gathered in 
the court house to hear another address 
intended specifically for them. The 
phrase the minutes generally used to de- 
scribe this final phase of the opening day 
was adjournment "to the court house at 
candlelighting."61 

The second day consisted largely of 
judging entries and distributing prizes— 

and to the plowing match that was a 
standard feature at local agricultural 
fairs of the time.62 The match provided 
competitors not only with an opportunity 
to display their individual plowing skills, 
but also allowed them to demonstrate the 
merits of various kinds of patented im- 
plements. The 1849 prize for the best 
three-horse plow, for example, went to 
Artemus Newlin, who used "Brown's pa- 
tent."63 That year's award for best 
plowman was awarded to another of the 
Stabler brothers, Howard. The Stablers 
typified the ability of some middle class 
farmers in Montgomery County to com- 
bine manual skills with an advanced ap- 
proach to husbandry.64 

Finally, there was the sale of cattle. 
Some had been brought for exhibition 
only, but other stock stood for sale as well 
as exhibition. At the 1849 fair a Mr. 
Bayly offered Devon cattle at auction 
"and realized very satisfactory prices 
therefore."65 The sale of livestock as the 
concluding event serves as a reminder 
that cattle made up the center of interest 
at the September exhibitions. Indeed the 
American Farmer referred to the two-day 
gathering not as a fair or an exhibition 
but as a cattle show: "It is the first time 
we have had the opportunity of attending 
one of their [Montgomery County's] 
Cattle Shows, although we had, some 
years before, the pleasure of visiting the 
county."66 

In the course of his article the corre- 
spondent also refers to the state of the 
Montgomery County soil. His observation 
tactfully noted both progress made and 
the room for further improvement: 

All classes of the community [in Mont- 
gomery County] seem to be alive to the 
importance of the subject of the renova- 
tion of their waste lands, and, notwith- 
standing much has been accomplished 
during the last few years, truly, we had 
the opportunity of witnessing, in our 
travel through the county, that much 
remains to be done — but with the in- 
domitable energy which her sons 
have evinced, the period is not very dis- 
tant when her waste fields will be re- 
claimed. . . .67 
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Apart from Sandy Spring Quakers like 
the Stablers and Farquhar, few members 
of the society were more diligent in the 
use of fertilizer than Allen Bowie Davis. 
The American Farmer reported that 
Davis, in his address to the members on 
the evening of the first day of the 1849 
exhibition, paid particular attention "to 
the subject of manures, the supply, and 
the means of obtaining it—and he al- 
luded to the corrrespondence which had 
taken place between him and the Rail 
Road Co., relative to the freight charged 
thereupon."68 Both the Baltimore and 
Washington Railroad and the Chesa- 
peake and Ohio Canal had imposed bur- 
densome freight charges on the transport 
of guano and other commercial fertilizers, 
driving the price beyond the reach of 
smaller farmers. 

The problem had been a topic of discus- 
sion at the November 1848 meeting, 
where members resolved: 

It is the opinion of this Society, that a re- 
duction on the tolls on guano and other 
fertilizers by our internal improvement 
companies, is a matter of great impor- 
tance to the agriculture of the County, 
and that the President of this Society be 
requested to communicate with compa- 
nies for that end.69 

In accord with the resolution, Davis did 
make inquiries and his efforts bore fruit, 
at least with the Chesapeake and Ohio 
Canal Company. Five months later he 
was able to report "that the Chesapeake 
and Ohio Canal Company had consented 
to reduce the toll on manures, but that 
the Balto. and Wash. Railroad had not 
yet answered his proposition to them for 
the same object."70 Davis eventually pre- 
vailed upon the railroad as well. In a 
communication to the American Farmer 
of July 1850, Edward Stabler wrote: 

Our Rail-road companies have materially 
reduced the freight on manures—an act 
of wisdom and good policy, and doubtless 
owing in some degree to the influence 
and perseverance of the worthy President 
of our county Society; one of the first, if 
not the first, to move efficiently in the re- 
form.71 

These victories and Davis's largesse 
gradually led to noticeable gains in Mont- 

gomery farming. In 1849 Davis, willing 
to assist less affluent members of the so- 
ciety, purchased a large quantity of 
guano for resale to members in smaller 
amounts at affordable prices. The society 
tendered thanks at the September 
meeting: 

Resolved, that the thanks of the Society 
be given to Mr. A. B. Davis for his ser- 
vices in purchasing for the members of 
the Society guano whereby about twelve 
hundred dollars were saved to those who 
purchased through him.72 

In November the minutes registered 
"much interesting conversation" about 
how to apply guano. A majority of farmers 
in attendance reported that they "sowed 
about 200 lbs per acre upon prepared 
land and shovelled in with wheat." 
Others "sowed the guano on the rough, 
then the wheat, [and] harrowed and cross 
harrowed the land."73 What mattered 
above all was their perception that how- 
ever applied, the result was "a fair crop of 
wheat... on land poor before the applica- 
tion of guano."74 

While guano was the most sought-after 
fertilizer in mid-nineteenth-century 
Montgomery County, it was not the only 
one in use. Chappell's Salts also enjoyed a 
certain popularity. Their originator, P. S. 
Chappell of Baltimore, advertised fre- 
quently in the American Farmer. In the 
issue for September 1850, the advertise- 
ment took the form of an open letter ad- 
dressed "To the Farmers of Maryland." In 
the course of the letter, Chappell de- 
scribed the composition of the salts: 
"Each barrel contains as much Phosphate 
Lime (dissolved in Sulphuric acid) as 200 
lbs Peruvian Guano, besides a full supply 
of Alkilies, Sulphates, Silicates, Animal 
Charcoal, etc."75 

Silicates, phosphates, and alkilies 
would probably have had little meaning 
to most farmers, who would have noted, 
however, that a barrel of Chappell's Salts 
contained as much phosphate lime as two 
hundred pounds of Peruvian guano. 
Clearly Chappell wanted to market his 
product as a viable rival to guano, of 
which Peruvian was considered the 
best.76 Some members of the Montgomery 
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County Agricultural Society tried Chap- 
pell's Salts and found them disap- 
pointing. At the fall 1849 meeting two of 
them expressed their dissatisfaction with 
Chappell's product: "Messers S. C. Veirs 
and L. A. Dawson used the same Salts 
[Chappell's] on their wheat crop, and 
from the results, do not think they paid 
them for the freight and expense of get- 
ting and applying the article to their 
crop, and have used none on their present 
wheat crop."77 

Although commercial fertilizers en- 
joyed growing popularity by the middle of 
the nineteenth century, Montgomery 
farmers recognized the usefulness of 
home-prepared fertilizers as a less costly 
alternative. In his 1847 report of the 
Committee on Fields and Fencing, John 
A. Carter gave a detailed description of 
how to make compost by combining barn- 
yard manure, swamp earth, lime, plaster 
of Paris, and crushed bones. Even to this 
mixture Carter recommended adding 
guano as a supplement in order to pro- 
duce a compost bank that would be for 
the farmer "his mine of wealth—his Gol- 
conda."78 

Urban readers of the minutes today 
may wonder at the preoccupation with 
fertilizers, but the society recognized 
them as the key to restoring Montgomery 
County's agricultural productivity. When 
Carter described a guano enriched com- 
post heap as the farmer's Golconda—a 
city in India noted for its diamonds—he 
was using hyperbole that was understand- 
able; through the persistent promotion 
of fertilizers the region's soil did begin to 
recover its original potential. The re- 
covery was under way by 1850 and prog- 
ress during the next ten years was rapid. 
A quarter of a century later, in his ad- 
dress at the 1876 centennial of Mont- 
gomery County, Thomas Anderson 
(1835-1900) observed that "the decade 
from 1850 to 1860 was one of unrivalled 
prosperity to our people."79 In no small 
measure, that prosperity owed to early 
leaders of the Montgomery County Agri- 
cultural Society. 
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Trolley Lines, Land Speculation and 
Community-Building: The Early History of 
Woodside Park, Silver Spring, Maryland 

STEVEN LUBAR 

To get the full share of Good Health, 
Long Life, and Happiness for you and 
your kiddies, to get the most out of life as 
our Creator intended it to be, A HOME 
OF YOUR OWN is an absolute necessity. 

It promotes happiness and content- 
ment, for it is the most pleasant and nat- 
ural way to live. It has the correct envi- 
ronment made up of the natural instead 
of the artificial. 

Green grass, trees, shrubbery, flower 
and vegetable gardens all your own, pro- 
vide a pleasant pastime, and an abun- 
dance of the things we all crave. It is the 
real life that leads to happiness, for you, 
and those you love. 

T. 
—Sears, Roebuck house catalog, 19271 

HE "OFFICIAL" HISTORY OF SILVER 
Spring is well known. Local residents re- 
peat the story of Francis Preston Blair's 
discovery of a spring flecked with mica 
while out riding in the summer of 1840 
and tell how he established his summer 
home near what he called Silver Spring. 
The site of the spring is still preserved 
today, one of the few historic landmarks 
in downtown Silver Spring. The history of 
the city for the next 145 years is much 
harder to find. Perhaps because Silver 
Spring is not incorporated, or because 
there is no local historical society, resi- 
dents know very little about its recent 
history. Silver Spring's ordinary subur- 
banism leaves nothing on which to build 
local folklore. Yet its typicality makes 
Silver Spring important; it is part of a 

Steven Lubar works for the Smithsonian Institu- 
tion's National Museum of American History. 

larger story of suburban growth in Wash- 
ington and throughout nineteenth- and 
twentieth-century America.2 

The suburbanization of Montgomery 
County reflected changing economic 
trends, transportation technology, and 
commercial development and took place 
in four phases. The coming of the railroad 
in the 1870s brought a first wave of sub- 
urbanization: farms producing food, espe- 
cially milk, for the population of the city 
to the south, and the establishment of 
railroad commuter suburbs. A second 
wave began with streetcars in the 1890s; 
it continued after World War I with the 
expansion of the federal government and 
the coming of the automobile. World War 
11 and the dominance of automotive 
transportation led to the penultimate 
wave: the development of regional shop- 
ping centers and "strip" commercial de- 
velopments. Finally, the coming of the 
Washington Metro system has led to a 
fourth form of suburbanization, that un- 
derway today. These suburban waves 
were shaped by the history of earlier de- 
velopments, built on them, and, some- 
times, washed them away. 

Each wave told two stories. The first 
involved transportation and govern- 
mental infrastructures: railroads, 
trolleys, sewer lines, and land develop- 
ment companies. The second, though 
harder to find, was as important: the for- 
mation of community. I will tell both 
stories here by detailing the development 
of one small section of Silver Spring— 
Woodside Park. Woodside Park was one 
of many small housing developments that 
built post-World War I Silver Spring. It 
consisted of about 200 acres (today about 
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400 houses) directly north of the Silver 
Spring business district, filling a trape- 
zoid formed by Georgia Avenue, Coles- 
ville Avenue, Spring Street, and Dale 
Drive. The subdivision plan for Woodside 
Park was filed in 1923, when the Mont- 
gomery County suburbs—Chevy Chase, 
Bethesda, and Wheaton in addition to 
Silver Spring—boomed. Woodside Park 
typified suburban development of the 
1920s. It reflected the culture, economics 
and demographics of that era, as well as 
the development that went before. 

Montgomery County's birth coincided 
with that of the United States, and was 
caused by it: Frederick County was too 
large for the meetings that the war ne- 
cessitated, and so it was split in two. 
What had formerly been southern Fred- 
erick County became Montgomery 
County. The new county's seat was lo- 
cated at what became, in 1801, the town 
of Rockville. Before Rockville became a 
town — it was originally called Mont- 
gomery Court House, or Williamsburg— 
Montgomery County had none. "From 
Georgetown to Frederick there was not 
... a village, or hamlet, that had a 
name," recalled a speaker at Montgomery 
County's centennial celebration in 1876.3 

Montgomery County remained rural 
and grew impoverished. At the first fed- 
eral census in 1790 the population of the 
county was 18,000 —11,679 whites and 
6,324 blacks, almost all of them slaves. 
The 1830 Census counted 19,816 Mont- 
gomery County residents, its peak until 
1870. When Blair found the silver spring 
and established his country home, Mont- 
gomery County had the lowest population 
since its founding in 1776. By 1840 the 
soil was worn out, and the white popula- 
tion began to emigrate west, seeking the 
better lands of Kentucky and Missouri. 
The black population held steady at be- 
tween 6,000 and 9,000 throughout the 
nineteenth century.4 Rockville remained 
the only town in the county until after 
the Civil War. Blair's summer estate was 
far out in the Maryland countryside, sur- 
rounded only by similar Washington es- 
tates and small farms.5 The city of Wash- 
ington, about eight miles south of the 

silver spring, was a small town, with 
little commercial development. 

The first signs of the expansion of 
Washington's commercial interest were 
the new transportation routes that began 
to radiate from the city. Washington was 
linked to the West by the cumbersome 
Chesapeake and Ohio Canal and, indi- 
rectly, by the National Road. The B & O 
Railroad linked Washington with Balti- 
more in 1835, though that link was never 
the raison d'etre of the railroad. Rather, 
the B & O thought of itself as Baltimore's 
route to the West. The port towns near 
Washington—Alexandria and George- 
town—were Baltimore's competitors, and 
the railroad's backers, almost all from 
Baltimore, had no interest in helping 
their commercial rivals. Rail transporta- 
tion was by way of Baltimore, and the 
owners of the B & O were happy with 
that situation.6 

Washington businessmen were not so 
content, and they chartered the Metropol- 
itan Railroad in 1853 to connect the cap- 
ital city with the west. They were unsuc- 
cessful for a variety of reasons, including 
political opposition from Baltimore in- 
terests. After the Civil War they tried 
again, this time with better luck; the city 
had boomed during the war, and the 
war had shown the need for a railroad 
heading west from Washington. The 
B & O decided to build the line itself to 
avoid competition, and started construc- 
tion on the "Metropolitan" line, between 
Washington and Point of Rocks, forty-two 
miles to the west, in 1866. Service on the 
line began in May 1873.7 

The Metropolitan line ran through 
sparsely populated farm country, for the 
population of Montgomery County in 
1880 was less than 25,000. Only two ad- 
ditional towns had been chartered by that 
year: Poolesville, not on the railroad, and 
Gaithersburg, near Rockville. There were 
only two permanent station buildings on 
the line, one in Rockville, built when the 
line opened, and the other, built in 1878, 
in what is now downtown Silver Spring. 
There was little local passenger traffic on 
the line—initially, only one local train 
daily. The towns of Montgomery County 
were still very small. Silver Spring, then 
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called Sligo, was barely a town, with only 
sixteen farm houses, three stores, two 
churches, a blacksmith shop, a shoe shop, 
a post office, and an inn.8 

The major effect of the line was the en- 
couragement of commercial farming in 
Montgomery County: milk, vegetables, 
and meat for the Washington market. It 
also encouraged the building of summer 
houses by wealthy Washingtonians. 
Crossby S. Noyes, editor and part owner 
of the Washington Star, for example, pur- 
chased 100 acres of land about a mile 
from the Silver Spring station in 1882. 
Mr. Noyes and his family lived at his 
Silver Spring farm seven months of the 
year, returning to their Dupont Circle 
residence for the winter months. The 
Noyes estate will feature prominently in 
this story later, for it became the central 
part of Woodside Park.9 

Suburban development proper began in 
the late 1880s. Throughout the country 

railroad companies promoted suburban 
commuter communities. Washington- 
ians, eager to escape the unhealthy cli- 
mate of the city, joined the exodus. The 
first development along the Metropolitan 
line was Takoma Park, settled in 1886 by 
Seventh-Day Adventists. Garrett Park, 
Kensington, and Forest Glen were next, 
in 1887. Garrett Park, named for Robert 
Garrett, the B & O's president, was mod- 
eled after New York's Tuxedo Park and 
Philadelphia's Bryn Mawr. The name 
Kensington (changed from Knowles at 
this time) indicates the model for that 
suburb. Forest Glen already had an ap- 
propriately suburban name; it was pro- 
moted as a summer resort as well as a 
suburban community. In 1890 Mont- 
gomery County's population was a little 
over 30,00010 (Figure 1). 

Forest Glen plays an important part in 
the history of Woodside Park, for it later 
became the destination of the trolley car 

FIGURE 1. All illustrations courtesy of the Library of Congress. Sligo, from G. M. Hopkin's Atlas of Fifteen 
Miles Around Washington, 1879. 
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line that ran through Woodside Park, and 
thus deserves some attention here. The 
first structure built by the Forest Glen 
Investment Company was Ye Forest 
Inne, a large resort hotel that opened in 
1887. The company also laid out some 
500 lots along some eighteen proposed 
streets. In short, it undertook to build a 
typical suburban development. Unfortu- 
nately, its plans failed, and in 1894 the 
hotel was sold to John A. I. Cassedy, who 
turned the building into a girls' school— 
the National Park Seminary.11 

Three years after the Forest Glen In- 
vestment Company tried unsuccessfully 
to establish its suburb, another developer 
had little better luck with a nearby com- 
munity. Judge Benjamin F. Leighton 
bought 100 acres of farmland stretching 
from the B & O line to the Brookeville 
Turnpike, less than a mile north of the 
Silver Spring station, and organized a 
subdivision he called Woodside. His pro- 
motional brochure emphasized the low 
price of lots and houses: 

Lots for sale on easy terms; Houses built 
and sold for small cash payments; The lot 
prices are lower than in any other subdi- 
vision similiarly suited on the [Metropol- 
itan] Branch, ranging from $225 to $600. 

Judge Leighton financed the construction 
of a Woodside station on the B & O, to 
serve his new development.12 

The evidence of surviving houses indi- 
cates that Woodside was not a great suc- 
cess; there are only a small number of 
houses in that community dating before 
the turn of the century. In 1910 the devel- 
opment had a population of only 300. All 
of the lots were sold off at Judge Leigh- 
ton's death in June 1921,13 but, again 
judging from the architecture, there were 
many undeveloped lots in 1930. (Wood- 
side Station is no more, torn down some- 
time after 1935; its memory survives in 
the name of a new townhouse develop- 
ment about one-half mile from the site of 
the station.) 

Judge Leighton was no doubt familiar 
with the activities of the many real estate 
developers who operated out of Wash- 
ington in the 1880s. Development compa- 
nies built most of Washington's Mary- 

land suburbs. The first and most impor- 
tant of these companies was the Chevy 
Chase Land Company, formed in 1890 by 
William Stewart and Francis G. New- 
lands, senators from Nevada. The Chevy 
Chase Land company bought the several 
thousand acres that is now Chevy Chase, 
built a street railway with an amusement 
park at its end, and sold lots for develop- 
ment. Stewart and Newlands' vision was 
comprehensive; it included restrictions on 
ownership and cost and placement of 
houses as well as social institutions for 
the new neighborhood. The Chevy Chase 
Land Company set the style for develop- 
ments for the next fifty years.14 

Even before the senators from Nevada 
undertook to profit from the expansion of 
the nation's capital. Congress had begun 
to pass laws regulating and controlling 
development. Downtown Washington, of 
course, was planned from the start. These 
later laws, part of the "City Beautiful 
Movement" of the late nineteenth cen- 
tury, ordered Washington's expansion. In 
1893 and again in 1898 Congress passed 
laws mandating the system of street 
names and the matching of city and sub- 
urban street plans. In 1901 it established 
the Park Commission to set up a system 
of parks. These laws, claims the historian 
of the city, were "the first concious at- 
tempt to guide the suburban growth of an 
American community along lines that 
would ensure harmony between new de- 
velopments and the parent city."15 

The Chevy Chase Land Company was 
not an immediate success; it began to sell 
lots just as depression hit the country. 
But by World War I Chevy Chase boomed, 
and land companies began to develop 
neighborhoods throughout the Maryland 
suburbs. 

By the late 1890s Silver Spring had un- 
dergone the first phase of suburban de- 
velopment, that based on railroad trans- 
portation. The 1890s were the peak of 
railroad service to the area, with some 
eighteen passenger trains daily passing 
the Silver Spring station — twelve of 
them locals.16 But Silver Spring proper 
was still a very small town. Gist Blair, 
grandson of the founder, referred to the 
town in 1897 as "a cross-roads without in- 
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habitants."17 A photograph of the Brook- 
ville Turnpike taken at this time shows a 
narrow, unpaved flint-rock road with 
farms on either side (Figure 2). But it was 
at just this time that the second phase of 
suburbanization, based on trolley lines, 
came to Silver Spring. 

The "Washington, Woodside, and 
Forest Glen Railway and Power Com- 
pany of Montgomery County, Maryland" 
was incorporated on 26 July 1895. It was 
founded and financed by a group of Mont- 
gomery County land owners, among them 
Cassedy and Leighton, and named, suit- 
ably, for its termini and the develop- 
ments in which its major owners had a 
stake. The line ran from Forest Glen to 
the Brookeville Turnpike, then past 
Woodside to the District Line and the ter- 
minus of the Brightwood Railway Com- 
pany, a total length of 2.9 miles. This trip 

took about fifteen minutes. The trip con- 
tinued on the tracks of the Brightwood 
trolley to its southern terminus at 
Georgia Avenue and W Street. (The 
Brightwood line had some common own- 
ership with the Forest Glen line.) From 
there passengers made connections to 
ride to downtown Washington. Construc- 
tion of the Forest Glen line began in 
1897, and was completed and opened for 
traffic on 25 November 1897.18 

The Forest Glen trolley route led it 
through downtown Silver Spring and its 
outlying developments. The trolley began 
to replace the train for those who com- 
muted into the city; it was cheaper, 
though it took more time, about fifty 
minutes. It must have encouraged settle- 
ment in Woodside and Forest Glen, 
though those developments remained 
thinly settled: in 1910 Woodside had a 

FIGURE 2. Brookeville Turnpike, just north of Silver Spring, ca. 1900. 
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population of 300, Forest Glen 225. Silver 
Spring, all told, had only 4,500 inhabi- 
tants. Takoma Park, the next town on the 
line to Washington, had a population of 
5,000. The suburb and developments fur- 
ther out were much smaller: Kensington 
had 800, Garrett Park 175. Even the 
older towns farther away were smaller: 
Rockville, the county seat, had a popula- 
tion of only 1,500. Chevy Chase had 
about the same population as Silver 
Spring and Takoma Park.19 

There was still little commercial devel- 
opment in downtown Silver Spring. The 
1916 Sanborn fire insurance map shows 
only four stores—a bakery; a hardware 
and farm implement store; a garage; a 
flour, feed and grain store; and a post of- 
fice, bank, and armory. The residential 
area consisted of twenty-seven scattered 
dwellings on Sligo, Silver Spring, Thayer, 
Georgia, and Colesville streets. Gist 
Blair reported in 1917 that "Silver Spring 
at present consists of some seventy-five 
dwellings, ten stores, a mill, and a na- 
tional bank"20 (Figure 3). 

It was not until after World War I that 
Silver Spring began to boom. The popula- 
tion of Washington went from 331,000 to 
438,000 between 1910 and 1920, an in- 
crease of thirty-three percent; the 
number of government workers jumped 
from 39,000 to 94,000. Montgomery 
County's population took its greatest 
jump to date, from about 35,000 in 1920 
to almost 50,000 ten years later. 

Silver Spring was ready for its part of 
this expansion. The infrastructure neces- 
sary for expanded development was put 
into place: an elementary school opened 
in Woodside in 1908; a Women's Coopera- 
tive Improvement Society was founded in 
1913; in 1915 the Volunteer Fire Depart- 
ment was founded, and in 1916 the Wash- 
ington Suburban Sanitary Commission 
was formed to provide water and sewage 
lines. Until the formation of the Mary- 
land National Capital Park and Planning 
Commission in 1927, the WSSC was the 
de facto Maryland suburbs' planner, for it 
had to approve all new subdivisions.21 

Silver Spring still had no local govern- 
ment, and thus, a resident wrote, "suffers 
from many of the troubles of unincorpor- 

ated villages." That would not be a 
problem long, though, for, "the flour- 
ishing community is even now planning a 
government to furnish all of these neces- 
sities."22 

With the new water and sewage service 
and fire coverage, Silver Spring was ripe 
for development. Looking toward the fu- 
ture. Gist Blair told the members of the 
Columbia Historical Society "[Silver 
Spring's] growth and prosperity are as- 
sured."23 Land values appreciated, and it 
no longer made economic sense to use the 
land for farming. Landowners began to 
sell off their estates to development com- 
panies. 

The Woodside Development Corpora- 
tion was formed in 1922, and in De- 
cember of that year the Noyes family sold 
Alton Farm to it. In January 1923 the 
Woodside Development Corporation filed 
a subdivision plan showing streets. In 
April 1924 the Washington Suburban 
Sanitary Commission approved the 
layout, and, not long after, the Woodside 
Park Development Corporation began to 
advertise lots for sale.24 

Advertisements for Woodside Park re- 
vealed the attractions of suburban life 
and the goal of community. The Woodside 
brochure made five claims: scenic beauty; 
the existence of a community; restrictions 
to insure the proper development of the 
area; and, of course, the sine qua non of 
real estate, location and price. Scenic 
beauty was a primary claim. A news- 
paper ad for the development promised "a 
natural park of nearly 200 rolling acres, 
winding drives, beautiful woodland, un- 
surpassed natural landscape features.25 

The emphasis on the beauty of the site 
was expanded in a brochure the devel- 
opers distributed: 

The beautiful grounds surrounding the 
old home are shaded by giant oaks, elms, 
maples, walnuts, and a variety of lesser 
trees, set off by rare shrubs brought from 
various parts of the world and planted 
with infinite care and skill. The rolling 
hills, wooded slopes, sparkling spring-fed 
brooks winding through shaded dells, 
present a matchless panorama to delight 
the senses.26 
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The brochure went on at some length 
about "the fine old trees and wealth of 
planting," and the ways in which the feel 
of the country estate would be preserved. 
Not rural beauty, but the carefully 
planned beauty of a country estate, or 
better, a park—the improvements de- 
scribed as "rustic" and "picturesque"— 
was the lure dangled by the Woodside De- 
velopment Corporation. 

Prospective buyers were assured that 
they were not moving to an undeveloped 
rural area: "This tract is situated in the 
midst of an old established community of 
refined homes. It is convenient to 
churches and schools and characterized 
by desirable modern advantages." The 
modern advantages were water and elec- 
tric service, the lines laid out with the 
roads. Sewer and gas lines and mail de- 
livery waited until the early 1930s. The 
developers were clearly appealing to 
people of an urban sensibility; as we shall 
see, the first residents moved out from 
Washington, not in from the country. 

Part of the community promised pro- 
spective Woodside Park residents was a 
civic association. The promotional bro- 
chure outlined its role: 

In our plan for the promotion of Wood- 
side Park we have provided a means 
looking toward the future maintenance of 
the park. This includes organization of 
the Property Owners' Improvement Asso- 
ciation, which will have entire charge of 
maintaining the improvements, en- 
forcing the restrictions, and promoting 
the general welfare of the community. 

The Property Owners' Association was 
written into the deeds; the Woodside De- 
velopment Corporation agreed only to 
keep up the streets until 15 January 
1925, when the association "to enforce re- 
strictions for the upkeep of the park 
streets and ways, maintain street lights 
and other improvements" would be 
formed.27 

Restrictions to ensure that the commu- 
nity would develop in an appropriate way 
were built into both the formal and in- 
formal sale of lots in the new develop- 
ment. "Wise restrictions have been 
adopted," the developers wrote, "with a 
view to preserving Woodside Park as a 

neighborhood characterized by charming 
lines and refined surroundings." These 
restrictions, enforced in the deeds, in- 
sisted on four key elements in the forma- 
tion of the suburb: 

that each house have a value of at least 
$6,000; that only one house be built on 
each parcel of land; that the land be used 
exclusively for residential purposes; that 
all houses be placed at least forty feet 
from the property line; that "for the pur- 
pose of sanitation and health" no owner 
"will sell or lease the said land to any one 
of a race whose death rate is at a higher 
percentage than the white race." 

All of these restrictions were typical of 
other subdivisions built in the period. 
The $6,000 minimum value is higher 
than the average; others ranged from 
$3,000 to over $10,000. The racial restric- 
tion, to judge from other deeds of the 
same period, is a restriction against 
blacks. It too is unfortunately typical; in 
the same language, or in language even 
harsher, blacks were excluded from al- 
most all the Maryland suburban develop- 
ments. Restrictions on other groups— 
Asians or Jews — were not given legal 
standing in these deeds, but were appar- 
ently enforced in some Maryland and 
District suburbs.28 

First the developer and later the Prop- 
erty Owners' Improvement Association 
enforced the restrictions. Informal en- 
forcement of community standards was 
probably as important as legal enforce- 
ment, either by the developers or by the 
Association. The developers sold land at 
reduced rates to residents that they 
thought would be "an asset to the new de- 
velopment."29 Moreover, many of the new 
residents were related to each other. 
Though it is impossible to determine the 
extent of family ties, family names of res- 
idents and oral tradition indicates its im- 
portance.30 Legal enforcement was re- 
sorted to when necessary. In 1937 the 
Civic Association filed suit to prevent 
houses costing less than $6,000 from 
being built. Mostly, though, the Civic As- 
sociation concerned themselves with 
small issues of neighborhood concern, 
working through the Allied Civic Group, 
an umbrella association that members of 
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the Woodside Park Civic Association 
helped to found in the 1930s.31 

Price and location were the final—or 
perhaps the first—attractions. The devel- 
oper sold lots at between six and ten cents 
per square foot—between $2,600 and 
$4,400 dollars for the acre. Reduced rates, 
as low as three cents per square foot, 
were available in less desirable locations 
and for potential buyers the developers 
wanted to attract. Financing was avail- 
able, with as little as ten percent cash 
down. The brochure noted the locations 
as the most "outstanding" around Wash- 
ington "for the building of distinctive 
homes expressing individual character 
and taste."32 

The Woodside Development Corpora- 
tion advertised itself as "an organization 
with twenty years experience behind it." 
Charles Hopkins, the president of the 
firm, was also a principal of Hopkins- 
Armstrong, Inc., a real estate firm. 
Hopkins had moved from Newport News, 
Virginia, to a very large Woodside Park 
house that had appeared in the 1878 
Hopkins atlas as the "Jno. C. Wilson 
Res."; M. K. Armstrong, the other prin- 
cipal of the real estate firm, was secre- 
tary of the Woodside Development Corpo- 
ration. Their experience clearly showed 
in their brochure; it details of the essen- 
tial elements of the suburban dream of 
the 1920s. The developers knew what po- 
tential suburbanites wanted. 

They also knew how to attract them. 
They advertised Woodside Park in the 
Washington Star, sharing space in the 
real estate section with dozens of other 
new suburban developments. Wynne- 
wood Park, a part of Woodside Park de- 
veloped separately by a realtor, adver- 
tised in the Star and also by means of a 
sign in downtown Silver Spring.33 Wood- 
side Park may well have advertised there 
too, attracting those already living in the 
suburbs, who would see the sign on the 
trolley car everyday, or those riding the 
trolley car out into the countryside, 
whether house-hunting or for amuse- 
ment. 

County land records indicate 133 sales 
of land in Woodside Park by the end of 
1927.34 Many individuals bought land 

but did not build on it. The 1927-28 
Folk's Washington Suburban Directory, 
the first to list Woodside Park as a sepa- 
rate neighborhood, notes forty-four indi- 
viduals in the neighborhood, apparent- 
ly thirty-six households.35 Some land 
owners in the new subdivision no doubt 
purchased the land as a speculation, evi- 
dent by the rapid resale of some plots 
within two or three years; others no 
doubt hoped to build within a few years, 
and had to postpone their hopes of 
moving to the suburbs when the Depres- 
sion hit Washington. 

Who were the early settlers of this new 
suburban neighborhood? Where were 
they from? Of thirty-three new house- 
holds (three of the thirty six have names 
and occupations too common to trace) 
twenty-five can be found in the Wash- 
ington area five years earlier. Of these 
twenty-five, seventeen moved to Wood- 
side Park from the District of Columbia, 
all but one of them from the Northwest 
quadrant of the city. Most of these Wash- 
ingtonians already lived fairly far from 
the city center, in "suburban" develop- 
ments opened up in the late-nineteenth 
and early-twentieth century. Eight of the 
new residents already lived in the Mary- 
land suburbs, four of them in Silver 
Spring, four in other nearby suburbs. 
Few of the new residents found their new 
suburban residence much different from 
their previous homes.36 

The occupations of thirty of the forty- 
four residents of the area can be deter- 
mined, either for 1927 or for a date 
within the previous five years. Typical 
occupations included: architect, clerk, 
contractor, office manager, chemist, 
florist, sheet metal worker, secretary, life 
insurance agent, machinist, auditor, 
lawyer, plasterer, draftsman, and real es- 
tate agent. Almost all were white-collar 
workers. Most were employees of large 
firms; ten of the thirty whose employer 
can be determined worked for the United 
States government (This was typical of 
Silver Spring; the Maryland WPA guide, 
in its small entry for Silver Spring, noted 
that "most of its residents are Govern- 
ment workers.") Many, to judge from 
listings in the Washington Directory, 
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commuted to downtown Washington. All 
of the residents could afford to spend 
about $10,000 or more on a lot and house 
in a day when the average annual income 
was $2,300.37 

The proud new land owners had several 
housing options to choose from. They 
could simply hire an architect or a con- 
tractor and have a house designed and 
built, or they could take advantage of one 
of the several pre-designed (and in some 
cases even pre-built) options that became 
available in the 1920s. Several compa- 
nies, including Sears, Roebuck, sold kits 
complete with plans and all necessary 
components to build a house. A buyer 
could put the pieces together himself, or, 
apparently more common, hire a con- 
tractor to do it for him. The Sears catalog 
homes were directed at developments ex- 
actly like Woodside Park, the advertise- 
ments in the Sears "Honor-Bilt Homes" 
catalog coinciding exactly with the 
claims of suburban developers (Figure 4). 

By 1926 Sears included over one 
hundred house types in its catalog, in- 
cluding several that resemble those built 
in Woodside Park. Oral tradition has it 
that several of the houses in Woodside 
Park are Sears houses, though searches 
of extant Sears catalogs have not turned 
up any houses identical to those in Wood- 
side Park—many are similar—and the 
Sears archives cannot verify that any of 
the homes in the neighborhood are indeed 
Sears houses.38 

If not Sears catalog kit houses, some 
houses likely were built from store- 
bought plans, for houses identical to sev- 
eral Woodside Park houses are found in 
other parts of the Washington suburban 
area. Sears sold plans not listed in the 
catalogs, as did many other firms. Amer- 
ican Builder for this period, for example, 
had for sale plans for dozens of similar 
houses in each monthly issue; Wash- 
ington area contractors and architect/ 
builders could gladly supply more. Archi- 
tectural evidence indicates that a few 
builders constructed many of the early 
houses of Woodside Park. 

Some parts of Woodside Park were de- 
veloped by architect/builders who bought 
land, built houses, and then sold the fin- 

ished house. Robert Murphy, who adver- 
tised himself as an "owner-builder," 
bought a large lot of land from the devel- 
opers of Woodside Park and built a 
number of Tudor revival residences he 
called "Seven Gables" houses. This small 
development within a development was 
called "Wynnewood Park"; it represented 
another variation on the theme of Wash- 
ington suburban development.39 

By 1927 nearly forty houses were built, 
and more were underway. Some were the 
popular wood-framed bungalow; some 
brick neo-Tudor, a few stone mansions. 
Woodside Park began to fill out as a sub- 
division, and, the next step in any new 
development, it began to become a com- 
munity. 

Some elements in the formation of com- 
munity were in place before Woodside 
Park was brought into being. Churches 
and schools that serviced the communi- 
ties of Woodside and Silver Spring were 
part of the attractions noted in Woodside 
Park advertisements. The developer pro- 
vided communal amenities like "beau- 
tiful entrance columns," shelters for use 
while waiting for the trolley cars, and ex- 
tensive park land.40 

But deed restrictions and government 
employment went farthest toward ex- 
plaining the development of community 
in Woodside Park. Indeed Washington 
never developed the classic "streetcar 
suburbs" of cities like Boston or Philadel- 
phia; there was little difference in the so- 
cial makeup of a railroad-centered devel- 
opment like Woodside and the streetcar- 
centered development of Woodside Park, 
created across the road from it thirty 
years later. Perhaps the early planning 
activities of the city had some effect; 
more likely, the lack of an ethnic working 
class meant that all suburban develop- 
ments in Montgomery County were 
middle class, like those around Silver 
Spring, or upper-middle class, like those 
around Chevy Chase. The peculiar in- 
come base of the city affected not only the 
land use of the city center but also its 
suburbs. 

While many Woodside Park residents 
commuted into the District of Columbia 
each day, others worked in Silver Spring. 
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- 

Long Life and Happiness 
To get the full share of Good Health, Long Life 

and Happiness for yourself and kiddies, to get the 
most out of life as our Creator intended it should 
be, A HOME OF YOUR OWN is an absolute 
necessity. 

It promotes happiness and contentment, for if is 
the most pleasant and natural way to live. It has 
the correct environment made up of the natural 
instead of the artificial. 

Green grass, trees, shrubbery, flower and vege- 
table gardens all your own, provide a pleasant 
pastime, and an abundance of the things we all 
crave. It is the real life that leads to happiness, 
for you, and those you love. 

Best of all, a home of your own does not cost you 
any more than your present mode of living. Instead 
of paying monthly rental, by our Easy Payment 
Plan you may have all these luxuries at a lower 
cost and, in the end, have a beautiful home instead 
of worthless rent receipts. 

Our plan is simple. It has already enabled 
thousands of people to get out of the renter's class. 
This plan will put you in your own home and give 
you your independence. 

On the following pages you will find over 100 designs of 
homes. Some of them will surely meet with your ideas 
of what a real home should be. 

We will gladly tell you all about any house in this book 
and will show you how easy it is to own a home on our Easy 
Payment Plan. Write us. An Information Blank has been 
placed in the back of this book for your convenience. 

Be sure to read about our Ready-Cut System on 
pages 10 and 11, and how this system will save about 
one-half of your carpenter labor. 

Information Blank on Page 141 

Be Indcpcndeni in Old , 

Our ItSN Payment 
PLAN//A7/W POSSIBLE 
WHY PAY RENT? 

SEARS, ROEBUCK AND CO.   " SK PaSe { 

FIGURE 4. Advertisement for Sears' houses in Sears' Honor-Bilt Modern Homes catalogue, 1927. 
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Silver Spring, though today a regional 
commercial center, was still a sleepy 
town in 1930. Much more blue-collar 
than the planned developments less than 
a mile away, it had a small industrial 
base, including a planing mill, a slaugh- 
terhouse, a dairy, and a row of stores 
along its main street. It represented yet 
another type of development—more typ- 
ical of nineteenth-century country towns 
built around railroad stations than either 
nineteenth-century railroad suburbs or 
twentieth-century suburbs built first 
around streetcar lines and then automo- 
biles. Silver Spring, a second-order me- 
tropolis just eight miles from downtown 
Washington, served to some extent as a 
regional shopping center to its outlying 
communities, but it lacked close ties with 
them. The part of Woodside Park to be de- 
veloped last (in the 1940s and 1950s) lay 
closest to downtown Silver Spring.41 

The Depression, though it hit Wash- 
ington real estate early and hard, before 
long brought its own relief with it. The 
federal government boomed as the New 
Deal was put into place, and sales of real 
estate and houses in the area picked up 
after the Depression. The population of 
Wheaton and Silver Spring almost dou- 
bled from 7,829 to 13,377 between 1920 
to 1930, when Woodside Park and many 
other developments like it were created. 
It more than doubled in the next ten 
years, reaching almost 29,000 by 1940.42 

Woodside Park boomed with it. A 1938 
map shows only twenty-three of the 352 
lots in the development unsold.43 As early 
as 1933 the North Washington Realty 
Company could advertise its own devel- 
opments by pointing to established devel- 
opments like Woodside Park. It labeled 
its advertising brochure: "North Wash- 
ington: Beautiful Parks, Arterial High- 

FIGURE 5. Advertisement for North Woodside Realty Company, 1933. 
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ways and Planned Home Communities of 
the Silver Spring Area"44 (Figure 5). 
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The Commercial Rise and Fall of Silver 
Spring: A Study of the 20th Century 
Development of the Suburban Shopping 
Center in Montgomery County 

MARK WALSTON 

I N THE BRIEF SPAN OF TWELVE YEARS, 
from 1938 to 1950, the town of Silver 
Spring in Montgomery County went from 
a quiet residential suburb of Washington, 
D.C. to the second largest business com- 
munity in the State of Maryland. But 
in the following years, Silver Spring's 
commercial vitality would be diminished 
and then eclipsed by the expansion 
throughout the county of the very facility 
which had inaugurated its rise to pre-em- 
inence: the automobile-oriented sub- 
urban shopping center. 

By the 1930s over sixty stores and 
shops had opened their doors for business 
in Silver Spring; their flat brick facades 
and pent roofs formed a continuous 
ribbon of development stretching along 
Georgia Avenue, from the town's older 
railroad station orientation northward. 
But still the surge of commercial activity 
which had taken place in the years after 
World War I was not enough to satiate 
the growing consumer population rapidly 
filling the area's burgeoning residential 
developments.1 

Coinciding with the phenomenal 
growth of the federal government under 
the New Deal programs of the Roosevelt 
administration, the population of Mont- 
gomery County swelled enormously 
during the 1930s, from 49,206 in 1930 to 
83,912 by 1940. The two lower districts of 

Mark Walston is a historian with the Maryland-Na- 
tional Capital Park and Planning Commission. His 
article, "Maryland Inventors and Inventions, 
1830-1960," appeared in the Spring 1985 issue of 
the MHM. 

Wheaton—which included Silver Spring 
— and Bethesda, because of their prox- 
imity and immediate access to the Na- 
tion's Capital, experienced the greatest 
burst of residential construction activity, 
so much so that by the end of the decade 
almost sixty-five percent of the county's 
population lived in these two election dis- 
tricts.2 

Real estate developers of the 1930s 
sensed the increasing commercial value 
of land adjoining the existing small shop- 
ping district of Silver Spring. A traffic 
count made in 1938 showed an average of 
15,000 automobiles passing through 
Silver Spring on Georgia Avenue every 
twenty-four hours, making it one of the 
heaviest-traveled thoroughfares in the 
State of Maryland;3 coupled with imme- 
diate residents, it constituted a large pool 
of potential customers for any new Silver 
Spring business. But still most of the 
shopping needs of the lower county were 
being serviced by the downtown Wash- 
ington stores. As a study of the develop- 
ment possibilities in the Silver Spring 
area conducted in the mid-1930s con- 
cluded: "the size and importance and 
character of the population of Silver 
Spring and the contiguous area can no 
longer be serviced at a distance. The town 
requires and is ready to give its support 
to local business enterprises such as will 
find proper facilities."4 

Inspired by the report's findings, C. H. 
Hillegeist, a Washington developer, took 
an option on a vacant parcel at the south- 
east corner of Georgia Avenue and Coles- 
ville Road, above the northern limits of 
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Silver Spring's existing commercial dis- 
trict, and set out to interest others in a 
large-scale commercial venture. By 1937 
a development partnership consisting of 
Hillegeist, Albert Small, S. E. Godden 
and William A. Julian, former Treasurer 
of the United States, had been formed, 
and immediately they began laying the 
groundwork for a comprehensive shop- 
ping center to be constructed on the site; 
broad in scope, the group envisioned a 
commercial facility unlike any other 
operating in Suburban Maryland. To de- 
sign the complex they contracted John 
Eberson, the noted New York City archi- 
tect.5 

In design, the Silver Spring Shopping 
Center was to mark a sharp break with 
the earlier haphazard ribbons of single 
stores found along the county's main 
roads and with the smaller, unified shop- 
ping center designs associated with the 
larger residential developments. The sub- 
urban shopping blocks constructed in 
Montgomery County during the 1920s 
were often disguised as townhouse street- 
scapes, reflecting the segmented facades 
of earlier commercial developments and 
following the revival styles then popular 
for residential architecture. The Mont- 
gomery Hills Shopping Center, on 
Georgia Avenue north of Silver Spring, 
built during the 1920s and masquerading 
as a row of English Tudor townhouses, 
typified earlier designs. 

The Silver Spring Shopping Center, 
however, eschewed the traditional ap- 
proach for a thoroughly modern style. 
The building composed an interesting 
blend between the earlier Art Deco style 
—frankly decorative, modish and expen- 
sive, relying heavily on custom handi- 
craft— and the later Streamline Mod- 
erne, stripped of exuberant ornamenta- 
tion and incorporating ready-made 
modern synthetics in its design. In form, 
the shopping center moved in a sweeping 
arc from Georgia Avenue to Colesville 
Road, its motion accentuated by rounded 
corners and continued by a banded alu- 
minum canopy — painted in red, white 
and blue stripes—running the full length 
of the main facade. Emphasizing the hori- 
zontal movement as well were dark bands 

of glazed brick, alternating with the pre- 
dominant blond bricks, along the upper 
courses of the parapet. For decorative re- 
lief, bands of red vitrolite, an opaque 
glass manufactured by the company of 
the same name, were set into the brick 
above the store windows fronting on 
Georgia Avenue. 

Easily adapted to mass duplication, the 
Streamline Moderne style—from which 
Eberson's shopping center took most of its 
design cues—was thought to be symbolic 
of the dynamic industrial and technolog- 
ical twentieth century, of speed and ma- 
chines, fast cars, trains and steamships.6 

Sleek mechanical curves appeared every- 
where in the designs; the allusions to the 
nautical designs of the streamlined 
luxury liners of the period are apparent 
in Eberson's design for the complex, par- 
ticularly in the marquee mast, dark-brick 
portholes and rounded stern of the Silver 
Theater which anchors the northeast 
corner of the shopping center. 

Such commercial architectural designs 
of the 1930s were outgrowths of design in 
other fields. Ironically, it was the eco- 
nomic depression beginning in 1929 that 
gave architects like Eberson their 
greatest opportunities at progressive 
store design. As long as architectural 
style was a product, a commodity, there 
was little reason to change it. However, 
in the early 1930s, as business declined 
in all fields, a few concerned but forward- 
thinking firms began to visualize how the 
restyling of their products might result 
both in eye-appeal and increased sales. 
The result was what is commonly called 
"streamlining." 

The great majority of product designs 
in the "streamlined decade" of the 1930s 
cannot be considered serious attempts at 
improved functional design; many of the 
"styling jobs" were either merely the use 
of new color schemes—paint it pink in- 
stead of white—or simple reductions of 
surface contours—with its concomitant 
decrease in manufacturing costs. That 
the public readily accepted the changes 
perhaps encouraged other businesses to 
follow the early efforts. 

Everything from automobiles and 
railway cars to kitchen equipment and 
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bathroom fixtures underwent stylistic 
changes. It was then only natural that 
both businessmen and the buying public 
would expect the stores and shopping 
centers carrying these "new style" items 
to be as inviting, interesting and "up-to- 
date" as the products on the shelf. French 
chateaux, Georgian brick rowhouses, or 
English Tudor villages were no longer 
appropriate settings for modern mer- 
chandising; consequently most store- 
owners in the 1930s turned to the 
Streamline Moderne when constructing 
their new places of business.7 

Too, economic considerations encour- 
aged the ready acceptance of the "stream- 
lined look" for businesses of the 1930s. 
The Depression forced fledgling store- 
owners and large-scale commercial de- 
velopers to fight for their existence, to 
count every penny spent on construction 
and equipment. Architects as well devel- 
oped deeper commitments to economical 
buildings and low-cost construction, uti- 
lizing widely available materials and 
methods. There was no room left for the 
pretentious emporiums of easy, earlier 
times, overly decorative and often suf- 
fused with costly custom-made ornamen- 

tation. The Moderne style, drastically 
stripped of surface decoration and hap- 
pily employing ready-made, mass pro- 
duced architectural elements, thus be- 
came the perfect style for cost-conscious 
clients and the style for commercial com- 
missions in the 1930s, in particular office 
buildings, shopping centers and movie 
theaters; Eberson's Silver Spring center 
was the first notable appearance of the 
style in its commercial form in Mont- 
gomery County. 

An even greater force eventually di- 
rected the design of the Silver Spring 
Shopping Center. After 1910, the domi- 
nance of the automobile in American life 
had grown steadily, and yet, in the 1930s, 
many stores were still planned without a 
recognition of the importance of parking 
to a store's success. Older stores along 
Georgia Avenue in Silver Spring, molded 
to fit the requirements of the narrow rect- 
angular lots on which they were sited, 
had been turned out in long strips with 
total site coverage, leaving little accom- 
modations for parking. Gradually, the 
shopkeepers began to lose trade because 
of the parking incommodity encountered 
by the new automobile-oriented cus- 

FlGURE 1. John Eberson's Silver Spring Shopping Center, shortly after its opening in 1938. (M-NCPPC) 
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tomer. The architect Eberson, however, 
recognized the importance of easy car ac- 
cess to the vitality of a modern commer- 
cial facility, and his new shopping center 
was specifically designed with the auto- 
mobile in mind.8 

When completed in 1938, the Silver 
Spring Shopping Center, encompassing 
nineteen stores, a Warner Brothers' the- 
ater and a gasoline station, was the 
county's first "modern" full-service auto- 
mobile-oriented shopping center. Parking 
areas were provided both in the deep-set 
front and at the rear of the complex. Con- 
necting the two areas was an underpass 
beneath the center, both for automobiles 
and pedestrians, eliminating the need for 
cars and people to "go around the block 
again." Many of the stores had double en- 
trances and could be approached from 
both the front and rear parking areas. 
The arrangement allowed delivery trucks 
to replenish the stores with a minimum 
of disturbance to customer parking and to 
traffic along the major thoroughfares. 

The Silver Spring Shopping Center was 

an immediate success. Reports from na- 
tional chain stores interested in occu- 
pying the center described it as "the most 
comprehensive and complete of its kind 
in the Eastern States."9 At its opening, 
the Washington Post noted the center to 
be "representative of the best ideas in 
modern business center development, ar- 
ranged to fit in with the modern scheme 
of living, where nothing is haphazard, 
and compact, time-saving, energy-saving 
ideas are the popular ones."10 The facility 
announced a new era in shopping center 
design in Montgomery County, setting a 
standard for later developers. 

The material and manpower shortages 
of World War II, however, brought a tem- 
porary halt to the commercial expansion 
of Silver Spring, dissipating any imme- 
diate design impact Eberson's shopping 
center could have had on subsequent de- 
velopments. In fact, throughout the 
county, no significant additions to shop- 
ping facilities appeared during the war 
years. As a result, county shoppers in the 
1940s still largely depended on stores 

FIGURE 2. A detail of the Silver Spring Shopping Center, ca. 1940, with the banded stern of the Silver 
Theater rising behind. (M-NCPPC) 
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within the District of Columbia, despite 
the presence of the hugely-successful 
Silver Spring Shopping Center. With 
eleven percent of the population of the 
Washington metropolitan area, Mont- 
gomery County had only 5 percent of the 
region's department and general mer- 
chandise retail sales, 7.4 percent of food 
sales, 8.8 percent of gasoline sales, and 12 
percent of new and used car sales.11 The 
pattern was apparent to any businessmen 
looking to the county as a likely location 
for operations: residents bought food, cars 
and gasoline close to home, but relied on 
the city for clothing, furniture, jewelry 
and department store purchases. Conse- 
quently, in the late 1940s, these were the 
types of stores that in rapid succession 
began crowding the commercial districts 
of suburban Montgomery County, and in 
particular Silver Spring. 

The postwar years became one of the 
greatest store building periods in the 
county's history, as it was throughout the 
nation. The boom resulted from two 
simple commercial compulsions; the re- 
lease, after a long withholding, of a flood 
of goods to a rich and hungry market; and 
the need to compensate for the curtail- 
ment of new construction by the wartime 
building blackout. 

Suburban stores sprang up in great va- 
riety throughout Montgomery County in 
the late 1940s and early 1950s. The ma- 
jority, primarily constructed by small- 
scale real estate investment developers, 
found initial success from their advanta- 
geous location close to suburban popula- 
tion centers, offering customers a wel- 
come alternative to the dilemma of the 
older downtown shopping areas, with 
their congested traffic and inadequate 
parking facilities. Yet concurrent with 
the proliferation of the small, indepen- 
dent store was the growing trend of 
urban store "decentralization." Many of 
the city-bound department stores began 
establishing branches in Montgomery 
County to meet the competition of these 
new outlying commercial strips and shop- 
ping centers. The sites selected were often 
part of or close to "proven" locations, such 
as Silver Spring, and a number of the 
downtown stores built branches in or 

near the existing retail districts. Many of 
these once-isolated branches, however, 
soon found themselves part of larger strip 
real estate promotions, created by devel- 
opers anxious to capitalize on the draw of 
a major department store in their midst. 
Eventually, they suffered the same draw- 
backs of the downtown areas of the cen- 
tral city from which they initially es- 
caped. 

The Hecht Company began the parade 
of large department stores to Silver 
Spring—and to Montgomery County— 
opening its new store behind the Silver 
Spring Shopping Center in November of 
1947. "Our original plans were com- 
pounded of business judgement and a 
gamble," Charles Dulcan, vice-president 
and general manager of the Hecht Com- 
pany, said in 1949. "But it also took 
courage to bring the full facilities of a 
streamlined, air-conditioned, multi-mil- 
lion dollar department store to a residen- 
tial area that was only just beginning to 

FIGURE 3. The Hecht Company's "streamlined" 
Silver Spring branch of 1947, as it appears today. 
(The author) 
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feel its oats."12 Dulcan paid tribute to 
W. A. Julian and Sam Eig, whom he 
noted as pioneer developers of the Silver 
Spring Shopping Center on Georgia Av- 
enue; Eig had purchased the center from 
the original developers in 1944. "Gentle- 
men like Mr. Julian and Mr. Eig, the 
Silver Spring Board of Trade, the County 
Commissioners, and the Park and Plan- 
ning Commission were all instrumental 
in paving the way for modern shopping 
facilities in the Silver Spring business 
community," Dulcan said.13 

The new Hecht Company building, de- 
signed by Abbott, Merkt and Company of 
New York City, specialists in department 
store design, incorporated many of the 
"modern" department store features 
springing from technological improve- 
ments developed at the turn-of-the-cen- 
tury, later refined, and put into use in de- 
partment stores across America in the 

1930s and 1940s. Steel and concrete al- 
lowed the creation of new structural 
systems; elevators and escalators made 
vertical selling possible; and air-condi- 
tioning and modern lighting methods 
eliminated the variables of climate and 
daylight, enabling store designers to plan 
windowless sales floors. The Hecht Com- 
pany designers, well-versed in these tech- 
nological improvements, readily em- 
ployed them in the design of the Silver 
Spring store.14 

By 1950, the Silver Spring Shopping 
Center and the Hecht Company had been 
joined by Jellefs, Hahn's Shoes, Sears, 
Roebuck and Company, J. C. Penney's, 
H. L. Green and Company, and numerous 
other specialty shops, drug stores, banks 
and restaurants, all filling newly con- 
structed "streamlined" buildings fronting 
Colesville Road and Georgia Avenue.15 

The postwar rush to become part of the 

FIGURE 4. The intersection of Georgia Avenue and Colesville Road, Silver Spring, filling in ca. 1950. (M- 
NCPPC) 
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commercial boom was so great that, by 
1950, Silver Spring had become, ex- 
cepting only Baltimore, the largest busi- 
ness community in Maryland.16 

The design and planning standards set 
by Eberson's shopping center of 1938, 
however, were for the most part not du- 
plicated by those who followed. Architec- 
turally, whereas Eberson had brought 
new materials and new styles together 
into an expressive, unified design, the 
bulk of the late 1940s-early 1950s com- 
mercial buildings in Silver Spring—as 
throughout the county—had run to repe- 
tition of a very limited vocabulary: blank 
limestone fronts, blond brick rear walls, 
superficially attached signage. In many 
respects, much of the commercial designs 
of the period was no more architecture 
than the designing of refrigerators or au- 
tomobiles; perhaps a more appropriate 
word, popular at the time in Detroit, 
would be "styling." Inheriting the pre- 
war legacy of depression-era shopkeepers, 
the majority of these buildings were in- 
tended to be simply "machines for 
selling." And, under the pressure of 
growing competition from surrounding 
establishments, many post-war store ar- 
chitects began to think even less about 
design in functional or aesthetic terms 
and more about design as solely in the 
service of merchandising. Building fa- 
cades became merely poster boards, ex- 
pressionless walls with signs and slogans 
mounted, posted, and hung in some 
manner attracting more attention than 
their neighbors. Periodic face-liftings 
began to be provided for in the buildings' 
designs as part of the continuous expense 
of doing business. Where a previous shop 
had failed, a new one, backed by a more 
aggressive merchandising design, 
brighter neon lights and louder color 
panels, might succeed in the same store. 
The crescendo of chrome and neon along 
the streets of Silver Spring soon broke 
into cacophony.17 

"Streamlined" commercial buildings in 
Montgomery County tended on the whole 
to overlook the functional differences of 
their intended occupants. A shoe store, a 
pharmacy, a jeweler's shop, and a real es- 
tate office became architecturally indis- 

tinguishable. In many instances, stores 
were simply stuffed into low-ceilinged 
cubby holes on the first floors of essen- 
tially block-long office buildings, giving 
much commercial design of the period a 
superficial, interchangeable character, 
with little architectural expression above 
a base level. 

As well, the sensitivity with which 
Eberson and the 1938 Silver Spring 
Shopping Center approached the impor- 
tant relationship among the automobile, 
the customer, and the shopping facility 
was not repeated by the later Silver 
Spring developers; many could not repro- 
duce the parking facilities, owing largely 
to the limited lot sizes available to subse- 
quent developers. When a company such 
as J. C. Penney's, which opened along 
Colesville Road in 1950, was fortunate 
enough to acquire a lot of sufficient size 
to accommodate both a building and 
parking facilities, the eventual arrange- 
ment of a sidewalk-oriented front facade 
with a parking lot to the rear of the store 
only tended to isolate their clientele from 
the neighboring shops. The location of 
Penney's in the middle of a main shop- 
ping block should have served as a 
magnet to pedestrians approaching from 
either corner, luring them past the 
street-side display windows of the 
smaller specialty shops on their way to 
the popular department store. Instead, 
customers simply drove in, parked be- 
hind, did their shopping and then left. 

The Silver Spring Board of Trade and 
the Montgomery County Commissioners 
realized early on the need for adequate, 
off-street parking lots to benefit all of the 
emerging businesses in the Silver Spring 
district, and by 1949 had made what were 
expected to be sufficient accommodations 
by establishing "free parking" and then 
metered lots.18 But soon even these 
proved to be inadequate. Too little 
parking—and too much traffic—quickly 
created a pedestrian-hostile environment 
detrimental to the continued vitality of 
the commercial district; boom-town 
Silver Spring reproduced, to a different 
degree, the problems of the older "down- 
town" ribbon developments.19 

Concurrently, suburban residential 
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centers in the county began shifting, 
moving northward, away from their 
former Silver Spring core. With the shift 
came the potential of developing on large, 
unencumbered parcels of shopping com- 
plexes that could build upon the site-plan 
sensibilities of Eberson's Silver Spring 
Shopping Center; these new facilities 
eventually proved to be the downfall of 
the Silver Spring commercial district. 

It was the suburban shopping center, 
varying from small clusters of a few con- 
venience-goods stores to the larger neigh- 
borhood and regional centers, which 
would come to dominate the post-war 
commercial scene in Montgomery County 
and which would eventually eclipse the 
older pattern of urban-suburban down- 
county ribbon developments. The Wood- 
moor Shopping Center at Four Corners, 
in operation by 1949, and the Wheaton 
Shopping Center, constructed in sections 
along Georgia Avenue between 1950 and 
1951—respectively two miles and three 
miles from the Colesville-Georgia inter- 
section forming the core of the Silver 
Spring commercial district—typified the 
dozens of neighborhood centers con- 
structed throughout Montgomery County 
at the same time the Silver Spring dis- 
trict was being filled in by strip develop- 
ments. Each illustrated a continuation of 
the design approach inaugurated by the 
1938 Silver Spring Shopping Center; 
each was acutely aware of the automo- 
bile's role in suburban shopping, com- 
bining adequate parking facilities, double 
store access, and pedestrian walkways 
from front to rear in their design. And 
each represented not only the geograph- 
ical shift of suburbia, but its beginning 
fractionization into new patterns of "sub- 
urban villages" characterized by large- 
scale residential developments centered 
around the neighborhood shopping com- 
plex.20 

As well epitomizing the new pattern of 
postwar suburban shopping center design 
in Montgomery County was the Wood- 
ward and Lothrop store at Friendship 
Heights. Following the trend of down- 
town department store decentralization, 
Woodie's broke ground in 1949 for its 
first large suburban outlet. Although it 

too was but a single outlying store, its ar- 
chitects, Starett and Van Vleck, em- 
ployed many of the principles of the 
modern shopping center propounded by 
Eberson and later adopted by the multi- 
unit complexes. The original six-acre site, 
located at the intersection of three busy 
avenues, provided parking for 500 cars; 
three additional acres to the west were 
subsequently purchased to accommodate 
400 more cars. The parking spaces were 
arranged to radiate from the building to 
lessen walking distances. Entrances at 
the rear basement level and on the 
street-level first floor provided varied pe- 
destrian access. Loading facilities were 
completely separated from other areas so 
as not to disrupt customer traffic. Archi- 
tecturally, the building blended tradi- 
tional detailing with a modern design. 
Once in operation, the complex was re- 
peatedly cited in the Architectural Record 
as embodying "the principles of the ideal 
shopping center."21 

From these beginnings came the devel- 
opment of vast regional shopping centers, 
combining major retail outlets with 
dozens of small concerns and parking fa- 
cilities for thousands of cars, which would 
characterize Montgomery County shop- 
ping from the late 1950s to today. Con- 
struction of Wheaton Plaza was begun in 
1954, although development plans had 
been years in the making. Development 
was to be incremental, with the first 
stage calling for two major department 
stores, a drive-in restaurant, movie the- 
aters, and numerous small specialty 
shops, all serviced by a four thousand-car 
parking lot. The largest department store 
ever opened by Montgomery Ward up to 
that time was among the fifty stores 
nearing completion in the eighty acre 
shopping center in 1959. A Giant Food 
Store and a Hot Shoppe restaurant went 
into operation early in 1959, but the 
major components of Wheaton Plaza, in- 
cluding a Woodward and Lothrop and 
Montgomery Ward, would not open until 
the following year. By 1963, Wheaton 
Plaza had become the fourth largest- 
grossing shopping center in the United 
States, enjoying retail sales of well over 
$50 million a year.22 
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FIGURE 5. Woodward and Lothrop advertised the opening of the new store at Friendship Heights in 1949 
by issuing postcards of its ample parking facilities. (Montgomery County Historical Society) 

Planning for Montgomery Mall in Be- 
thesda was begun in 1956 by May Stores 
Shopping Center, Inc., and Strouse, 
Greenberg and Company, both of Phila- 
delphia, although actual construction on 
the site did not start until 1965. When 
completed in 1968, the $20 million shop- 
ping complex, with fifty-one stores and 
three banking institutions occupying a 
fifty-five acre tract, was the largest shop- 
ping center in the Washington area, and 
the first of its now-ubiquitous enclosed 
all-weather malls.23 

What justified the development of 
these large shopping complexes was the 
tremendous growth of new suburban 
housing developments—and its atten- 
dant rise in population—occurring in 
Montgomery County in the 1950s and 
1960s; during the period, the number of 
county residents exploded from 164,401 
in 1950 to over 453,000 by 1966.24 In con- 
trast, the growth of the older commercial 
centers had come to a halt, due in large 
part to the construction of facilities closer 
to the new "middle suburbia." There 

broad sites for shopping centers conve- 
niently situated to the areas of expanding 
population could be acquired at a fraction 
of the cost of land adjacent to existing 
commercial centers. As a result, older 
shopping areas in the county struggled to 
attract new major retailers, finding it 
more and more difficult to expand their 
aging facilities. In areas such as Silver 
Spring, where population growth had 
reached its limits long ago, retail sales as 
well had not only leveled off but were into 
irreversible decline. By 1965, the three 
major commercial centers that had expe- 
rienced extraordinary growth in the 
postwar years accounted for only 33.6 
percent of the total retail sales in the 
county, with Silver Spring comprising 
three-eighths of that third, Rockville an- 
other three-eighths, and Wheaton, 
largely on the strength of the Plaza, the 
remaining two-eighths.25 

The success of the outlying shopping 
centers forced the older commercial dis- 
tricts to carve out new roles for them- 
selves. Rising office towers of banking, fi- 
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nancial and professional services soon be- 
came interspersed among the remaining 
specialty shops. Silver Spring's share of 
the retail market would drop steadily in 
the following years as the newer sub- 
urban malls and regional shopping 
centers continued to grow at its expense. 
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Tobacco and Slaves: The Development of   major consequences of the structural changes 
Southern Cultures in the Chesapeake, 
1680-1800. By Allan Kulikoff. {Chapel Hill 
and London: University of North Carolina 
Press, 1986). xvii, 449 pp. Acknowledge- 
ments, introduction, index, tables, figures, 
and maps. $30.00. 

Allan Kulikoff sees his massive examina- 
tion of the economic, demographic, and polit- 
ical transformation of the Chesapeake region 
from 1680 to 1800 as a synthesis and exten- 
sion of the writings of two groups of historians 
of the region. One group stresses social, eco- 
nomic, and demographic developments in the 
seventeenth century; the other political and 
cultural developments in the eighteenth cen- 
tury. Believing that "both groups of historians 
tend to slight the significance of the half-cen- 
tury before the Revolution," Kulikoff insists 
that the roots of race, class, and family rela- 
tions characteristic of the antebellum South 
"first developed in the Chesapeake region be- 
tween 1720 and 1770." 

A historical materialist, the author rests his 
study upon an empirical base of data assidu- 
ously culled from such sources as probate in- 
ventories and wills, customs records, vital reg- 
isters, genealogies, tax lists, collections of 
tithables, censuses, and deeds. This data is 
augmented by a wide range of narrative 
sources. Realizing that his data might not 
always be representative, the author conveys 
the size of the samples, the assumptions un- 
derlying the calculations, and supplies 
missing data through estimation. 

Part I, "The Political Economy of Tobacco," 
surveys the social structure of the region in 
the seventeenth century, describes economic 
and demographic changes between 1680 and 
1750, and demonstrates that "new class rela- 
tions" had crystallized by the 1750s. Three 
large and important structural changes re- 
ceive special emphasis: declining opportunity 
for whites, the beginnings of natural increase 
for whites and blacks, and the rise of chattel 
slavery. When discussing social class, the au- 
thor is mainly concerned with how and when 
"social classes form, disappear, and re-form as 
the processes of production change." The two 
linked tasks of class formation, according to 
Kulikoff, were making the slaves efficient 
workers and devising a ruling class ideology. 
The remainder of the book elucidates six 
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laid out in Part I. Part II, "White Society," ex- 
amines replacement of the relatively egali- 
tarian families of the earliest settlers by patri- 
archal ones, replacement of neighborhoods by 
kin groups as the primary focus of social inter- 
action, and the emergence of two distinct, but 
reciprocally linked white supremacist classes 
—the gentry and the yeoman. Part III, "Black 
Society," traces the development of black com- 
munities, often spanning more than one plan- 
tation; the slaves' creation of extended fami- 
lies and kinship networks; and the learning of 
a new racial etiquette by slaves and masters 
alike. 

In Part II we learn that "the demographic 
conditions that prevented the development of 
patriarchal family government disappeared at 
the end of the seventeenth century." Owners 
of land and slaves used their wealth as le- 
verage over their children. Children who dis- 
obeyed parental authority, for example, 
"might find themselves cut out of the parental 
estate." Public and private spheres were 
largely segregated by gender from the start, 
and this increased during the second half of 
the eighteenth century. Men competed in 
"four fields of honor:" the woods (hunting wild 
game), the racetrack, the tavern, and the gen- 
eral store. The hallmark of these exclusively 
male gatherings was as much individualistic 
competition among males as it was the con- 
version of male solidarity into daily coopera- 
tion. 

Turning to kinship, Kulikoff argues that 
"white families ultimately made kinship, 
rather than gender or church membership, the 
basis of social intercourse." Extremely high 
rates of cousin marriages apparently resulted 
from deliberate effort "to keep family property 
within the kinship group." With the decline of 
immigration and the increase of life expec- 
tancy in the early eighteenth century, "con- 
centration of kindred in neighborhoods rose 
sharply." In Chapter 7, "The Rise of the Ches- 
apeake Gentry," Kulikoff argues that the 
aforementioned structural changes permitted 
the gentry to consolidate its power during the 
late 1700s and early 1800s. Slaves freed gen- 
tlemen from daily work and enabled them to 
seek political leadership more actively. Full 
implementation of a hierarchical vision of so- 
ciety was inhibited by two political threats to 
the hegemony of the gentry: rejection by Bap- 
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tists and Presbyterians of gentry religion, cul- 
ture, and patronage in the 1760s and 1770s 
and the American Revolution itself. The au- 
thority of "gentlemen" over "yeomanry" was 
sustained through reciprocal but hierarchi- 
cally structured exchanges at courthouse and 
church. By the 1750s and 1760s gentlemen 
had placed some social distance between 
themselves and yeomen through different 
physical standards of living, greater participa- 
tion in the literate culture, and through the 
formation of exclusive social clubs. 

In Part III, "Black Society," Kulikoff ex- 
plores the beginnings of Afro-American 
family life, and the etiquette of race relations. 
One of the book's major contributions is the 
identification of three stages in the develop- 
ment of Chesapeake black society. Between 
1650 and 1690 blacks constituted only a small 
part of the total population (three per cent in 
1650 and fifteen per cent in 1690). During 
that period most blacks came to the region via 
the West Indies, and most of them assimilated 
white norms. The second period, 1690-1740, 
was characterized by heavy importation of 
blacks (most now coming directly from 
Africa), small plantation size, and social con- 
flicts among blacks. During the third period, 
1740-1790, slave imports declined and even- 
tually ceased, plantation size increased, 
blacks grew in proportion to the white popula- 
tion, earlier African ethnic divisions disap- 
peared, and native blacks formed relatively 
settled communities. How readily slaves could 
form their own culture "depended upon both 
the patterns of forced African immigration to 
the Americas and the economic and demo- 
graphic environment that awaited new 
slaves." For Kulikoff the central element in 
the pattern of black forced immigration was 
the sheer diversity of religious beliefs, kinship 
practices, and forms of social organization 
among the Africans. Yet, by his own state- 
ments, the African origins of slaves during 
peak periods of importation into the Chesa- 
peake were significantly concentrated in 
Bight of Biafra ports and those peoples shared 
many cultural and environmental traits in- 
cluding "important beliefs about the nature of 
kinship." The giving of child-rearing responsi- 
bilities to kindred outside the immediate 
family and the use of extensive kinship net- 
works may have been much more than mere 
adaptations to the constraints of slavery (al- 
though they were also that). To suggest that 
the emergence of extensive kinship networks 
may have been a combination of pre-American 
patterns (operating without reference to en- 
slavement) and black creativity within the 
confines of North American bondage does not, 

I think, diminish the force of Afro-American 
creativity that Kulikoff stresses. 

Chapter 10, "Slavery and Segregation," 
suggests that the roots of racial segregation 
run much deeper than we had supposed. As 
slave importation ended and the American- 
born black population began to reproduce it- 
self after the 1740s, planters "possessed both 
the means of production (land and slaves) and 
the means of reproduction of the means of pro- 
duction." This change was accompanied by an 
increasing division of labor among slaves (and 
whites) between the 1750s and 1770s. 

The political crisis of the Revolutionary era 
contributed two problems directly related to 
the slaves. First was the question of slave dis- 
loyalty during the conflict and second was the 
"stream of manumissions in the 1780s." These 
problems gave new life and a sharper edge to 
racialism, unleashing "a torrent of racist 
thought." More than ever before dark skin 
color became both badge and proof of the 
slaves' innate inferiority. Gentry and yeomen 
alike convinced themselves that "strict sepa- 
ration of the races by legal conditions and so- 
cial rule seemed essential to maintain order in 
a good society." 

Allan Kulikoff s strengths are his ability to 
keep demographic and economic realities con- 
stantly before his readers and to persuade us 
of the explanatory value of such statistics as 
sex ratios, plantation size, and population 
density in understanding the major social and 
political developments in the eighteenth cen- 
tury Chesapeake region. One discomfort is the 
frequent recourse to examples from Prince 
George's County, Maryland, where the author 
did his most vigorous digging in original 
sources, and the heavy reliance on secondary 
analysis of data collected by others for the rest 
of the Chesapeake region. Tobacco and Slaves, 
replete with forty-five tables, thirty-two 
figures, eighteen maps, and enumerable cal- 
culations, is a provocative blend of synthesis 
and original research that will repay the 
reader's effort manyfold. 

ROBERT L. HALL 

University of Maryland Baltimore County 

Painting in the South: 1564-1980. David S. 
Bundy, compiler. (Richmond: Virginia Mu- 
seum, 1983. Pp. xviii, 362.) The Art of the 
Old South: Painting, Sculpture, Architec- 
ture and the Products of Craftsmen, 
1560-1860. By Jessie Poesch. (New York: 
Alfred A. Knopf, 1983). Pp. xii, 384. $50.00. 

Although they overlap to a limited extent, 
these are very different books. They differ in 
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arrangement and in the audience each seeks 
to address. For that reason, one is not "better" 
than the other; each is merely different and 
should be considered on its own merit. 

Painting in the South is a catalog of the ex- 
hibition of the same name that originated in 
the Virginia Museum and then traveled to 
Birmingham, Alabama, New York City, 
Jackson, Mississippi, Louisville, and New Or- 
leans. As students in the newly-emergent field 
of material studies know, exhibit catalogs 
are invaluable sources for detailed informa- 
tion about makers and their products not im- 
mediately available elsewhere. This one re- 
stricts itself to painting and does not include 
Baltimore, Annapolis, or Washington, D.C. as 
part of the "the South" (p. xiv). Nevertheless 
(and rather curiously), painters who worked 
in Maryland are included in the volume. An 
excellent index eases access to them. 

The text is divided into five sections or 
chapters. Each has its own endnotes and 
is preceded by an "Introduction." The chap- 
ters vary in quality and quantity. Carolyn 
Weekley covers 226 years ("The Early Years, 
1564-1790") in forty pages. It is competent 
and factual though unevenly written. Linda 
Simmons discusses "The Emerging Nation, 
1790 to 1830" next, a forty year period in 
thirty pages. Unlike Weekley, Simmons 
breaks her narrative into subsections of 
painter type and subject, a format that clar- 
ifies points of classification and comparison 
for the reader; it is very good. Jessie Poesch's 
"Growth and Development of the Old South, 
1830 to 1900" follows. Its coverage of these 
seventy momentous years fills just thirty 
pages and is a straight-forward narrative, like 
Weekley's, and readers familiar with Pro- 
fessor Poesch's work will admire its condensa- 
tion and economy of language. Rick Stewart's 
piece, "Toward a New South: The Regionalist 
Approach, 1900-1950," is confused and ram- 
bling. It wants conceptualization and reorga- 
nization along the lines of the data presented. 
Donald Kuspit's "The Post-War Period, 1950 
to 1980: A Critic's View" is more frank and 
direct with the reader. While one may dis- 
agree with his interpretation(s), for example, 
his forthright subjectivity rivets the reader's 
attention to contemporary issues such as the 
degree of regionalism and modernism, provin- 
ciality and cosmopolitanism in Southern 
painting. I found Kuspit's piece the most pro- 
vocative precisely because he discusses cur- 
rent issues in traditional forms—which is, in 
itself, a good Southern, if not American, char- 
acteristic. 

Following the catalog is an excellent bibli- 

ography of general works by or about the indi- 
vidual artists. The illustrations, notes and in- 
formation are excellent. 

The Art of the Old South is a different kind 
of book. It is a magnificent historical narra- 
tive whose text, illustrations, notes, bibliog- 
raphy, and index are all superb. Taken as a 
whole, it is itself a work of art. Anyone inter- 
ested in the subject must begin with this book 
as a point of departure. Written for the 
layman and specialist alike, it provides new 
information and insights on the relationship 
between history and Southern arts. 

A professor of art history at Tulane Univer- 
sity, Poesch successfully presents the most re- 
cent research on the topic, interrelates the in- 
formation across a broad spectrum of artistic 
endeavors, and interweaves all within the 
fabric of Southern history. The reader comes 
away with a feeling for Southern cultural life 
as both distinctive and part of the larger 
American experience. 

First of all, this is a history of the art of the 
Old South. It has just four chapters or "parts:" 
"Beginnings" from 1560 to 1735; "An Estab- 
lished Society" from 1735 to 1788; "A New 
Nation" from 1788 to 1825; and "The Sense of 
Separation" from 1825 to 1860. To her great 
credit, Poesch merely uses this periodization 
as a backdrop in discussing the evolution of 
the arts. As she states in her prefatory re- 
marks about "The Sense of Separation:" "Tu- 
multous as some of these [political] events 
were, they were background and setting for, 
rather than formative influences on, the vi- 
sual arts" (p. 213). That is the topic sentence 
of a paragraph. She does not try to fool or slip 
by her readers. 

Because of her approach, we discover an in- 
creasing interconnectedness in Southern cul- 
ture as we move through time. That is, there 
was greater cultural uniformity in the South 
of the 1850s than there was in the region of 
the 1790s. Actually, historians would expect 
this, particularly in the period after the 1820s 
when the roots of "Southern" nationalism 
grew thicker and faster. If anything, subre- 
gional variations or adaptations perhaps could 
have played an increasingly larger theme in 
Poesch's narrative. But that is another book. 

GARY L. BROWNE 
UMBC 

Before the Bridge: Reminiscences. By Phillip 
J. Wingate (Centreville, Md.: Tidewater 
Publishers, 1985). 204 pp. $14.95. 

Much of the Eastern Shore life described in 
Phillip Wingate's book. Before the Bridge, has 
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disappeared. The Chesapeake Bay bridge, 
which first carried traffic in 1952, has been a 
great facilitator of the changes that have 
taken place in Maryland's way of living since 
the end of World War II. 

When Wingate was a boy, in the decades of 
the twenties and thirties, the people of the 
Eastern Shore lived out their lives in happy 
distance from the world beyond the peninsula. 
Theirs was essentially a society that their En- 
glish ancestors had established, and it was a 
society that did not readily accept those from 
elsewhere — unless (and that sometimes 
grudgingly) they were affluent—without a 
substantial trial period. To travel away, one 
took the train to Wilmington to the Pennsyl- 
vania's main line, or drove around the head of 
the bay, or used one of a fair number of river 
boat (and later ferry) connections to Baltimore 
or Annapolis. The bridge changed all that. 
Population growth in Maryland since 1950 
has been the real culprit, but the bridge 
moved the greater numbers more quickly onto 
the Shore. Wingate's childhood world is a 
thing of the past. 

Nevertheless, the Eastern Shore is still a 
land of marshes and rivers, forests and fields, 
small towns and working farms geographi- 
cally, economically, and socially tied to the 
tidal bay and its culture. It is, in the words of 
National Beer's advertising, the "land of 
pleasant living." How many suburbanites in 
the metropolitan region of Baltimore and 
Washington openly or covertly yearn for the 
more relaxed pace of Eastern Shore living? A 
fair number, if automobile traffic is any indi- 
cator, and the marshes and fields of Kent Is- 
land (the area nearest to the bridge) are 
giving up their rural charm to the sprawl of 
housing developments and shopping centers. 

Wingate's book gives the harassed urban 
dweller an evening of nostalgic reverie. It is 
essentially a memoir, beginning with his boy- 
hood days in the marshes and woods of Dor- 
chester County. Like his fellow Washington 
College graduate, Gilbert Bryon, Wingate 
writes with unconcealed love for a boyhood 
near the water, of closeness to the birds and 
animals of the area. Unsurprisingly he liked 
biology, though chemistry later became his 
life's work. The reminiscences cover Wingate's 
life up to his earning of a doctorate in chem- 
istry at the University of Maryland in College 
Park in 1942. They are the story of his forma- 
tive years with particular emphasis on the in- 
dividual men and women who most influenced 
his intellectual development and the forma- 
tion of his character. 

Washington  College,  where  Wingate 

enrolled after finishing high school at Crapo 
in Dorchester, figures prominently in this 
book. It is a small college that concentrates on 
the liberal arts, and, though venerable in 
terms of American history, is not widely 
known. Wingate lavishes a lot of affection on 
it, as might anyone who attended such a small 
college with a relatively homogeneous group 
of students. His college experiences were not 
extraordinary, but they impressed themselves 
in his memory with indelibility and clarity. 
Their charm lies to no small extent in the fact 
that Phillip Wingate is a good story teller. 

Before the Bridge may well be most in- 
triguing to those readers over fifty who have a 
knowledge of Maryland in the most recent 
past. Especially those familiar with Wash- 
ington College, the University of Maryland, 
and collegiate athletics will enjoy the light- 
hearted observations that characterize this 
book. But to the extent that boyhood fun and 
learning and youthful and young adult experi- 
ences in college and the working world are 
universal in their appeal, Wingate's stories 
will captivate a broad readership. 

As a farm boy he was unable to resist the 
allure of Cambridge on Saturday nights. As a 
young man, Baltimore—the "Baghdad of the 
Chesapeake"—held a similar fascination for 
him. Wingate was an athlete and his love of 
sports shines through in stories of lacrosse, 
baseball, and basketball. He was also a writer, 
beginning in college and—almost predictably 
—under the spell of H. L. Mencken. What 
stands out most vividly are his sketches of 
men whom he admires: Dr. E. E. Reed, a 
Johns Hopkins chemist; Dr. Reginald Truitt, 
renowned Chesapeake Bay biologist; "Curley" 
Byrd, president of the University of Maryland; 
and Dr. Nathan Drake, professor of chemistry 
at College Park. These vignettes are enter- 
taining and instructive. Throughout, Wingate 
maintains the wide-eyed fascination of his 
youth. 

Phillip Wingate's style is uncomplicated 
and unaffected, as befits an Eastern Shore- 
man. It reflects an inner contentment at home 
with the Chesapeake country. Serious stu- 
dents of history can add to their under- 
standing of the bay area in the three decades 
before World War II, and the casual reader 
will gain an evening of delightful reading. 
One suspects that this is what Wingate had in 
mind. 

W. JACKSON STENGER 
Assistant to the President, 

University of Maryland 
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Searching for a Viable Alternative: The Mace- 
donian Cooperative Community, 1937-58. 
By W. Edward Orser. (New York: Burt 
Franklin & Company, 1981). Pp. ix, 272. Il- 
lustrations, index. $18.95. 

The Macedonia Cooperative Community in 
Northern Georgia was started in 1937 by 
Morris R. Mitchell, a progressive educator 
with Southern roots, as an experiment in and 
demonstration of the possibilities in com- 
munal living while achieving an economically 
stable livelihood. When the original local 
members moved on to better job opportunities 
in the cities as the country's prosperity re- 
turned, they were replaced by conscientious 
objectors, veterans of World War II Civilian 
Public Service camps. Orser has written be- 
fore of this second group. "Involuntary Com- 
munity: Conscientious Objectors at Patapsco 
State Park During World War 11" (Maryland 
Historical Magazine, 72 [1977]:132-46.) 

In time the prevailing members of the revi- 
talized community felt the need for a reli- 
giously-based structure. So many of them 
joined the Society of Brothers (Bruderhof) 
that Macedonia ceased to exist in 1958. 

While comparatively short-lived, the Mace- 
donia community was important in the his- 
tory of American communal living. In telling 
the story of its goals and gains, but final dis- 
solution, Orser joins a growing number of his- 
torians who augment written records with 
taped reminiscences. The Macedonia Papers 
are found in the Swarthmore College Peace 
Collection and the Morris R. Mitchell Papers 
in the Southern Historical Collection, Univer- 

sity North Carolina, Chapel Hill. They in- 
clude correspondence, formal reports, contem- 
porary magazine and newspaper stories and 
unpublished graduate papers. To this tradi- 
tional documentation Orser adds interviews 
with seventeen people who were part of the 
Macedonia Community — among them 
Mitchell, the founder; Henry Dyer; and Alice 
and Staughton Lynd—in order "to provide 
samples of the rich personal dimension of the 
Macedonia experience." Interview material is 
well integrated into the text and meticulously 
identified. It is used to present differing points 
of view, to clarify undocumented areas, and to 
demonstrate emotional responses—both neg- 
ative and positive. Orser wisely notes the sig- 
nificance of people who refused to be inter- 
viewed. Additionally, several pages of inter- 
view excerpts appears from each of six 
interviews chosen, it appears, mostly for 
flavor, not fact. 

Oral historians increasingly call for some 
minimum ground rules in the use of taped in- 
terviews. Orser never uses the term "oral his- 
tory," but he has gathered telling information 
in this way and relied on it heavily in his at- 
tempt to be faithful to the experiences of the 
Macedonia participants. It would be heart- 
ening to know that he has chosen to donate his 
tape and transcript collection to either one of 
the two places holding the collections men- 
tioned above—and that they are equipped to 
include this form of documentation in their 
archives. 

BETTY MCKEEVER KEY 

Maryland Historical Society 



Robert Davis, Sr.: A Man Who Broke New 
England's Monopoly on Grandparents 

WILLIAM D. PATRICK 

I, .N THE NAME OF GOD AMEN. I ROBERT 
Davis Senr. of Worcester County in the 
Province of Maryland Gent. Being in 
health of Body and Perfectly sound in Wit 
and memory (the Infirmities of old age 
only Excepted) calling to mind the mor- 
tality of my Life and the Uncertainty of 
Time I have in this World do make and 
ordain this my last Will and Testament 
and do Give and Bequeath such Worldly 
Estate as it hath Pleased God to Bless me 
with in this Life. . . ." Such was the pre- 
amble to the will of Robert Davis, Sr., 
written 8 February 1767 and annulled by 
court decree 10 January 1771, in which 
he named his seven sons (two of whom had 
predeceased him), seven of his grandsons, 
and one great-grandson.1 

Probably there would have been 
nothing remarkable about this will, other 
than the reason for its annulment, were 
it not for the fact that in the early years 
of the Maryland Colony grandfathers 
were a scarce commodity. "A man who 
came to Maryland in his early twenties 
could expect to live only about twenty 
more years," says social historian Lorena 
S. Walsh in her essay "Till Death Us Do 
Part": Marriage and Family in Seven- 
teenth-Century Maryland. "By age forty- 
five this man and many of his com- 
panions would be dead. Native-born sons 
fared only slightly better than their fa- 
thers. A boy reaching majority in 
southern Maryland before 1720 had only 
about twenty-five more years to live. In 
contrast, men reaching age twenty in the 
Plymouth Colony in the same period 
could expect to live an additional forty- 

William D. Patrick resides in Silver Spring, Mary- 
land. 

eight years."2 This contrast in longevity 
has even led one historian to suggest that 
grandparents may have been a New Eng- 
land invention.3 

Robert Davis, Sr., of Worcester County, 
Maryland, was already about thirty-four 
years of age when, in 1708, his name first 
appears in the Maryland records. Had he 
conformed to the actuarial statistics ap- 
plicable to his time he would have been 
dead by 1720. Instead of seven sons, he 
would have had only four or five, only one 
of whom would have been above the age 
of thirteen. However, Robert defied the 
statistics and lived well beyond his 
ninety-second birthday, possibly even 
beyond his ninety-fourth. And the seven 
sons, seven grandsons, and one great- 
grandson mentioned in the will are only 
part of the story. Of his descendants 
whom we have been able to identify, 
twenty-five grandchildren and six great- 
grandchildren had been born by the time 
he made his will. Robert may also have 
had several daughters, but their names 
have not been found and we know 
nothing of their descendants. His will 
named his five surviving sons (referred to 
in the will as "my children"): William, 
Thomas, Robert, John, and Matthias. The 
existence of other children, however, is 
indicated by the final account of William 
Davis, his administrator, recorded in No- 
vember 1772. This account stated that 
the balance of the decedant's estate was 
to be distributed amongst his eight chil- 
dren, including the accountant.4 Unfortu- 
nately, we have found no reference to a 
wife of Robert in any of the records we 
have seen. 

On 15 September 1708, identifying 
himself as "Robert Davis, weaver," he 
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joined William Davis, carpenter, in pur- 
chasing a six hundred-acre tract of land 
called Adventure in a part of Somerset 
County which later became Worcester, on 
the easternmost side of Askinimkonson 
Neck, on the northwest side of the main 
branch of the Pocomoke River.5 This tract 
adjoined the plantation Mulberry Grove 
belonging to the Quaker George Truitt. 
William Davis, carpenter, who married 
Truitt's daughter Elizabeth,6 occupied 
the half of Adventure nearest to his fa- 
ther-in-law.7 William and Robert may 
have been brothers, but this is only a 
matter of conjecture. It is evident, 
though, that they were related, as we find 
two of William's sons, Truitt Davis and 
Levi Davis, signing Robert's inventory as 
nearest of kin.8 

Robert appears to have prospered as a 
planter and continued to live on his half 
of the tract Adventure for the rest of his 
life. He made only one small addition to 
his land-holdings, an adjoining fifty-acre 
tract called Pig Penn Ridge, which he 
patented in 1750.9 His name appears reg- 
ularly in the annual tax lists for Boger- 
ternorton Hundred, Somerset County, 
which have survived.10 From these tax 
lists we can approximate the birth years 
of all seven of his sons as their names 
first appear as taxables in Robert's house- 
hold when they turned sixteen: William, 
who is in the list for 1723 (the earliest ex- 
tant list), must have been born by 1707, 
Thomas about 1708, Ishmael about 1712, 
Benjamin about 1716, Robert about 1720, 
John about 1723, and Matthias about 
1724. Robert's surviving sons, then, 
ranged in age from about forty-three to 
sixty when Robert made his will. 

In his will, Robert Davis divided his 
three hundred acres of Adventure be- 
tween his eldest son, William, and his 
grandson Henry Davis, son of Thomas, 
with the proviso that Thomas should 
enjoy the use of Henry's share during his 
lifetime. Robert also gave ten acres of Pig 
Penn Ridge to William and willed the re- 
maining forty acres of that tract to John 
Davis son of John Davis, blacksmith. 
This latter legatee was a grandson of 
Thomas and great-grandson of Robert. 
His father, John Davis, blacksmith, had 

died about 1766,11 leaving a widow So- 
phia and four young children: Nancy, 
Nellie, Leah, and John.12 

To each of his sons William and John 
and his grandsons Robert, son of Thomas, 
Shadrack, son of Ishmael (under twenty- 
one), and Abijah and Matthias Davis sons 
of Benjamin, Robert bequeathed a slave. 
Ishmael Davis had died in 1760 or 1761, 
leaving a will in which he mentioned his 
wife Patience and six children: Martha, 
Rachel, Mary, Benjamin (not yet eigh- 
teen), James, and Shadrack.13 Benjamin 
had died in 1760. His will mentioned only 
his two sons, Matthias and Abijah, to 
whom he left all his lands.14 However, 
the records of St. Martin's Church tell us 
that Benjamin and Mary Baddard had 
eight children, all of whom were born be- 
fore their grandfather died: Ann, 173-; 
Matthias, 174-; Leah, 174-; Mary, 174-; 
Abijah, 1752; Zipporah, 1753; Esther, 
175-; and Sophia, 17-. The same church 
record gives us the date of marriage of 
their son Matthias to Martha Powell 
(1764) and the births of two of that 
couple's children: Benjamin, 1765; and 
Mordecai, 1767.15 

After providing bequests of personalty 
to his sons Matthias and William, to 
grandson Thomas Davis son of Thomas, 
and to his housekeeper Rebecca Kelly, 
and a bequest of two bulls and a heifer to 
his son William, Robert willed that all of 
the rest of his livestock was to be divided 
equally between his sons Robert and 
Matthias. Evidently, these two sons were 
not happy with their legacies and they 
proceeded to file a "libel and complaint" 
in which they charged that for eight or 
ten years before his death their father 
was in his dotage and addicted to 
drinking strong liquors and was too in- 
toxicated to make a will. 

In response to this charge, Mary Davis, 
widow of Benjamin, submitted a signed 
statement, dated 14 April 1770, saying, "I 
the subscriber do hereby Certifie that 
about last Christmas was a year I was at 
Robert Davis's in company with my son 
Abijah Davis and heard the said Robert 
Davis tell his grandson Abijah Davis that 
he had given him a Negro girl which he 
then Show to them Named Flora." A sim- 



A Man Who Broke New England's Monopoly on Grandparents 347 

ilar statement, signed by the grandson 
Abijah, was written on the reverse of 
Mary's statement. These statements tell 
us that Robert was still alive at 
Christmas 1768 and that, in the opinion 
of the subscribers, he knew then what he 
had said in the will drawn up in February 
1767. Another statement, signed by 
Thomas Davis, reads in part, ". . . at the 
time that Robert Davis (my grandfather) 
made his will ... he was in his Perfect 
Senses and that he was then in his health 
and that nothing Appeared to Ail him but 
the feebleness of old Age, as he was at 
that time about Ninety two years of age." 
From Thomas's statement we can con- 
clude that Robert had been born in about 
1674. 

Whatever the influence these state- 
ments may have had on the Court, there 
was another aspect to the case which pro- 
vided a legal basis for the Court's deci- 
sion to annul the will of Robert Davis, Sr. 
The will had been witnessed by four 
persons: Rownd Given, Naomi Davis, 
James Noble, Sr., and another person 
whose name is indecipherable. Rownd 
Givan and Naomi Davis, the only sur- 
viving witnesses, testified that they had 
been called to sign the will, but neither of 
them had heard the testator say whether 
it was his will or not, when it was read to 
him by James Noble. 

It is difficult to see what Robert and 
Matthias Davis hoped to gain by having 
their father's will set aside. In the ab- 
sence of a valid will all of Robert's land 
went to their eldest brother, William, as 
Robert's heir at law. Apparently in recog- 
nition of his father's wishes regarding the 
bequest to Henry Davis son of Thomas, 
William in his own will, probated 4 June 
1773, made a bequest of fifty acres of land 
to his "cousin" (nephew) Henry Davis, 
leaving the rest of his plantation to his 
sons Robert and Nixon Davis.16 

Although William's will mentioned 
only two sons, Robert and Nixon, we find 
from the will of his widow Ann Davis, 
who died in 1788,17 that he had seven 
other children: Tamor (m. Samuel 
Magee),18 Sally (m. Isaac Phillips),19 

Naomi, Elizabeth, William, and 
Matthias. Of all of these, only Matthias, 

born about 1772, appears to have arrived 
on the scene after his grandfather's 
death.20 

William must not have felt any need to 
make a bequest to Robert's young great- 
grandson John Davis son of John Davis, 
blacksmith, who lost his potential forty- 
acre inheritance by the nullification of 
his great-grandfather's will. The boy's 
grandfather, Thomas Davis, Sr., had 
made provision for him in April 1769, 
when he deeded to John Davis (an infant) 
a hundred and twenty acres of his own 
land near Robert Davis's plantation.21 

Two other grandchildren born while 
Robert Davis, Sr., was still living were 
John and Mary Davis, children of 
Robert's sixth son, John, and his wife 
Martha, the widow of John Read, Jr., of 
Somerset County.22 Both of these chil- 
dren were born before 10 December 1762, 
when they were given bequests in the 
will of their father's friend James 
Johnson, gentleman.23 Whether Robert's 
two landless sons, Robert and Matthias, 
who brought about the annulment of his 
will, had any families we do not know, 
nor do we know when they died. We have 
found no additional information in the 
Worcester County records which we can 
identify with either of them. 

POSTSCRIPT 

The story of Robert Davis, Sr., and his 
family would not be complete without 
some mention of the slave Jacob, whose 
name helps in tying together the records 
of four generations of this family. 
Robert's will had mentioned six slaves: a 
negro "fellow" called Prince, a boy Peter, 
a wench Sara, a child Flora, a boy Prince, 
and a girl Dinah. When the inventory of 
Robert's estate was exhibited 2 March 
1771, two additional names were in- 
cluded in the list of slaves: a small girl, 
Labrue, and a small boy, Jacob. On 23 
April 1784 the inventory of Robert's son 
John Davis, who had died in 1783, in- 
cluded a negro boy Jacob, fourteen years 
of age.24 John's widow Martha, who also 
died in 1783, left a will in which she be- 
queathed the boy, Jacob, to her son, John 
Davis, for his lifetime, after which Jacob 
was to go to her grandson, James Davis.25 
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Her son John, in turn, bequeathed Jacob 
to his son James in 1810.26 Finally, in De- 
cember 1816 the will of James Davis pro- 
vided that his negro man Jacob was to be 
free when he paid James's executor two 
hundred and forty dollars.27 Jacob's age 
was shown as forty-six in the inventory of 
James Davis exhibited 9 January 1817.28 

Finding Jacob's name and age in these 
records has been very reassuring to one 
who has struggled to sort out all of the 
John Davises in the Worcester County 
records and who otherwise might feel a 
bit insecure in identifying the John Davis 
who married the widow Read as the son 
of Robert Davis, Sr. Jacob, who appar- 
ently served three generations of this 
Davis family, has also been of service to a 
descendant of the family over one 
hundred and fifty years later. 
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BOOK NOTES 

Mortality Schedule of the Eastern Shore of 
Maryland, 1880. By Janet Wilson Riley. 
(Silver Spring: Family Line Publications, 
1986). 53 pp. Indexed. $8.00 plus 5% sales 
tax for Maryland residents. 

Between 1850 and 1880, census enumer- 
ators were required to keep a list of all persons 
who died in each district of each county, since 
31 May of the previous year. The 1880 Mor- 
tality Schedule gives the household number, 
name of dec, age, sex, race, married or wid- 
owed, place of birth, father's place of birth, 
mother's place of birth, occupation, month of 
death, and cause of death. The compiler has 
transcribed these records just as they ap- 
peared, and a surname index enables re- 
searchers to find a particular name. There is a 
list of abbreviations for places of birth, and a 
second list of symbols used for occupations. 
The book is an important addition to Eastern 
Shore source materials, and libraries and re- 
searchers working with Eastern Shore fami- 
lies will want to order a copy from the pub- 
lisher, at 13405 Collingwood Terrace, Silver 
Spring, Maryland, 20904. 

ROBERT BARNES 
Perry Hall, Md. 

Directory of Genealogical Societies in the 
U.S.A. and Canada. Mary Keysor Meyer, 
editor. Sixth edition. (Published by the au- 
thor, 1986). vii, 70 pp. $19.00, plus $1.50 for 
postage and handling, and 5% sales tax for 
Maryland residents. 

The sixth edition of Mrs. Meyer's work lists 
names and addresses of 1700 genealogical so- 
cieties in the United States and Canada as 
well as 250 independent genealogical period- 
icals. In preparing the work, the editor sent 
flyers to the societies asking them to respond 
with information on library holdings, special 
projects and publications. Unfortunately 
many of the societies did not respond, but 
their names and addresses are included as a 
service to the readers. In this issue societies 
are listed alphabetically by name under the 
state heading. The usefulness of the work is 
enhanced by a list of abbreviations used, a list 
of computer interest publications, and a list of 
late registrations. The Directory has been en- 
dorsed by the Federation of Genealogical Soci- 
eties and by the National Genealogical So- 
ciety, and is highly recommended for libraries 
and genealogists. 

ROBERT BARNES 
Perry Hall, Md. 
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NEWS AND NOTICES 

CONFERENCE 

CALL FOR PAPERS 

Freedom Fettered: Blacks and the Constitu- 
tional Era in Maryland 1776-1810 is the title 
of a conference to be held at Morgan State 
University on October 2-3, 1987 in celebra- 
tion of the bicentennial of the Constitution. 
Papers on any aspect of the history and cul- 
ture of Afro-Americans in Maryland between 
the years 1776 and 1810—art, music, demog- 
raphy, interracial contacts, science, voting be- 
havior, protest, petitions, and genealogy are 
welcome. The conference is co-sponsored by 
the Maryland Hall of Records, the Maryland 
Commission for Afro-American History and 
Culture, and the Maryland Historical Society 
which is planning an exhibit of Joshua John- 
ston's art. Deadline for proposals is April 30, 
1987. For more information contact the Con- 
ference Coordinator, Elaine G. Breslaw, Pro- 
fessor of History, Morgan State University, 
Baltimore, Md. 21239, (301) 444-3344. 

PHOTOGRAPHY EXHIBITION OPENING AT THE 

MARYLAND COURT OF APPEALS BLDG. 

This special photography exhibition, enti- 
tled MARYLAND—AS SEEN AND PHOTO- 
GRAPHED BY FINE ART PHOTOGRA- 
PHERS, is being sponsored and funded by the 
Council on Fine Art Photography, and honors 
the Bicentennial of the Annapolis Convention, 
and the 125th anniversary of the writing of 
the State song, "Maryland, My Maryland," by 
James Ryder Randall. 

This is the first fine art photography exhibi- 
tion to be shown at the Court of Appeals 
Building, and the exhibition includes works 
by photographers from The Free State, and 
from Virginia and the District of Columbia. 

The exhibition will also feature a special 
one-man-show of black & white images by dis- 
tinguished fine art photographer Lowell 
Anson Kenyon. A native Marylander, Kenyon 
is also a nationally known professional pho- 
tographer, teacher, and author. His work has 
been widely published and shown abroad, and 
several of the photographs in this exhibition 
were published in his most recent book, "The 
Art of Architectural Photography." 

The exhibition, which is composed of con- 
temporary photographs, depicts the Maryland 
you may have missed—interesting vignettes 

of things which are seldom noticed or appre- 
ciated by the casual observer. The exhibition 
is made-up of color and black & white photo- 
graphs, and graphically portrays the myriad 
of sensibilities and styles that infuse the cre- 
ative world of contemporary fine art photog- 
raphy. This show is for everyone who loves 
Maryland or photography and the arts. 

The exhibition, which will be shown in the 
main lobby of the Maryland Court of Appeals 
Building, will open on Saturday, October 11, 
1986 and will continue through December 5, 
1986. Viewing hours are: 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 
p.m. Monday, Wednesday, and Friday; 8:30 
a.m. to 9:00 p.m. Tuesday and Thursday; and 
9:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. on Saturday. Admission 
is free. For additional information on the exhi- 
bition, please call 301 897-0083. The Court of 
Appeals Building is located at 361 Rowe Boule- 
vard in Annapolis. 

HAGLEY PROGRAM CALL FOR APPLICANTS 

The Hagley Museum and Library in cooper- 
ation with the University of Delaware jointly 
sponsor The Hagley Program in the History of 
Industrial America, a two- to four-year pro- 
gram leading either to an M.A. or a Ph.D. de- 
gree for students interested in careers as pro- 
fessionals in museums and historical agencies 
or as college teachers. The Hagley Program's 
academic focus is on the social history of 
American industrialization. Within a wide- 
ranging history program, Hagley Fellows 
study the context and consequences of eco- 
nomic and technological change wrought by 
industrialization, including its impact on the 
lives of American workers. 

Financial aid consisting of a stipend of 
$6,250 per year the first two years and $6,650 
the second two years, full tuition, and a small 
travel fund is available. In addition, an allow- 
ance of $1,200 is available to married students 
with dependent children. These awards are re- 
newable for a maximum of three years. Dead- 
line for application is February 1,1987 for the 
academic year 1987-88. 

For further information write: Brian Green- 
berg, Coordinator, The Hagley Program in the 
History of Industrial America, The Hagley 
Museum and Library, P.O. Box 3630, Wil- 
mington, DE 19807, or telephone (302) 
658-2400, Ext. 244. 
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WILDLIFE STAMP AND PRINT PROGRAM 
ANNOUNCES SECOND SERIES 

The Wildlife Conservation Stamp and Print 
Program of the Maryland Forest, Park and 
Wildlife Service has introduced its second 
series of stamps and prints, this year fea- 
turing a ruby-throated hummingbird. The 
money received from the sale of prints and 
stamps is used only for the management and 
restoration of Maryland's nongame and en- 
dangered species. Wildlife Conservation 
Stamps sell for $5.00, signed and numbered 
limited edition prints sell for $35.00. For more 

information, call (301) 269-2558 for a recorded 
message, or (301) 269-3776 to receive an order 
form. 

Also available this year are Wildlife 
Sponser Kits which include a Wildlife Conser- 
vation Stamp, a hummingbird feeder, a copy 
of Maryland Magazine, a natural resources 
map, and a poster about peregrine falcons. 
Sponser Kits sell for $10.00 and are available 
at all Department of Natural Resources Re- 
gional Service Centers, the Department of 
Natural Resources' main office in Annapolis, 
and selected state parks. 



PICTURE PUZZLE 

Each installment of the Maryland Historical 
Magazine illustrates a photograph in the collection 
of the Prints and Photographs Division of the Mary- 
land Historical Society. This issue's puzzle was 
taken from a late nineteenth century stereoview. 
Test your knowledge of Maryland and help us to 
document our collection by identifying this church 
and its location. 

The Fall 1986 Picture Puzzle shows the intersec- 
tion of Howard, Liberty, and Lombard Streets deco- 
rated for the 1880 Sesqui-Centennial. The monu- 
ment is a facsimile of the obelisk known as Cleo- 

patra's Needle, which was exhibited in New York. 
Baltimore's Cleopatra's Needle stood 80 feet high, 
was constructed of wood and canvas, and painted 
with accurate hieroglyphics. Special policemen were 
required to keep the crowds from chipping "sou- 
venirs" from the obelisk. 

Send your response to the Picture Puzzle to: 
Prints and Photographs Division 
Maryland Historical Society 
201 W. Monument Street 
Baltimore, Maryland 21201 
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OFFICERS 
And Members of the Executive Committee 

1985-86 

William C. Whitridge, Chairman 
Robert G. Merrick, Sr., Honorary Chairman 

Brian B. Topping, President 
Mrs. Charles W. Cole, Jr., Vice President 
Samuel Hopkins, Vice President 
Mrs. Frederick W. Lafferty, Vice President 
Walter D. Pinkard, Sr., Vice President 
Truman T. Semans, Vice President 
Frank H. Weller, Jr., Vice President 

Richard P. Moran, Secretary 
E. Phillips Hathaway, Treasurer 
J. Fife Symington, Jr., Past Chairman of the 

Board 
Leonard C. Crewe, Jr., Past President 
Bryson L. Cook, Counsel 

TRUSTEES 
1985-86 

H. Furlong Baldwin 
Mrs. Emory J. Barber, St. Mary's Co. 
Gary Black 
John E. Boulais, Caroline Co. 
J. Henry Butta 
Mrs. James Frederick Colwill (Honorary) 
Donald L. DeVries 
Leslie B. Disharoon 
Jerome Geckle 
C. William Gilchrist, Allegany Co. 
The Honorable Louis L. Goldstein, Calvert Co. 
Kingdon Gould, Jr., Howard Co. 
William Grant, Garrett Co. 
Benjamin H. Griswold III 
Willard Hackerman 
R. Patrick Hayman, Somerset Co. 
Louis G. Hecht 
Edwin Mason Hendrickson, Washington Co. 
T. Hughlett Henry, Jr., Talbot Co. 
Michael Hoffberger 
E. Ralph Hostetter, Cecil Co. 
The Honorable William S. James, Harford Co. 

H. Irvine Keyser II (Honorary) 
Richard R. Kline, Frederick Co. 
Robert G. Merrick, Jr. 
Michael Middleton, Charles Co. 
Jack Moseley 
Thomas S. Nichols (Honorary) 
James 0. Olfson, Anne Arundel Co. 
Mrs. David R. Owen 
Mrs. Brice Phillips, Worcester Co. 
J. Hurst Purnell, Jr., Kent Co. 
George M. Radcliffe 
Adrian P. Reed, Queen Anne's Co. 
G. Donald Riley, Jr., Carroll Co. 
Mrs. Timothy Rodgers 
John D. Schapiro 
Jacques T. Schlenger 
Jess Joseph Smith, Jr., Prince George's Co. 
John T. Stinson 
Bernard C. Trueschler 
Thomas D. Washburne 
Jeffrey P. Williamson, Dorchester Co. 
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COMMITTEES0 

1985-1986 

Addresses & Programs Committee 

D. Randall Beirne 
Mrs. Dudley I. Catzen 
Mrs. Gerson G. Eisenberg 
C. J. Falkenhan 
Mrs. Ramsey W. J. Flynn 
Denwood N. Kelly 

Louis G. Hecht, Chairman 

Mrs. John S. Kerns, Jr. 
Oliver Perin 
The Rev. R. Douglas Pitt 
G. Luther Washington 
Joan Healy Wroten 

Annual Giving Committee 
Donald L. DeVries, Chairman 

Charles E. McCarthy III, Vice Chairman 

H. Furlong Baldwin 
L. Patrick Deering 
Leslie B. Disharoon 
Mrs. Charles S. Garland, Jr. 
Jerome Geckle 
Willard Hackerman 
Louis G. Hecht 

Samuel Hopkins 
Robert B. Kershaw 
Walter D. Pinkard, Sr. 
Truman T. Semans 
J. Fife Symington 
Brian B. Topping 
William C. Whitridge 

Richard W. Ayers, Sr. 
Alan N. Gamse 
Arthur M. Gompf 

Buildings and Grounds Committee 
Walter D. Pinkard, Sr., Chairman 
Richard C. Riggs, Vice Chairman 

t T. Courtenay Jenkins, Jr. 
Robert E. Lewis 

James F. Adomanis 
Dr. Ann. H. Allison 
Phyllis Bailey 
Ludlow Baldwin 
Anne A. Carusi 

Education Committee 
Dr. D. Randall Beirne, Chairman 

Dr. W. Jackson Stenger, Vice Chairman 

Gerson G. Eisenberg 
Mrs. Francis Marbury 
Dr. Morgan Pritchett 
Mrs. Vernon H. Wiesand 

° The Executive Committee and the committee 
chairmen constitute the Council. 
t Deceased 
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Frank Bonsai, Jr. 
E. Phillips Hathaway 
John E. Motz 
William T. Murray 
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Finance Committee 
P. McEvoy Cromwell, Chairman 
Jack S. Griswold, Vice Chairman 

Truman T. Semans 
John T. Stinson 
Gerrit Vreeland 

Gallery Committee 
Mrs. Howard Baetjer II, Chairman 

Dorothy Mcllvain Scott, Vice Chairman 

Harry D. Berry, Jr., Consultant 
Mrs. Dudley I. Catzen 
Dr. William Freehling 
Richard L. Goodbar 
Louis G. Hecht, Consultant 
Eugenia Calvert Holland {Honorary) 
Bryden B. Hyde 
William R. Johnston 

Clair List 
Mrs. Robert H. McCauley, Jr. 
Edwin Obrecht 
Elisabeth C. G. Packard 
Richard Randall 
Dr. Arthur Ward 
John R. Williams 
Edward R. Flanagan 

Genealogy Committee 
Mary Virginia Slaughter (Chairman) 

Gary E. Myer (Vice Chairman) 

Robert M. Bartram 
Stephen O. Cooper 
Mrs. Norris Harris (Honorary) 
Thomas Hollowak 
Mrs. Bryce Jacobsen 
Mrs. Olive Jones 
Edna Kanely 
Denwood N. Kelly 
Jon Harlan Livezey 

Mary K. Meyer 
William E. Miller 
Freeman Morgan, Jr. 
Dr. Morgan Pritchett 
Ella Rowe 
Milton Rubincam 
A. Russell Slagle (Honorary) 
Dr. John Walton (Honorary) 
George B. Wilson 

Library Committee 
Frederick T. Wehr, Chairman 

Arthur J. Gutman, Vice Chairman 

Gloria Allen 
Mrs. David Bavar 
Dr. Curtis Carroll Davis 
Denwood N. Kelly (non-voting) 
Jeffrey A. Legum 
Lester S. Levy (Honorary) 
Dr. Bayly Ellen Marks 

John Pentz (Honorary) 
John Beverley Riggs 
Peter M. VanWingen 
Dr. Stephen J. Vicchio 
David T. Warfield 
Dr. Huntington Williams (Honorary) 

Lewis A. Beck 
Hugh Benet, Jr. 

Maritime Committee 
George M. Radcliffe, Chairman 

Philip B. Schnering, Vice Chairman 

The Honorable Helen Delich Bentley 
Donald W. Carroll, Sr. 
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Randolf W. Chalfant (Honorary) 
S. Vannort Chapman 
Dr. Ferdinand E. Chatard 
T. Marshall Duer, Jr. 
John Goldsborough Earle 
Frederick E. Hecklinger 
Brian Hope 
Dr. Fred Hopkins 
Robert Keith 

J. Sheridan McClees 
Robert E. Michel, Sr. 
Charles E. Scarlett III 
Dr. Roy O. Scholz 
Melbourne Smith 
Albert Trout 
L. Byrne Waterman 
H. Graham Wood 

Maryland Antiques Show and Sale Standing Committee 
Mrs. Jay Katz, Chairman 

Mrs. Calhoun Bond 
Mrs. Dudley I. Catzen 
Mrs. Charles W. Cole, Jr. 
Leonard C. Crewe, Jr. 
Mrs. Hammond J. Dugan III 
Mrs. F. Markoe Dugan 
Mrs. Charles S. Garland, Jr. 
Mrs. Leslie E. Goldsborough, Jr. 
Richard Goodbar 
Mrs. Lee Greenwaid 
Mrs. Robert E. Hall 
Louis G. Hecht 

Mrs. Bryden B. Hyde 
Mrs. Julian Katzenberg 
Denwood N. Kelly 
Mrs. Walter Koppelman 
Mrs. William Meyers II 
Mrs. Charles W. Newhall III 
Mrs. Henry A. Parr IV 
Mrs. Thomas G. Peter 
Mrs. Thomas R. Price 
Mrs. Geary Lee Stonesifer, Jr. 
Murphy Tuomey 
Mrs. Edward H. Welbourne III 

Charles Bagley IV 
R. Raab Christhilf 
Mrs. Richard L. Cover 
George D. Edwards II 
Fletcher R. Hall 
Mrs. Bryden B. Hyde 

Membership Committee 
Mrs. Charles W. Cole, Jr., Chairman 

Mrs. David Owen, Vice Chairman 

James H. McLean 
Mrs. J. Jefferson Miller II 
John P. Paca, Jr. 
W. Cameron Slack 
Mrs. Geary Lee Stonesifer, Jr. 
Andrew J. Young III 

Dr. Jean H. Baker 
James H. Bready 
Dr. Robert J. Brugger 
Dr. Gary L. Browne 
Dr. W. Theodore Durr 
John G. Goellner 
Dr. Chester Gregory 
Gilbert Gude 
Dr. John Higham 
Edna A. Kanely 

Publications Committee 
Dr. George H. Callcott, Chairman 

Dr. Clementine L. Kaufman 
The Honorable William S. James 
Dr. Roland C. McConnell 
Braxton D. Mitchell 
Dr. Edward C. Papenfuse 
William A. Sager 
Arthur W. Sherwood 
Brian Walker 
Henry C. Wheelwright 

Mary E. Busch 
Mrs. Calhoun Bond 

Public Relations Committee 
J. Sydney King, Chairman 

George D. Edwards 
Mrs. John W. Felton 
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Jerry Hartman 
Holly Catzen Rich 
Elmer M. Jackson, Jr. 
Richard P. Moran 

Mrs. Brice Philips 
Paul Welsh 
Robert Myers 

Dr. Jean Clark 
Mrs. Page Dame 
Mrs. George Fisher 
John Garber 
Karl Gruss 

Speakers' Committee 
William Arnold, Chairman 

William Shure, Vice Chairman 

Mrs. Roy Kinard 
Mrs. Francis Marbury 
Christopher Weeks 
Anne Williams 

L. Patrick Deering 
Mrs. Michael Hoffberger 
Robert Kershaw 
Charles McCarthy III 
Mrs. John G. McCormick 

Special Projects Committee 
James L. Nace, Chairman 

Mrs. Edwin W. Obrecht, Jr. 
Mrs. Henry A. Parr IV 
Mrs. Timothy E. Parker 
D. Jeffrey Rice 

Women's Committee 
Mrs. Charles S. Garland, Jr., Chairman 
Mrs. J. Richard Thomas, Vice Chairman 

Mrs. Aristides C. Alevizatos 
§ Mrs. Marcus M. Bernstein 
Mrs. H. Lee Boatwright III 
§ Martha Bokel 
Mrs. Calhoun Bond 
Mrs. Frank Brooks 
§ Mrs. Walter Buck 
Mrs. James E. Cantler 
Mrs. Charles W. Cole, Jr. 
§ Anne Cole Cromwell 
Mrs. William Page Dame 
§ Mrs. Curtis Carroll Davis 
Mrs. Hammond J. Dugan III 
§ Mrs. Edward K. Dunn 
Mrs. Gerson G. Eisenberg 
Mrs. Reid FauntLeRoy 
§ Mrs. W. T. Dixon Gibbs 
§ Elizabeth W. Glascock 
Mrs. Leslie E. Goldsborough, Jr. 
Eugenia Calvert Holland (Honorary) 

Mrs. Carrington D. Hooper 
§ Mrs. Bryden B. Hyde 
Mrs. Jay Katz 
Mrs. John S. Kerns, Jr. 
Mrs. Jerome Kidder 
Mrs. William G. Kouwenhoven 
Mrs. Louis Piere Mathews 
§ Mrs. Allan J. Meade 
§ Mrs. Samuel S. Merrick 
§ Mrs. Nicholas B. Merryman 
§ Mrs. Clarence W. Miles 
Mrs. Richard A. Moore 
§ Elizabeth C. G. Packard 
Mrs. Thomas Ransone Price 
§ Mrs. Richard C. Riggs 
Mrs. William Bland Rush 
§ Mrs. John W. Sause, Jr. 
Mrs. William Silver III 
Mrs. Geary L. Stonesifer 
Mrs. W. Wallace Symington, Jr. 

§ Associate Member 



Annual Report, 1985-1986 359 

THE STAFF 
as of June 30, 1986 

A dminis tra tion 
J. Jefferson Miller II     Director 
Barbara Wells Sarudy  Administrative Director 
Gaye-Lynn Kline   Administrative Assistant 
Elizabeth McP. Morgan     Development Director 
Maryellen Snidero  Development Secretary to 1186 
Mary V. Wojnowski     Administrative Secretary from 1186 
Lynn Satterfield  Membership Director to 1186 
Sherri Sweep   Public Programs Director 
Madeline Abramson   Public Programs Secretary 
Ann Egerton    Public Relations Director 
Elizabeth Hecht   Promotions Director 
Barbara Gamse  Museum Shop Manager 
Michelle Jones     Museum Shop Assistant 
Mary Lou Jones   Accounting & Data Processing Manager 
Tara L. Dorsey    Bookkeeper 
William Garnis  Accounting Clerk 
Louis A. Judges   Controller 
Leslie Mentzer     Data Entry & Membership Clerk 
Merrill E. Lavine  Registrar 
Rosemary Connolly  Assistant Registrar 
Jeff Goldman  Photo Services 
Dr. Gary L. Browne    Editor, MARYLAND HISTORICAL MAGAZINE to 

3186 
Dr. Robert J. Brugger    Editor, MARYLAND HISTORICAL MAGAZINE 

from 3/86 
Virginia Duval   Publications Assistant 

Building Services Staff 
Eugene Marciszewski     Building Services Manager 
John McHale   Assistant Building Services Manager 
Theresa Jones   Administrative Clerk to 4186 
Margaret Van Tassell    Administrative Clerk from 5186 
Ellen Grempler  Telephone Operator to 1186 
Veronica Harmon     Telephone Operator from 1186 
Hazel McClinton    Housekeeper 
Gregory Stanton  Maintenance 
Jerome Washington    Maintenance 
Sue Thomas   Guard 
Samuel Assero     Guard 
John L. Hopkins  Guard 
Lloyd Savage  Guard 
James Waddy    Guard to 1186 
H. Clifton Watts, Jr  Guard to 9185 
Earl D. Spruill    Guard 
James Gatton     Guard from 1186 
Lou Menin    Maintenance Engineer to 6186 
Howard Eberle   Maintenance Engineer 

Education Department Staff 
Judith Van Dyke   Education Director 
Nancy B. Martel     Education Assistant 
Kathryn G. Tubman  Education Assistant 
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Gallery 
Stiles T. Colwill   Chief Curator 
Gregory R. Weidman   Curator of Furniture 
Jennifer F. Goldsborough  Curator of Silver, Ceramics & Glass 
Judith M. Coram   Curator of Textiles 
Mary Ellen Hay ward   Curator of Maritime Museum 
Enolliah B. Williams   Gallery Assistant 
Phyllis S. Williams  Gallery Administrative Secretary 

Library 
Karen A. Stuart      Head Librarian (Acting Head Librarian, 7/85 to 

2186); Associate Editor, MARYLAND 
HISTORICAL MAGAZINE 

Donna Ellis         Manuscripts Librarian 
Marcia M. Miller       Manuscripts Assistant to 4/86 
Catherine Sampsell         Manuscripts Assistant from 5/86 
Marcy Silver        Prints and Photographs Librarian 
Mary K. Mannix         Assistant Prints and Photographs Librarian 
Francis P. O'Neill        Librarian, Reference Division 
Joseph C. Maguire, Jr      Library Cataloger 
Elizabeth Monocrusos        Library Assistant to 6/86 

"Vincent Garofolo's Store," East Lombard Street, Baltimore, 1926. From the Society's popular 
"Maryland Under Glass" photograph exhibit. 
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Dorothy Quigley  Library Secretary to 12185 
Ruth M. Evosevich   Library Secretary from 1/86 
Gary E. Myer-Bruggey    Genealogical Researcher 
Mrs. Alfred Pruce    Genealogical Researcher 
Susan Wheeler   Genealogical Researcher 
Dr. Ferdinand E. Chatard   Consultant, Maritime Manuscripts 
Denwood N. Kelly   Consultant, Numismatics and Philately 

The Papers of Benjamin Henry Latrobe 
* Dr. Edward C. Carter     Editor-in-Chief 

Dr. John C. Van Home  Associate Editor 
* Jeffrey A. Cohen     Assistant Editor for Architectural History 

Robert J. Block  Assistant Editor 
* Geraldine Vickers   Secretary/Transcriber 
* Linda Carol May   Research Assistant 

* Part time 
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VOLUNTEERS 
1985-86 

Annual Giving 
Mrs. Howard Baetjer 
Mr. H. Furlong Baldwin 
Mrs. Calhoun Bond 
Mr. J. Henry Butta 
Mrs. Dudley Catzen 
Mrs. Charles W. Cole, Jr. 
Mr. Stiles T. Colwill 
Mrs. Richard L. Cover 
Mr. Clinton Daly 
Mr. L. Patrick Deering 
Mr. Leslie B. Disharoon 
Mr. George Edwards 
Mr. F. Donald Fenhagen 
Mr. Alan Gamse 
Mrs. Charles S. Garland, Jr. 
Mr. Jerome Geckle 
Mr. Louis G. Hecht 
Mr. E. Mason Hendrickson 

Mr. Samuel Hopkins 
Mrs. Bryden Hyde 
Mrs. John S. Kerns 
Mr. Robert Kershaw 
Mr. Charles E. McCarthy 
Mr. John M. Morgan 
Mr. James O. Olfson 
Mrs. David Owen 
Mr. Walter D. Pinkard, Sr. 
Mr. George M. Radcliffe 
Mr. Truman Semans 
Mrs. Geary L. Stonesifer, Jr. 
Mr. J. Fife Symington, Jr. 
Mr. Brian B. Topping 
Mr. Bernard C. Trueschler 
Mr. Gerrit Vreeland 
Mr. William C. Whitridge 

Education 
Mrs. Walter Adolph 
Mrs. Benjamin Bates 
Lewis A. Beck, Jr. 
Nicholas Bloom 
Mrs. Rodney Brooks 
Ivan Butler 
Mrs. James Cantler 
Mrs. Betty Lou Caplan 
Mrs. John Chambliss 
Mrs. William Conkling 
Mrs. Page Dame 
Mrs. Ernest Day 
Edmund Demsky 
Mrs. Martin Donner 
Mrs. Regina Dunn 
Dierdre Edwards 
Mrs. J. Egan 
Mrs. Dawson Farber 
Mrs. Frank Gallagher 
Mrs. John Garber 
April Garrett 
Paul Gasparotti 
Richard Gasparotti 
Mrs. Douglass Goodwin 
Edwin Green 
Mrs. H. J. Grogaard 
Karl Gruss 
Mrs. Henry Gutman 
Charles O. Hacker 
Mrs. Morsell Hines 
Mrs. John Holland 
Katherin Home 

Karen Hunter 
Jennifer Irish 
Mrs. Bryden B. Hyde 
Michael Jewer 
Mrs. Thomas Judkins 
Mrs. John S. Kerns, Jr. 
Mrs. Roy Kinard 
Mrs. Charles Klein 
Lena Lefkowitz 
Mrs. George Lehnert 
Mrs. Francis Marbury 
Mrs. Edward Martel 
Helen Maynard 
Mrs. Edmund Nelson 
Mrs. Theodore Reith 
Mrs. Richard G. Rockwood 
Mrs. Lester Sachs 
Mrs. Bruce Sanders 
Mrs. John Sanders 
Stephanie Schnatz 
Mrs. David Sieck 
Tina Stenchly 
Mrs. Charles Stieff 
Albert H. Trout 
Dana Weaver 
Mrs. Lloyd Wetzler 
Anne Williams 
Mrs. Kathy Winters 
Mrs. Henry Wolfe 
Tracy Young 
Mrs. William Zinkham 
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Dr. Jean Baker 
Dr. D. Randall Beirne 
Dr. Gary Browne 
Thomas Caplan 

Murray Lazarus 
Mrs. Murray Lazarus 
Madolyn Marschall 
Louisa Pearre 
Grace Elizabeth Dorsey 

William Marbury 
Dr. Roland C. McConnell 
J. Fife Symington, Jr. 

Gallery 
Pat Gibbons 
Mrs. Robert Thieblot 
Mrs. Jean Day 
Ross Kimmel 

Information Desk 
Annette Bartholome 
Mrs. L. Patrick Deering 
Mrs. F. Markoe Dugan 

Velva P. Grebe 
Mrs. H. Vernon Norwood 
Olivia Rodgers 

Mrs. G. Maxwell Armor 
Isabella W. Athey 
Robert W. Barnes 
Dr. Ferdinand E. Chatard 
Mrs. William Clark 
Anne Cohen 
Mrs. Grafflin Cook, Jr. 
Judy Dilworth 
F. Donald Fenhagen 
P. William Filby 
Ellen Fletcher 
Rev. Robert Flottemesch 
Eliza C. Funk 
Patricia W. Gibbons 
Mary Jo Green 
Marguerite Gressle 
Tina Heck 
Edgar G. Heyl 
Louise Kerr Hines 
Stephen Hyde 
Alice Jones 
Edna A. Kanely 
Denwood N. Kelly 

Library 
Murray Lazarus 
Sally Levasseur 
Mrs. W. Carl Lohmeyer 
Alice Martin 
Mary K. Meyer 
Holly Mooney 
Mrs. Henry A. Naylor, Jr. 
Henry A. Naylor, Jr. 
Margaret Neal 
Pat Parker 
Mrs. Alfred Pruce 
A. Hester Rich 
Ella Rowe 
Lorraine Sachs 
Eugenia Stalfort 
Renee Vollerthum 
Valerie Walls 
L. Byrne Waterman 
Susan Wheeler 
Anne Williams 
Ella Kate Wilson 

t Eugene E. Zimmerman 

Lewis A. Beck, Jr. 
Nicholas Bloom 
Steven Dana Bunker 

Maritime Volunteers 
Ivan Butler 
Donald W. Carroll, Sr. 
Dr. Ferdinand E. Chatard 

t Deceased 
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Comm-Tech, Inc. 
Deidre Edwards 
April Garrett 
Paul Gasparotti 
Edwin Green 
Charles O. Hacker 
John A. Hay ward 
Samuel Himmelrich 
Katharine Home 
Karen Hunter 

Michael Jewer 
Robert Keith 
Lena Lefkowitz 
George M. Radcliffe 
Philip Schnering 
Albert Trout 
L. Byrne Waterman 
Dana Weaver 
H. Graham Wood 

Maryland Antiques Show & Sale (Annual) 
Mrs. John S. Kerns, Jr. Chairman 

Mrs. Aristides C. Alevizatos 
Mrs. Daniel R. Baker 
Mrs. John Baynum 
Mrs. George Beall 
Mrs. Thomas N. Biddison, Jr. 
Mrs. H. Lee Boatwright III 
Mrs. Calhoun Bond 
Mrs. James E. Cantler 
Mrs. Dudley I. Catzen 
Mrs. Charles W. Cole, Jr. 
Mrs. W. Taylor Cook 
Mrs. Douglas V. Croker III 
Mrs. L. Patrick Deering 
Mrs. F. Markoe Dugan 
Mrs. Hammond J. Dugan III 
Mrs. Gerson G. Eisenberg 
Mrs. Reid FauntLeRoy 
Mrs. Ramsey W. J. Flynn 
Mrs. George Ross French, Jr. 
Mrs. Stephen Glover 
Richard L. Goodbar 
Mrs. C. Louis Grim 
Mrs. Curran W. Harvey 
Mrs. Elizabeth Hollyday 
Mrs. Bryden B. Hyde 
Mrs. Frank Shriver Jones 
Mrs. Jay Katz 
Denwood N. Kelly 

Mrs. Nancy Carnes Kemp 
Mrs. John S. Kerns, Jr. 
Mrs. William G. Kouwenhoven 
Mrs. Richard Lundberg 
Mrs. Charles E. McCarthy III 
Mrs. Thomas G. McCausland 
Mrs. Bernard F. McCrory 
C. Austin McDonnell 
Mrs. Alexander B. Martin 
Mrs. William Meyers II 
Mrs. Howard Moses 
Mrs. Robert Bentley Offutt 
Mrs. Robert Oster 
Mrs. Henry A. Parr IV 
Mrs. Edward N. Passano, Jr. 
Mrs. Thomas G. Peter 
Mrs. Jerome S. Plasse 
Mrs. Thomas Ransone Price 
Mrs. Geary Lee Stonesifer, Jr. 
Mrs. John C. Stuelpnagel 
Mrs. Robert Thieblot 
Mrs. Stephen P. Toadvine III 
Mrs. Brian B. Topping 
Miss Murphy Tuomey 
Mrs. Ronald Walz 
Mrs. Thomas Ward 
Mrs. Edward H. Welbourn III 
Mrs. Jack F. Wroten 

Museum Shop 
Betty Jean Alevizatos 
Mrs. Robert Beacham 
Mrs. Ernest Bucking 
Mrs. James Cantler 
Holly Dan 

Mrs. C. Louis Grim 
Mrs. Frederick Knoop 
Mrs. Bernard Langeluttig 
Mrs. Winston Seetoo 
Joan H. Wroten 

Mrs. Lee Carlson 
Mrs. Joy Neale 
Ms. Connie Stevens 

Public Programs 
Ray Anderson 

t Francis Marbury 
t Eugene Zimmerman 

t Deceased 
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Registrar's Office 
Mrs. Ernest J. Bucking Mrs. Allen C. Hopkins 
Nelson Coleman & Sons Mr. & Mrs. Murray Lazarus 

Symington Memorial Library of Maryland Sporting Arts 
Leonard C. Crewe, Jr. Mrs. J. Fife Symington, Jr. 
Jack S. Griswold Frank H. Weller, Jr. 
Mrs. Michael Sanger William C. Whitridge 



366 MARYLAND HISTORICAL MAGAZINE 

REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD 
OF TRUSTEES 

I am pleased to report that the year ended June 30, 1986 was an extremely productive period 
for the Maryland Historical Society. Of special significance was the change in the date of the 
Annual Meeting from October to June so that the administrative year and fiscal year would 
coincide. This change will result in increased efficiency in many areas of the Society's opera- 
tions. 

The financial condition of the Society at year end was excellent. The value of the endowment 
reached a new high and a sizeable budget surplus was developed from operations. Excellent 
results were achieved in membership income, annual giving, and investment income. The 
eighth annual Maryland Antiques Show and Sale, The Society's major fund-raising effort, was a 
great success. 

A major improvement was made to the exhibition space and a number of important acquisi- 
tions were made by the museum and by the library during the year. The Society sought to fulfill 
its educational role, particularly to the more than 15,000 children visitors through important 
exhibitions and innovative programs. 

The success of 1986 was made possible by the talents and dedication of the staff, the volun- 
teers, and the membership. The Society enters the new year with optimism and with every 
reason to expect further achievements in serving the citizens of Maryland. 

WILLIAM C. WHITRIDGE 

Chairman, Board of Trustees 

William Whitridge 
Chairman of the Board of Trustees 
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DIRECTOR'S REPORT 

The fiscal year 1985-1986 was an excellent one for The Society. 
Our financial situation was stable and the year end figures showed a positive balance in the 

budget. Barbara Sarudy, our Administrative Director, did a splendid job in our continuing effort 
to improve all aspect of the Society's day to day functions. 

The staff of the Society remained essentially intact. In the prior year we had made a number 
of changes. Our present staff is experienced and capable. 

The Library, the Gallery, and the Education Department (our three main divisions) all had 
excellent years under their respective heads, Karen Stuart, Stiles Colwill and Judy Van Dyke. 

Our Public Programs were extended. This increased activity was reflected by the addition of a 
calendar of events, which now is sent to the members three times a year. 

An amendment to the By-Laws was passed changing the Society's Annual Meeting from Oc- 
tober to June. 

Pursuant to a grant from the National Endowment for the Humanities, the Society conducted 
a study of the directions it must take in order to increase its effectiveness and prepare for the 
future. A major aim of the Director's office will be to position the Society for the 1990's and 
beyond. 

Respectfully submitted, 
J. JEFFERSON MILLER II 

Director 
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PRESIDENT'S REPORT 

It is my pleasure to report on the Trustee's stewardship of your Society in this its 142nd year. 
We have had a successful year, a year of progress on all fronts. Largely responsible for this solid 
performance are the members of the Society's senior management staff. Jeff Miller, our Di- 
rector, has brought to the Society the unusual blending of curatorial and business skills impor- 
tant to the successful completion of our many and varied programs. Barbara Sarudy, the Di- 
rector of Administration, has successfully completed a review of our procedures and finances 
and has implemented a variety of cost-saving programs throughout the Society. Stiles Colwill, 
our Chief Curator, has focused his attention this past year on improving the effectiveness of the 
display of objects from the Museum's rich collections. Karen Stuart, the newly-appointed Head 
Librarian, has focused her attention on improving service to our Library public and on the 
expansion of our collections of printed materials pertaining to Maryland's history. These four, 
ably supported by the other members of our staff, give your Society the vitality that has been its 
hallmark. 

Of particular interest to the membership is the continued improvement in the finances of the 
Society. During this past fiscal year, revenues in most critical categories exceeded our budget 
while our expenses generally ran below budget. Of note are the Annual Giving Campaign, 
where contributions from corporations and individuals increased to a new record level and the 
income yield from the Society's Endowment where the three professional investment manage- 
ment firms employed by the Trustees to manage the Society's funds generated higher-than-ex- 
pected income. We closed the year with our second consecutive operating surplus which, in turn, 
allowed the Trustees to make a significant transfer to the Endowment, as well as fund several 
areas of critical need. Special provisions by the Trustees included funds for the restoration of 
the exterior of the Enoch Pratt House, a grant for the acquisition of badly needed audiovisual 
equipment by the Educational Department, a grant for slide handling and storage equipment 
for the Registrar's Department, the establishment of a funded depreciation account to provide 
needed maintenance for our facilities, and, finally, the establishment of unrestricted acquisition 
funds for the Gallery, the Library, the Maritime Museum, and the Genealogical Collections. 
The Trustees have enthusiastically endorsed a policy of budgeting operating surpluses and then 
using the resulting funds for badly needed special projects and for reinvestment in our Endow- 
ment. With many traditional sources of institutional funding, for example, the National En- 
dowment for the Arts and the National Endowment for the Humanities, reducing their budgets, 
we feel an increasing need to use our limited resources as wisely as possible. 

Your society has set for itself an ambitious mission. It is the State's prime repository for the 
evidence of Maryland's material and written culture. As such, it is a vital force for the preserva- 
tion of Maryland's heritage. These roles are expressed in the Museum which maintains an 
extensive collection of objects in both the fine and decorative arts, and in the Library which 
focuses on the printed record of Maryland's history and of the genealogy of is citizens. These 
Gallery and Library resources are used by the staff of the Education Department to bring Mary- 
land history alive for thousands of the State's school children. Similarly, specialized programs, 
lectures, demonstrations, and workshops are held throughout the year for the general public to 
explain important events of the past, to demonstrate the arts and crafts of our ancestors, and to 
fill in the missing pieces of Maryland's history frequently overlooked in the curricula of our 
schools. Our programs include those held within the walls of the Museum and Library and, in 
addition, an increasing focus on traveling exhibits and lectures held throughout the state. One 
new program introduced this past year was a series of evening lectures held aboard the "Minnie 
V," a working skipjack berthed in Baltimore's Inner Harbor. These lectures under sail were 
enormously successful and will be expanded next year. 

As we look ahead, each of us must recognize that the Society's success depends on the support 
of its members. I have touched upon your financial support this past year—Annual Giving 
reached a new high. I should also touch upon the generous giving of your time—volunteers 
contributed over 16,000 hours to the Society and permitted us to plan and complete programs 
which would otherwise be impossible for our limited professional staff. Your Society is more 
than its superb collections, it is more than the bricks and mortar of its buildings, it is our 
responsibility to this and future generations to preserve and keep alive the spirit and traditions 
which have made the State of Maryland what it is today. 

BRIAN B. TOPPING 

President 
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We list those members and friends who made contribution to the Society between July 1, 1985 
and June 30, 1986. We wish to express our sincere appreciation for those gifts under $100 which 
we are unable to include. 

BUSINESSES 

AAI Corporation 
Alban Tractor Company, Inc. 
Alcolac, Inc. 
Baltimore Federal Financial 
Baltimore Gas and Electric Company 
Baltimore Life Insurance Company 
Bank of Baltimore 
Joseph A. Bank Clothiers 
Bethlehem Steel Corporation 
Black and Decker 
Blakeslee-Lane, Inc. 
Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Maryland 
Blums, Inc. 
Boston Metals Company 
Brooks-Buick, Inc. 
Alex Brown & Sons 
Bruning Paint Company 
William T. Burnett Company, Inc. 
Casey, Miller, Boris, and Burns, Inc. 
The H. Chambers Company 
Chapin Davis and Company, Inc. 
Chesapeake Cadillac-Jaguar Company 
Chessie System Railroads 
Citibank of Maryland 
Clendenin Brothers, Inc. 
Concord Associates, Inc. 
C & P Telephone Company 
L. H. Cranston and Sons, Inc. 
Crusader Chemical Company, Inc. 
Ditch, Bowers, and Taylor, Inc. 
D. P. Associates, Inc. 
Dryden Oil Company, Inc. 
Eastmet Foundation, Inc. 
Equitable Life Assurance Society of The 

United States 
Ernst and Whinney 
Fidelity and Deposit Company of Maryland 
First National Bank of Maryland 
Forty West Volkswagen, Inc. 
General Elevator Company 
Genstar Stone Products Company 
Graul's Market 
Albert Gunther, Inc. 
J. J. Haines and Company, Inc. 
The Herald Mail Company, Inc. 
Hottman Edwards Advertising, Inc. 
Hutzler Brothers Company, Inc. 
I.B.M. Corporation 
Independent Can Company 
Investment Counselors of Maryland 
Henry W. Jenkins and Sons 
Kidder-Peabody and Company, Inc. 
Martin G. Knott, Inc. 

Lee Electric Company of Baltimore 
Legg, Mason, Wood, Walker, Inc. 
Lever Brothers Company 
Henry H. Lewis Contractors, Inc. 
Loyola Federal Foundation, Inc. 
Manekin Corporation 
Maryland Genealogical Society 
Maryland Jockey Club 
Maryland National Bank 
McCorquodale Holdings, Inc. 
Mercantile Safe Deposit and Trust Company 
Meridian Healthcare, Inc. 
Merrill, Lynch, Pierce, Fenner, and Smith, 

Inc. 
Merry-Go-Round Enterprises, Inc. 
Meyers and DAleo, Inc. 
The R. E. Michel Company, Inc. 
Monumental Corporation 
The Mueller Associates, Inc. 
Murray Corporation 
The North Charles Street Design 

Organization 
Noxell Corporation 
The Offutt Group, Inc. 
Phillips Crab House, Inc. 
The W. C. Pinkard and Company, Inc. 
Polk-Audio, Inc. 
Poor, Bowen, Bartlett, and Kennedy 
The Potomac Edison Company 
T. Rowe Price and Associates, Inc. 
Provident Bank of Maryland 
Quinn, Ward & Kershaw 
Reese Press, R.P. Communications 
Richter, Cornbrooks, and Gribble, Inc. 
Riggs, Counselman, Michaels, and Downs, 

Inc. 
The Rouse Company 
RTKL Associates, Inc. 
The Samuel Shapiro and Company, Inc. 
Steeltin Can Corporation 
Stegman and Company 
Sovran Bank 
Sun Life Insurance Company 
Tate Industries Foundation 
Time-Life Books 
U.A.W. Region 8 
Union Trust Bank 
VanSant Dugdale and Company 
Venable, Baetjer, and Howard 
B. Von Paris and Sons, Inc. 
Westinghouse Electric Corporation 
Whiting-Turner Contracting Company 
Woodward and Lothrop, Inc. 
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FOUNDATIONS 

William G. Baker, Jr. Memorial Foundation 
Bruce F. Brown Charitable Trust 
Frank D. Brown, Jr. Charitable Trust 
Buckingham School of Frederick 
Carski Foundation 
The Aaron Catzen Foundation 
Ferdinand Eberstadt Fund, Inc. 
Eliasberg Family Foundation, Inc. 
Louis & Hortense Eliasberg Foundation 
Family Elliott Foundation 
Jacob & Annita France Foundation 
The Victor Frenkil Foundation, Inc. 
David L. Greif Philanthropic 
Irvin Greif Foundation, Inc. 
The Hampshire Foundation 
Sidney L. Hechinger Fund 
The Hecht-Levi Foundation, Inc. 
Himmilrich Fund, Inc. 
The Harley W. Howell Foundation 
The Joseph S. Keelty Fund, Inc. 
Ensign C. Markland Kelly, Jr. Foundation 
Lalley Charitable Fund 
Lime Kiln Valley Foundation 
Rollins Luetkemeyer Foundation 
Macht Philanthropic Fund 
McCarthy-Hicks Foundation, Inc. 
Sumner T. McKnight Foundation 
The Lloyd E. Mitchell Foundation 
Moser Family Philanthropic Fund 
The Ida Kemp and William M. Passano 

Family Foundation 
Duane & Clementine Peterson Foundation 
The PHH Group Foundation, Inc. 
Rogers-Wilbur Foundation, Inc. 
The Henry & Ruth Rosenberg Foundation 
The Frank G. Schenuit Foundation 
Schluderberg Foundation, Inc. 
Joseph Smelkinson Foundation 
The Steiff Foundation 
The Aaron & Lillie Straus Foundation 
Summerfield Baldwin Foundation 
The Warm Foundation 
The Zamoiski Foundation, Inc. 

BENEFACTORS 

Mr. and Mrs. Howard Baetjer II 
Mrs. Carolyn E. Butler 
Mr. and Mrs. James F. Colwill 
Mr. and Mrs. Leonard C. Crewe, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. L. McLane Fisher 
Mr. and Mrs. Louis L. Goldstein 

Mr. and Mrs. Richard L. Goodbar 
Mr. Benjamin H. Griswold IV 
Mr. and Mrs. Edward Halle 
Mr. and Mrs. E. Phillips Hathaway 
Mr. and Mrs. Howard Head 
Mr. and Mrs. Ford A. Kalil, Jr. 
Dr. and Mrs. Henry S. Lewis, Jr. 
Mr. Walter G. Lohr 
Mr. and Mrs. William S. Merrick 
Mr. and Mrs. J. Jefferson Miller II 
Mrs. J. Jefferson Miller 
Mr. and Mrs. John Marshall Morgan 
Mr. and Mrs. Jack Moseley 
Mr. and Mrs. James L. Nace 
Mrs. Mary Stuart Rogers 
Mr. and Mrs. Jacques T. Schlenger 
Miss Dorothy Mcllvain Scott 
Mr. and Mrs. Truman Semans 
Mrs. Claire Steiff 
Mr. and Mrs. J. Fife Symington, Jr. 
Ms. Mary R. Trippe 
Mr. and Mrs. Brian B. Topping 
Mrs. G. W. C. Whiting 
Mr. John R. Williams 
Mr. William C. Whitridge 

ASSOCIATES 

Dr. Morton K. Blaustein 
Mrs. Stiles T. Colwill 
Mr. and Mrs. John P. Coulter 
Mr. and Mrs. Donald L. DeVries 
Mrs. Eleanor D. Ditzen 
Mrs. Edward K. Dunn, Sr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Gerson G. Eisenberg 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles S. Garland, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. T. Hughlett Henry, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Michael S. Hoffberger 
Miss Eugenia Calvert Holland 
The Family of the Late Sidney Hollander 
Mr. and Mrs. Samuel Hopkins 
Mr. and Mrs. Morton Katzenberg 
Mr. and Mrs. Leslie Legum 
Mr. and Mrs. George Linthicum III 
Mr. and Mrs. Henry A. Naylor, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. James O. Olfson 
Mr. and Mrs. David R. Owen 
Mr. and Mrs. John P. Paca 
Mr. and Mrs. Walter D. Pinkard 
Society of Cincinnati of Maryland 
Mr. and Mrs. Edmund A. Stanley, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. James B. Stradtner 
Mrs. W. W. Symington, Jr. 
Dr. and Mrs. Arthur T. Ward, Jr. 
Mrs. Benjamin D. Williams 
Mrs. James T. Wollon, Jr. 
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SPONSORS 

Mrs. Warde Allan 
Mr. and Mrs. Robert F. Await 
Mr. H. Furlong Baldwin 
Ms. Mary R. Brush 
Mr. Brice M. Clagett 
Mr. and Mrs. Jack R. Cobb 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles W. Cole, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Howard H. Conaway 
Mr. Clinton Riggs Daly 
Mr. James D. Dilts 
Mr. Leslie B. Disharoon 
Mr. and Mrs. George G. Finney 
Dr. and Mrs. William W. Freehling 
Dr. and Mrs. William F. Fritz 
Mr. and Mrs. Jerome W. Geckle 
Mr. and Mrs. C. William Gilchrist 
Mrs. Henry R. Granger 
Mrs. Samuel M. Hecht 
Mr. and Mrs. E. Mason Hendrickson 
Mrs. McClure Hilliard 
Mrs. Joel G. D. Hutzler 
Mr. Charles A. Knott 
Mr. and Mrs. William G. Kouwenhoven 
Mr. and Mrs. Frederick W. Lafferty 
Mr. Carlyle J. Lancaster 
Dr. and Mrs. Charles A. Lefebure 

Mr. and Mrs. Lester S. Levy 
Mrs. Edward J. Mathias 
Mr. Samuel Howard McCoy II 
Mr. and Mrs. Milton H. Miller 
Mrs. Aimee K. Momberger 
Mr. and Mrs. Richard P. Moran 
Mr. Edwin White Obrecht 
Mr. John J. O'Conor 
Mr. and Mrs. Timothy E. Parker 
Mr. and Mrs. William N. S. Pugh 
Mr. Adrian P. Reed 
Dr. and Mrs. Curt P. Richter 
Mr. and Mrs. Francis C. Rienhoff 
Mr. and Mrs. Richard C. Riggs, Sr. 
Mr. and Mrs. George Donald Riley, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Lewis Rumbord II 
Mr. Stephen Edwin Sanford 
Mr. Donald B. Scott 
Mrs. Mary G. Seller 
Mr. and Mrs. Harry B. Smith 
Miss Lucy F. Spedden 
Mr. and Mrs. Gordon M. F. Stick, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Francis C. Taliaferro 
Mr. and Mrs. M. David Testa 
Dr. and Mrs. R. Carmichael Tilghman 
Mrs. Florence H. Trupp 
Mrs. Margaret McCauley Turk 
Mr. and Mrs. V. Phillips Weaver 
Mr. S. Bonsai White 
Mrs. Betty Washington Whiting 
Mr. and Mrs. R. C. Williams 

The Reinstallation of the Society's permanent 
collection galleries was proven successful at its 
reopening in September, 1985, as evident in this 
display from the Empire period. 

PATRONS 

Dr. Ann H. Allison 
Ms. Esther B. Anderton 
Mrs. Virginia Lyon Anderson 
Mrs. Annie Linn Armor 
Mr. and Mrs. Alexander Armstrong 
Mr. and Mrs. John W. Avirett II 
Mrs. Daniel Baker, Jr. 
Mrs. Ellen B. Baker 
Mr. and Mrs. Frank Baker, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Morgan Baldwin 
Mr. and Mrs. Raymond Lloyd Bank 
Mr. and Mrs. David W. Barton, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. David I. Bavar 
Mr. and Mrs. Hugh Benet, Jr. 
Mrs. Dorothy M. Bergland 
Mr. and Mrs. J. Pierre Bernard 
Mrs. Marcus M. Bernstein, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Paul L. Berry 
Mr. William R. Bishop, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Gary Black 
Mr. Henry C. Blackiston 
Mrs. Edna Mae A. Blind 
Mr. William G. Bodenstein 
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Mr. and Mrs. Martin E. Boessel, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Calhoun Bond 
Mr. Cornelius Combs Bond 
Mrs. Edith B. Bonsai 
Dr. John E. Bordley 
Mr. and Mrs. C. Keating Bowie 
Mr. and Mrs. William A. Boykin III 
Mr. Charles F. Brandt 
Mr. and Mrs. Frank C. Brooks 
Mr. and Mrs. John H. Brooks 
Mr. and Mrs. W. Gill Brooks 
Mr. and Mrs. J. Dorsey Brown III 
Mrs. Selma K. Burgunder 
Dr. Arthur Merrick Bushey 
Mr. and Mrs. Morton Busick 
Miss Mary Cadwalader 
Mr. David J. Callard 
Mr. and Mrs. Brodnax Cameron, Jr. 
Mr. William Polk Carey 
Mr. and Mrs. Harold B. Chait 
Mrs. Joan Bidder Challinor 
Mr. and Mrs. S. Vannort Chapman 
Dr. and Mrs. Ferdinand E. Chatard 
Mr. W. E. Chesson 
Ms. Emily Sewall Chew 
Mr. and Mrs. Clyde M. Clapp 
Mr. P. Mitchell Coale 
Mrs. Helen Alexander Coggins 
Mr. and Mrs. Irving Cohen 
Mr. and Mrs. Paul T. Coleman 
The Colonial Dames of America 
Mr. and Mrs. Sackett S. Cook 
Mrs. Levin Cooper 
Dr. and Mrs. Joseph Coudon 
Mr. and Mrs. Patrick J. Coughlin, Jr. 
Mr. Albert H. Cousins, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. George W. Cox 
Mrs. Margaret O. Cromwell 
Dr. and Mrs. R. M. N. Crosby 
Mr. Edwin A. Daniels, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Joseph H. Darlington 
Mr. and Mrs. Richard Davison 
Mrs. Elizabeth B. DeCourse 
Mr. and Mrs. L. Patrick Deering 
Mr. and Mrs. Edwin G. Delcher 
Miss Helen I. Dewling 
Mr. and Mrs. G. W. Dobbin, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Norton Dodge 
Dr. Rhoda M. Dorsey 
Mr. T. Marshall Duer, Jr. 
Mr. Daniel B. Dugan 
Mr. H. A. Brown Dunning, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. John G. Earle 
The Honorable Alexander R. Early 
Eastern Shore Society of Baltimore 
Mr. and Mrs. George Easto 
Mr. and Mrs. Bert T. Edwards 
Dr. and Mrs. Robert E. Farber 
Ms. Sadie B. Feldman 
Mr. and Mrs. David H. Fisher 

Ms. Mary Jean Fisher 
Mr. and Mrs. G. Ross French 
Miss Eliza Coale Funk 
Mr. and Mrs. William Lee Gaines 
Mr. and Mrs. Frank X. Gallagher 
Mr. and Mrs. Alan N. Gamse 
Mr. and Mrs. Stephen H. Gardiner 
Mrs. Charles S. Garland, Sr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Crombie J. D. Garrett 
The Honorable Edward A. Garmatz 
Mr. and Mrs. Paul A. Gasparotti 
Mr. and Mrs. Austen H. George 
Mrs. Mary MacDonald Gibbs 
Mrs. Helen H. Gibson 
Mr. and Mrs. Merryman Gladding 
Ms. Elizabeth W. Glascock 
Mr. Stewart B. Gold 
Mr. and Mrs. Robert M. Goldman 
Mr. and Mrs. Leslie Goldsborough 
Mrs. Charlotte Ober Goodwin 
Mr. and Mrs. Douglas Goodwin 
Mr. and Mrs. Frederick J. Green, Jr. 
Mr. Herman Greenberg 
Mr. and Mrs. Jack S. Griswold 
Mr. and Mrs. Arthur J. Gutman 
Mr. and Mrs. Henry L. Gutman 
Dr. and Mrs. John S. Haines 
Mr. Clarence B. Hanson 
Mr. and Mrs. Joseph R. Hardiman 
Mrs. Miriam P. Hardy 
Mr. Earl V. Harrell 
Mr. and Mrs. George T. Harrison 
Mrs. Janet Jeffery Harris 
Mr. and Mrs. W. Hall Harris III 
Mrs. Elizabeth W. Harvey 
Mrs. William B. F. Hax 
Mr. and Mrs. Stephen G. Heaver 
Miss M. Rosella Herman 
Mr. George B. Hess, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. John A. Hesse 
Mr. Edgar G. Heyl 
Mr. and Mrs. Paul W. Hicks III 
Mr. Oliver W. Higgs 
Ms. Hilda K. Himmelrich 
Mr. and Mrs. Samuel Himmelrich 
Mrs. Elizabeth S. Hirsh 
Mr. and Mrs. Amos T. Holland 
Ms. Elizabeth Ferry Hooper 
Mr. and Mrs. Ralph Hostetter 
Mr. and Mrs. H. Thomas Howell 
Mr. and Mrs. C. Brooks Hubbert 
Mr. and Mrs. Frederick M. Hudson 
Mr. Hugh C. Hughs 
Dr. and Mrs. Thomas E. Hunt 
Mr. and Mrs. Frances N. Iglehart 
Mr. Harry Z. Isaacs 
Mrs. Sheila McCreery Jackson 
Mr. Jay Andrew Jacobs 
The Honorable William S. James 
Colonel Cecil Carey Jarman 
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Mr. Francis H. Jencks 
Mr. and Mrs. Marshall P. Johnson 
Mr. and Mrs. William R. Johnston 
The Honorable and Mrs. Lewis R. Jones 
Mr. William W. Jones, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Jay Katz 
Dr. and Mrs. Walter T. Kees 
Mr. and Mrs. William S. Keigler 
Mr. Henry Kelly 
Mr. and Mrs. E. Robert Kent, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. J. Seeger Kerns 
Mr. and Mrs. Harvey B. Kershaw, Jr. 
Mr. Walter H. Kidd 
Mr. Leroy E. Kirby 
Mr. and Mrs. Raymond A. Kirby 
Mr. and Mrs. Philip E. Klein 
Mr. and Mrs. Richard R. Kline 
Mr. and Mrs. Stanard T. Klinefelter 
Mrs. Elizabeth R. Knapp 
Mr. and Mrs. Frederick B. Knoop, Jr. 
Mr. Henry J. Knott, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Louis B. Kohn II 
Mr. Martin B. Kohn 
Miss Dorothy B. Krug 
Mr. and Mrs. Arthur G. Lambert 
Mr. and Mrs. W. W. Lanahan, Jr. 
Mrs. Nellie S. Lane 
Mr. and Mrs. Richard M. Landsburgh 
Mrs. Rodney M. Lay ton 
Mr. Jeffrey A. Legum 
Mr. and Mrs. Edewin B. Lehnert 
Mr. and Mrs. Craig Lewis 
Mr. and Mrs. H. H. Walker Lewis 
Reverend and Mrs. Justus H. Liesmann 
Mrs. W. Carl Lohmeyer 
The Honorable and Mrs. James MacGill 
Mr. and Mrs. Arthur W. Machen 
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas H. Maddox III 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles B. Major 
Mr. and Mrs. F. Grainger Marburg 
Mr. and Mrs. Francis Cross Marbury 
Mr. and Mrs. William L. Marbury 
Mr. and Mrs. James C. Marder 
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas C. Martel 
Mr. and Mrs. Calvert C. McCabe, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles E. McCarthy III 
Mrs. Robert H. McCauley, Jr. 
Dr. and Mrs. Michael A. McClinton 
Mr. F. Moran McConihe 
Mr. John S. McDaniel III 
Mr. Ellice McDonald, Jr. 
Mr. Thomas W. McElhiney 
Mr. and Mrs. E. Eamonn McGready 
Mr. and Mrs. J. Rieman Mclntosh 
Mr. and Mrs. Gaines McMillan 
Mr. and Mrs. John L. McShane 
Mr. and Mrs. Allan Mead 
Mr. and Mrs. Henry L. Meledin 
Mr. Robert G. Merrick, Jr. 
Mrs. J. Smith Michael 

Mr. and Mrs. Robert E. Michel, Jr. 
Mrs. Clarence W. Miles 
Dr. and Mrs. David I. Miller 
Mr. Karl E. Miller 
Mr. and Mrs. John W. Mitchell 
Mr. Paul E. Monaghan 
Mr. and Mrs. E. Scott Moore 
Mrs. Richard A. Moore 
Mr. and Mrs. Anthony Morganthau 
Mr. and Mrs. John S. Morton, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Peter Moser 
Mrs. R. G. Mowbray 
Mr. and Mrs. John H. Mudd 
Mr. and Mrs. John B. Munnikhuysen 
Mr. and Mrs. William T. Murray III 
Mr. Harry D. Myerberg 
Mr. and Mrs. Edmund A. Nelson 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles M. Nes, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles W. Newhall III 
Mr. and Mrs. Edward P. Offutt 
Reverend John E. Owens, Jr. 
Miss Elisabeth C. G. Packard 
Mr. and Mrs. Henry A. Parr IV 
Mr. and Mrs. Edward M. Passano 
Mr. William M. Passano, Sr. 
Mr. William H. Passano, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Richard M. Patterson 
Mrs. William B. Patterson 
Mrs. Maryland Y. Pennell 
Mrs. Caroline Dexter Pennington 
Mrs. Martha S. Penniman 
Mr. and Mrs. Bernard G. Peter 
Ms. Martha Ann Peters 
Mr. and Mrs. George J. Pillorge 
Mr. and Mrs. W. A. Pistell 
Mr. Edgar A. Poe III 
Ms. Gertrude L. Poe 
Mr. and Mrs. Herbert R. Preston Jr. 
Mrs. Elizabeth Cronin Prevas 
Mr. and Mrs. W. James Price 
Queen Anne's County Historical Society 
Mr. and Mrs. E. Bowen Quillin 
Mr. and Mrs. Richard G. Rayburn 
Mr. and Mrs. William B. Reese 
Mr. and Mrs. George D. Riley Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Paul V. Renoff 
Mrs. Idelle Ricker Riefle 
Mrs. Adelaide C. Riggs 
Mrs. Mary Bartlett Riggs 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles Lee Robbins 
Mr. Timothy M. Rodgers 
Ms. Marie R. Rogers 
Mr. and Mrs. Morton E. Rome 
Mr. and Mrs. Peter Rosenwald 
Mrs. Stanford Z. Rothschild, Sr. 
Mr. and Mrs. James W. Rouse 
Mrs. Jean B. Russo 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles E. Scarlett III 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles Scarlett 
Mrs. Mary P. Scheeler 
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Mr. Donald P. Seibert 
Mr. and Mrs. J. W. Sener Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Daniel H. Sheppard Jr. 
Ms. Regina B. Sheppard 
Mrs. John R. Sherwood 
The Shipleys of Maryland 
Mr. and Mrs. William B. Shippen 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles T. Shortall 
Mr. and Mrs. Robert Campbell Shriver 
Mr. Sidney R. Silber 
Mr. and Mrs. William Silver II 
Mrs. L. Labrot Simmons 
Mrs. Charlotte Singewald 
Mr. and Mrs. W. Cameron Slack 
Mr. Robert Lee Slingluff 
Mr. Albert H. Small 
Mrs. Edwina C. Wharton Smith 
Mr. Jess Joseph Smith, Jr. 
Mrs. Eleanor McKnight Snyder 
Mr. and Mrs. Frank P. L. Somerville 
Sons of The American Revolution 
Mr. Christian P. Sorensen 
Mr. Samuel Spencer 
LCDR Gladys M. Sperrle, USN 
Ms. Karla Steffen 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles F. Stein, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Richard Steiner 
Mr. William N. Stellmann 
Mr. and Mrs. Clinton P. Stephens 
Mr. George A. Stewart, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Latimer S. Stewart 
Ms. Mary B. Stewart 
Mrs. Charles C. Steiff II 
Dr. John F. Strahan 
Mr. and Mrs. David Testa 
Mrs. Colin Thomas 
Mr. and Mrs. J. Richard Thomas 
The Honorable and Mrs. Edward O. Thomas 
Mr. W. Lee Thomas 
Brigadier General and Mrs. W. D. Tigertt 
Mr. and Mrs. Philip Ogle Tilghman 
Mr. Richard C. Tilghman, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Norris W. Tingle 
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas G. Tinsley 
Mr. and Mrs. J. Royall Tippett Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. William C. Trimble 
Mr. William C. Trimble, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Joseph R. B. Tubman 
Mrs. Adela H. Van Metre 
Mr. and Mrs. Gerrit Vreeland 
Mr. and Mrs. W. Bradley Wallace 
Mrs. Dorothy W. Wallis 

Ms. Margaret C. Warnken 
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas D. Washburne 
Mr. L. Byrne Waterman 
Mrs. Eloise J. Weatherly 
Mrs. Rita M. Weber 
Mr. and Mrs. J. Elmer Weisheit 
Mrs. Frank H. Weller, Sr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Frank H. Weller, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Paul E. Welsh 
Mr. Michael Wettach 
Mr. S. Bonsai White, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. William J. Wiesand, Jr. 
Ms. Cynthia Q. Wilmer 
The Windjammers of the Chesapeake 
The Honorable and Mrs. Harrison L. Winter 
Dr. Matthew M. Wise 
The Women's Eastern Shore Society 
Mr. John D. Worthington IV 
Mr. and Mrs. Caiman J. Zamoiski, Jr. 
Dr. Joseph W. Zebley, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. William P. Zimmerman, Jr. 

CITY, COUNTY, STATE AND 
FEDERAL FUNDING 

Maryland Department of Economic and 
Community Development 
Division of Cultural Affairs 

Mayor's Advisory Committee on Arts and 
Culture for Baltimore City 

Anne Arundel County 
Baltimore County 
Carroll County 
Cecil County 
Charles County 
Dorchester County 
Frederick County 
Harford County 
Howard County 
Montgomery County 
Prince George's County 
Queen Anne's County 
Talbot County 
Washington County 
Worchester County 
National Endowment for The Humanities 
Institute of Museum Services 
Maryland Humanities 
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GIFTS TO THE LIBRARY 

Abbott Memorial Reformed Presbyterian 
Church 

Maynard Abrams 
Mrs. Leon Adler 
Nan Hayden Agle 
Charles Alpert 
Courtney D. Alvey 
Alfred Stokes Andrews 
Ann Arrundell County Historical Society 
Anonymous 
Walter E. Arps, Jr. 
Mrs. G. Maxwell Armor, Jr. 
Artography Labs, Inc. 
Associated Jewish Charities & Welfare Fund 
Elinor R. Baden 
Mrs. Paul Baehman 
Mrs. Howard Baetjer II 
Edith Bagot 
Richard P. Bailey 
Baltimore Center for Urban Archaeology 
Baltimore City Archives 
Baltimore County Genealogical Society 
Baltimore County Public Library 
Baltimore Museum of Art 
Dennis E. Berger 
Jane Evans Best 
Estate of Eubie Blake 
Charles L. Bland 
William G. Bodenstein 
Harriett Ford Bowen 
Joshua S. Bowen, Jr. 
Alice M. Bowerman 
Norman B. Boyle 
Major Melvin James Bradley, U.S.A.F. 
Patricia Ann Brooks 
Nanthaniel Clenroy Browder 
Ellyn Brown 
Mrs. Arleigh Burke 
Emily Lucile Burns 
Marie L. Burns 
Arthur Price Burris 
Commander A. C. Bushey 
Mrs. John Cadwalader 
Calvert County Public Library 
Ashby H. Canter 
Frances Keith Wallace Carlisle 
Carroll County Genealogical Society 
Mrs. Douglas Carroll, Jr. 
Mrs. H. LeRoy Carter, Jr. 
Joan Carter 
S. Vannort Chapman 
F. E. Chatard, M.D. 
Partners of Clapp, Somerville, Honemann and 

Beach 
Clayton Library 
Marjorie M. Clements 
College Club of Baltimore City, Inc. 
Michael Joseph Connolly 

Eleanor Cook 
Everett K. Cooper 
Corcoran Gallery of Art 
Howard N. Cornett 
Richard J. Cox 
Basil L. Crapster 
A. K. B. Cumyn 
Philip J. Currier 
Hilda E. Cushwa 
Bruce S. Danzer 
L. C. Davenport 
Dr. Curtis Carroll Davis 
Gladys S. Day 
Robert E. Deale, Jr. 
Edward S. Delaplaine 
Vincent J. Derbes, M.D. 
James C. DeWald 
Henry de Witte 
Mrs. Samuel Doak 
Doubleday and Company, Inc. 
Mrs. C. Down 
Elizabeth Eader 
Charles A. Earp 
Easter Seal Society of Central Maryland 
Elizabeth Cobb Stewart Eastwood 
Mrs. Joseph C. Edens 
Walter F. Edmunson 
Lydia B. Edwards, M.D. 
Robert H. Elias 
Mark Elrod 
A. A. Esslinger 
Frank Fairbank 
Family Heritage Publications 
Dr. Lowell J. Farmer 
Myra J. Fields 
P. William Filby 
Mrs. M. Austin Fine 
Mrs. George G. Finney 
First & Franklin Street Presbyterian Church 
Kathleen Moore Fitzpatrick 
E. D. France 
Patricia Freeman 
Mrs. H. Findlay French 
Stanley C. Fruits 
Eliza Funk 
Genealogical Publishing Company 
Georgia Historical Society 
Estate of Mary Waters Davy Gibbons 
Hon. Charles W. Gilchrist 
Mrs. Norton K. Gill 
Vernon J. Goertz, Jr. 
Jeffrey Goldman 
Jennifer Faulds Goldsborough 
Douglas Gordon 
Paul Graf 
Philip W. Greenslet 
M. Howell Griswold 
Clarissa C. H. Guerrini 
John W. Hamblen 
Klare L. Hamburger 
Marian G. Hammers 
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Historic Hampton, Inc. 
Mary Lewin Wethered Clark Handwork 
Elizabeth Scarlett Hardy 
James T. Hargest 
Felix Hargrett 
Evelyn Harper 
Katherine S. Hart 
H. Harold Hartzler 
Amos J. Heckathorn 
Frederick E. Hecklinger 
Richard Bryan Helmer 
John B. Henry 
Historic Hampton, Inc. 
LeRoy E. Hoffberger 
Jean Hofmeister 
Morton J. Hollander 
Estate of Janet C. Holmes 
Julia F. Hoopper 
Estate of Henry Powell Hopkins 
Jackie Homer 
Carol M. Hosfeld 
Mrs. Charles T. Howard 
Dr. William D. Hoyt 
Anne Hege Hughes 
Thomas V. and Joanne M. Huntsberry 
William David Hutsell 
Dorothy C. Gump Jackson 
Richard W. Jackson 
Janet B. Jehn 
Johns Hopkins University Applied Physics 

Laboratory 
Johns Hopkins University Press 
Carleton Jones 
Estate of Jennie C. Jones 
J. William Joynes 
Edna Kanely 
William B. Keller 
Denwood Kelly 
H. S. Kelso 
Mary Kendall 
Isabella S. Cogswell Kerns 
Kershner Family Association 
Willet Keyser 
Arthur M. Killen 
Kirk-Stieff Company 
Mrs. Milton Knauff 
Mrs. John J. Knox 
Frederick Singley Koontz, Esq. 
Mrs. C. Ridgely Lamdin 
Mills Bee Lane IV 
Margaret B. Langley 
Linda LaPides 
Jeffery A. Legum 
R. Bernice Leonard 
Library of Congress 
Margaret U. Lofquist 
Lowry and Volz 
Robert G. Lowry 
Ike Lycett 
Arthur W. Machen, Jr. 
Mary Greshman Machen 

Henry B. Madden 
Robert T. Marhenke 
Dr. Bayly Ellen Marks 
Richard Marks 
Susan K. Martin 
Maryland-D.C. Fraternal Congress 
Maryland Department of Transportation 
Maryland Genealogical Society 
Maryland Historical Trust 
Maryland-National Capital Park & Planning 

Commission 
Maryland State Archives 
Massachusetts Historical Society 
Hon. Charles McC. Mathias, Jr. 
George McBlair 
Calvert C. McCabe 
Mrs. James E. McCourt 
F. M. McGlannan 
John McGrain 
J. Rieman Mclntosh 
Mrs. Angus Stewart McSwain, Jr. 
Harvey Eugene Meeks 
Mary K. Meyer 
J. Jefferson Miller II 
Dr. Richard B. Miller 
Minneapolis Institute of Arts 
Ralph H. Morgan, Jr. 
Grace M. Moses 
W. L. Mullenneix 
The Misses Murdoch 
National Museum of American History-Div. 

of Engineering 
Naval Historical Center 
Henry Naylor 
Charlotte Nayden 
Margaret Neal 
New England Historic Genealogical Society 
Irene Nielson 
North Texas State University Oral History 

Association 
Norwich University-Henry Prescott Chaplin 

Library 
Francis O'Neill 
Orange County Library System 
Addison D. Owings 
Elizabeth M. Palmer 
Clara Park 
Hon. Francis Neal Parke 
Helen S. Parker 
Robert Hutson Parker 
J. A. Parrot 
Richard Parsons 
Peabody Conservatory of Music 
Peabody Institute of Johns Hopkins 

University 
Henry C. Peden, Jr. 
Marlene A. Pegg 
Mrs. Harrison W. Pells 
Mabel Gaye Phillips 
Janet C. Preston 
Dr. Kenneth E. Price, Jr. 
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Sumpter Priddy III 
Prince George's County Genealogical Society 
Pete Prince 
Mr. and Mrs. Paul W. Prindle 
Margaret Pusey 
Henry J. Queen 
George M. Radcliffe 
Arthur R. Ransome, Jr. 
Amy Lee Reed 
Louis E. Reid, Jr. 
Mrs. E. L. Reynolds 
Howard Reynolds 
Bertha N. Rhodes 
Hester Rich 
Robert K. Richards 
William A. Ridgely 
Hon. Avrum K. Rifman 
Carlyn Ring 
Adaline Marye Robertson 
C. Holden Rogers 
Lewis Bunker Rohrbach 
Ella Rowe 
Ralph and Star Rowland 
Charles H. Rumsey 
Mildren Runion 
Donna Valley Russell 
Robert Saladini 
Maxine Sandberg 
Barbara Wells Sarudy 
Willard Saunders II 
John K. Saville 
Dr. J. Vincenza Scarpaci 
Carl Schram 
Harry Scott 
Robert Seager II 
Dorothy Weiser Seale 
R. Carlton Seitz 
Russell Wade Seniff 
Anthony Shabek 
Fred Shelley 
Bess Patterson Shipe 
Ralph D. Shipp 
Frank Shivers 
Fred Simmon 
Dennis Simpson 
Mrs. George R. Skopecek, Jr. 
Mary Virginia Slaughter 
Deborah K. Small 
Smithsonian Institution 
Society of Colonial Wars in the State of 

Maryland 
Society of Sons of the Revolution in the State 

of Maryland 
John Ford Sellers, Sr. 
Romaine S. Somerville 
South Carolina Historical Society 
Joseph F. Spears 
Joseph St. Lawrence 
St. Nicholas Greek Orthodox Community 
Charles M. Stanford 

State of Maryland 
Richard L. Steiner 
W. Steiner 
Latimer Stewart 
Mr. Redmond G. Stewart 
Mrs. Campbell Lloyd Stirling 
Karen A. Stuart 
Charles Edwin Sturtevant 
J. Fife Symington, Jr. 
Mrs. Joseph K. Taussig 
A. Vernon Taylor 
Dorothy Caples Thompson 
R. F. Thompson 
Jay S. Thorpe 
Tench Francis Tilghman 
Time-Life Books 
Clyde R. Tipton, Jr. 
Geraldine T. Tolker 
Daniel C. Toomey 
Towson State University-Dept. of History 
Rev. David Churchman Trimble 
UMBC-Albin O. Kuhn Library 
University of Maryland-The Art Gallery 
University Publications of America 
University of Wisconsin-Area Research 

Center 
University of Wisconsin Press 
Lewis E. Vaughan 
Virginia State Library 
Robert M. Vogel 
Stephen J. Vicchio 
Walters Art Gallery 
Rachel E. B. Warfield Trust 
Marion and Mame Warren 
Washington County Free Library 
L. Byrne Waterman 
Helen J. Weber 
Gregory R. Weidman 
George Welden 
Westminster Preservation Trust 
Mrs. E. B. Whitman 
Harold A. Williams 
Huntington Williams, M.D. 
Cynthia Wilson 
Marjorie Winslow 
E. A. Woolen 
Wright, Inc. 
Mr. and Mrs. Jack F. Wroten 
Andrew Young 
Saul E. Zalesch 
Dr. Joseph Wildman Zebley, Jr. 

GIFTS TO THE GALLERY 

Courtney Alvey 
Frank Binford 
Herbert W. Bowen 
Mrs. June Brennan 
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Recent gifts to the Gallery included "English Landscape," by William Groombridge, 1811, a gift from Dr. 
Michael Abrams. 

Mrs. Frank Christmas 
Mrs. Helen Coggins 
Dr. and Mrs. Bernard Cohen 
Goucher College 
Stiles T. Colwill 
Mrs. Francis Craig 
Curtis Carroll Davis 
Mrs. Katherine Johnson Doak 
Mrs. Stuart Egerton 
Mr. and Mrs. Stuart Egerton II 
Miss Dorothy Fastie 
Joseph Fecher 
Mrs. David Forbes 
Mrs. Richard France 
Mrs. Mitchell Gerber 
Mrs. Evelyn Harper 
Mrs. W. Hall Harris 
Louis G. Hecht 
Keswick House 
Mrs. Florence B. Howard 
Bryden B. Hyde 
Elizabeth Ingram 
Denwood Kelly 
Mrs. John R. Kern 
Mrs. Margery P. Kimball 
Ross Kimmel 

Mrs. Trafford Klots 
Mrs. Francis Lang 
Joseph Lawrence 
Dr. and Mrs. Eli Lippman 
Mrs. Leslie Legum 
Mrs. Robert H. McCauley, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Reiman Mclntosh 
Mrs. William McMillen 
Ms. Clarence W. Miles 
Estate of Commander Edward S. Moale 
Lewis Myrick 
Mrs. Lawrence Nay lor 
Mrs. Richard O'Brien 
Estate of Winifred D. Owens 
William Prendergast 
Mrs. Selma Leone Powers 
Mary Elizabeth Quinn 
George F. Robinson 
Mathews and Shand 
Alice L. Shugars 
Leroy Simon 
Mrs. C. Albert Standiford 
Mrs. Campbell Lloyd Stirling 
Charles Stout 
Merrell L. Stout 
Mrs. Isabelle Suhl 
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Mrs. Florence H. Trupp 
Georgia Watts 
Mrs. Robert Wayland 
Ms. Gregory R. Weidman 
Mrs. Edward B. Whitman 
Ezra B. Whitman Jr. 
Mrs. Charles T. Williams 
Edwin J. Wolf 
Margaret Worrall 
Jeanette Young 

SILENT AUCTION 
CONTRIBUTORS 1986 
ANTIQUES SHOW AND SALE 

GIFTS TO MARITIME 

Lewis A. Beck Jr. 
Hugh Benet, Jr. 
Donald W. Carroll 
S. Vannort Chapman 
Dr. Ferdinand Chatard 
Robert C. Keith 
J. Sheridan McClees, Jr. 
George M. Radcliffe 
Dawson Reeder Jr. 
Charles E. Scarlet III 
Roy O. Scholz, M.D. 
Melbourne Smith 
L. Byrne Waterman 

GIFTS-IN-KIND DONORS 

S. Vannort Chapman 
Miss Claire Albert 
Mrs. Constance Beudann 
Barbara Bollinger 
Mrs. Emma Carroll 
Mrs. Robert W. Davies 
Mrs. Stuart Egerton 
Mr. and Mrs. Lewis Hess, Jr. 
Jean Hofmeister 
Mr. and Mrs. James Jensen 
Mr. and Mrs. C. C. McCabe 
Mr. and Mrs. Bernard Potts 
Estate of Winifred D. Owens 
Mrs. Norman Raymond 
Mrs. Jesse Slingluff 
Charles L. Stout 
Merrell L. Stout, Jr. 
Estate of Virginia W. Turner 
Mrs. Robert Wayland 
Mrs. M. J. Woodford 
Mrs. Geneva Boone 
Mrs. Bonnie Hoback 
Mrs. Charles Heimbuch 
Mrs. Vernon Norwood 
G. Maclean Bingley 
Barbara Wells Sarudy 

Selma Barnard Antiques 
William Bentley Antiques Show Mart 
Mrs. James E. Cantler 
Margaret R. Carroll Antiques & Collectibles 
Mr. and Mrs. Dudley I. Catzen 
Mrs. John B. DeHoff 
Mrs. Lee Dopkin 
Mrs. Gerson Eisenberg 
The Framer's Vice 
Graceful Heritage Antiques 
Hamilton House 
Louis Hecht 
Mrs. Elizabeth C. Hollyday 
W. F. Hurley 
Hunt Valley Antiques 
Mrs. Bryden B. Hyde 
Imperial Half Bushel 
Amos Judd & Sons 
Mrs. Jay Katz 
Mrs. John S. Kerns, Jr. 
Mrs. Richard Lundberg 
James B. McClosky 
C. Austin McDonnell, Jr. 
Margie's Antiques 
Margolet Antiques 
Mr. and Mrs. Milton H. Miller 
Mrs. Howard Moses 
Robert G. Stewart 
Tina's Antiques & Jewelry 
To Each His Own 
Mr. and Mrs. Brian B. Topping 
Mrs. J. Sawyer Wilson 
Wood Village Antiques 
Mr. and Mrs. Jack F. Wroten 
John MacLeod 
Mr. and Mrs. Robert Bentley Offutt 

CAPITAL FUNDS CAMPAIGN 

Baker, Watts & Company 
Black & Decker Manufacturing, Inc. 
Louis and Henrietta Blaustein Foundation 
Alex Brown and Sons 
First National Bank of Maryland 
Mr. and Mrs. Alan N. Gamse 
Mr. and Mrs. Louis G. Hecht 
Kidder, Peabody & Co. 
McCormick & Co., Inc. 
Monumental Corporation 
The Rouse Co. 
Mr. and Mrs. Frank P. L. Somerville 
Mr. and Mrs. J. Fife Symington, Jr. 
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MARBURY MEMORIAL FUND 

Mr. and Mrs. Thomas F. Cadwalader 
Charles C. Caldwell 
Mr. and Mrs. E. N. Derussy 
Enviro-Gro Technologies 
Mr. and Mrs. H. H. Walker Lewis 
Richard C. Mottu 
The Warm Foundation 

SPECIAL PROJECTS- 
ADMINISTRATIVE 

Summerfield Baldwin, Jr. Foundation 
Boston Metals Co. 
Alex Brown & Sons 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles W. Cole, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Leonard C. Crewe, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Donald L. DeVries 
Exxon Company 
Kingdon Gould, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Benjamin H. Griswold III 
Mr. and Mrs. Samuel Hopkins 
Mr. and Mrs. Richard R. Kline 
Robert G. Merrick, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Brice Phillips 
Mr. and Mrs. Walter D. Pinkard 
Quinn, Ward & Kershaw 
Mr. and Mrs. George Radcliffe 
Mr. and Mrs. Truman Semans 
Mr. and Mrs. Barrett L. Silver 
Mr. and Mrs. J. Fife Symington, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Frank H. Weller, Jr. 
William C. Whitridge 

Mr. and Mrs. John E. Day 
Eastman Memorial Foundation 
Dr. and Mrs. William W. Freehling 
Mr. and Mrs. Leslie Legum 
Maryland Arms Collectors Assoc. 
Poe Foundation, Inc. 
Dorothy Mcllvain Scott 
Sotheby's 
Florence H. Trupp 
Gregory R. Weidman 
Women's Committee, Maryland Historical 

Society 

SPECIAL PROJECTS- 
LIBRARY 

College Club of Baltimore 
"Full House" 
Mrs. J. Sinclair Marks 
Gary E. Myer-Bruggey 
Society of Colonial Wars in Maryland 
Society of the Sons of the Revolution 
Stephen Vicchio 
Frederick T. Wehr 
Mr. and Mrs. Jack F. Wroten 

SPECIAL PROJECTS- 
MARITIME 

Dr. and Mrs. Ferdinand E. Chatard 
Mr. and Mrs. George M. Radcliffe 
L. Byrne Waterman 

SPECIAL PROJECTS- 
EDUCATION 

Anne Arundel County Public Schools 
James H. Bready 
Dr. D. Randall Beirne 
Council of Economic Education 
Girl Scouts of Central Maryland 

SPECIAL PROJECTS- 
GALLERY 

Mr. and Mrs. Howard Baetjer II 
J. W. Berry & Son, Inc. 

SPECIAL PROJECTS- 
MARYLAND ANTIQUES 
SHOW AND SALE 

Benefactors 

Mr. and Mrs. Leonard C. Crewe, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles W. Cole, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Austin Fine 
Mr. and Mrs. Kingdon Gould, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Benjamin Griswold 
Mr. and Mrs. John S. Kerns, Jr. 
Robert G. Merrick, Jr. 
Henry J. Knott, Jr. 
Dr. and Mrs. Jerome S. Plasse 
Mr. and Mrs. John D. Schapiro 
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Miss Dorothy Mcllvain Scott 
George L. Small 
Mr. and Mrs. J. Fife Symington, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Frederick W. Whitridge 
Mr. and Mrs. William C. Whitridge 

Miss Murphy Tuomey 
Mr. and Mrs. Edward H. Welbourn III 

Patrons 

Contributors 

Mr. and Mrs. Broadnax Cameron, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. L. Patrick Deering 
Mrs. Charles S. Garland 
Mr. and Mrs. Richard L. Goodbar 
Dr. and Mrs. John S. Haines 
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas P. Healy 
Mr. and Mrs. J. Jefferson Miller II 
Mr. and Mrs. Timothy E. Parker 
Mr. and Mrs. Timothy M. Rodgers 
Mr. and Mrs. Jacques T. Schlenger 
Thomas Schweizer, Jr. 
Mrs. Charles H. Sheetz, Jr. 

Betsy Bonaparte's fashion doll "Blanche," part of 
the Society's "Toys in the Attic" exhibit. 

Mr. and Mrs. Nicholas F. Adams III 
James C. and Dorothy Alban III 
Dr. Ann H. Allison 
The Honorable Herbert L. Andrew III 
The Honorable John L. Armacost 
Mr. and Mrs. Robert F. Await 
The Honorable Barbara Bachur 
Mr. and Mrs. Howard Baetjer 11 
Daniel R. and Patricia Baker 
H. Furlong Baldwin 
The Baltimore Gas and Electric Company 
The Honorable Michael D. Barnes 
The Honorable Helen D. Bentley 
Mrs. John McF. Bergland 
Mr. and Mrs. J. Pierre Bernard 
Mr. and Mrs. David E. Berry 
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas N. Biddison, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Gary Black 
Mr. and Mrs. Gifford E. Blaylock, Jr. 
H. Lee Boatwright III 
Mr. and Mrs. Perry J. Bolton 
Mrs. Calhoun Bond 
Mr. and Mrs. John M. Bond, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Nelson L. Bond, Jr. 
John P. Boogher 
Mr. and Mrs. John C. G. Boyce, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles Carroll Brice III 
Mrs. Clinton Brooks 
Mr. and Mrs. Frank C. Brooks 
Mr. and Mrs. Rodney J. Brooks, Jr. 
Mrs. J. Dorsey Brown 
Mr. and Mrs. J. Dorsey Brown III 
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas W. Burdette 
Mr. and Mrs. J. Carter Burgin, Jr. 
The Honorable Beverly B. Byron 
Mr. Charles A. Camalier, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. R. Bruce Campbell 
Mrs. Caswell Caplan 
Mr. and Mrs. Dudley I. Catzen 
Mr. and Mrs. Harold B. Chait 
Carol Cherry 
Mr. and Mrs. R. J. Coates 
Mrs. John A. C. Colston, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. James F. Colwill 
G. Norris Cook 
Mr. and Mrs. Leonard C. Crewe, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Douglas V. Croker III 
Sue Dalsemer 
The Honorable Marland Dean 
Mr. and Mrs. L. B. Disharoon 
Douglas W. Dodge 
Dr. and Mrs. Edward A. Doehler 
Mr. and Mrs. T. Marshall Duer, Jr. 
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Daniel B. Dugan 
Dr. and Mrs. F. Markoe Dugan 
Dr. and Mrs. Hammond J. Dugan III 
Dr. James R. Duke 
Mr. and Mrs. Manuel Dupkin II 
The Honorable Royden Dyson 
Mr. and Mrs. James M. Easter II 
Mr. and Mrs. Gerson G. Eisenberg 
Mr. and Mrs. John A. Emich 
Mr. and Mrs. Robert M. Evans 
William Tarun Fehsenfeld 
John W. Felton, McCormick & Co., Inc. 
Mrs. G. Bernard Fenwick, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles O. Fisher 
Mrs. L. McLane Fisher 
Mr. and Mrs. Edward R. Flanagan 
Mr. and Mrs. Pierre Flanigan III 
George R. Floyd 
Dr. H. Chandlee Forman 
Dr. and Mrs. C. Richard Fravel 
The Honorable Halbern W. Freeman 
Mr. and Mrs. W. Lee Gaines, Sr. 
Alan Gamse 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles S. Garland, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Robert J. Gaw 
Mr. and Mrs. Stanley A. Gebhart 
The Honorable Charles W. Gilchrist 
Mrs. Leslie E. Goldsborough, Jr. 
Louis L. Goldstein 
Mr. and Mrs. Charles Goodwin 
Mr. and Mrs. Lee K. Greenwald 
Willard Hackerman 
Mr. and Mrs. Thomas W. W. Haines 
Paul Gore Hall Antiques 
Dr. and Mrs. Richard L. Hall 
Mr. and Mrs. Robert E. Hall 
Mark H. Handwerk 
The Honorable John W. Hardwicke 
Mr. and Mrs. George T. Harrison 
Mr. and Mrs. E. Phillips Hathaway 
Mr. and Mrs. Howard Head 
Mr. and Mrs. William S. Heller 
Mr. and Mrs. E. Mason Hendrickson 
Mr. and Mrs. Martin S. Himeles 
Samuel Himmelrich 
Mr. and Mrs. Samuel K. Himmelrich, Jr. 
Mr. and Mrs. Michael S. Hoffberger 
Katharine McLane Hoffman 
Mrs. Elizabeth C. Hollyday 
The Honorable Marjorie Holt 
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